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Definitions

e

"AGM”
RRBFAE]

“ARPPU”
(BN ERF K E]

“Audit Committee”
[BiZZBEg]

“Articles of Association”

“average MPUs”
[ 7 AN ERE]
“Board”

=3

“CEO”
(17 48 &

“CG Code”
[1b % B /El 'JJ

“Chairman”

[E/%]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

“Company” or “our Company”

R VNCIE

2 7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company proposed to be held on
Tuesday, May 20, 2025
BR_Z_AFAA_TRHERDRITHNARFZEERRBFAS

the total revenue generated by the paying users for a particular game, a particular
type of game or all of our games, as applicable, during a certain period divided by
the number of paying users of the game, the type of game or all of our games, as
applicable, during such period

R —RERIRMAMEER(WERNNERFRE —RIBARE
FEval R BRARERL - X BERIRMAMEER(ER R ZHMEA
MmN ERFHE

the audit committee of the Board

E=g®E%%LB8e

the second amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company adopted on 23 May 2023 and became effective on the same date
RIEZ=FRAAT=HEMNEARAE R EITRESNEBERERNME
RERZMAA - EREIRRBER

the average number of paying users in the relevant calendar month; average MPUs
for a particular period is the average of the MPUs in each month during that period
REBEBEANNERFOFTAAB: RNEEHRENFTHBANERFPZER
ZHEAZANERANERPH T

the board of Directors

E=xg

the chief executive officer of the Company

RRBITTRABE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

EmRAIMECIFTE M R EATRI

the chairman of the Board

E=gxR

for the purpose of this annual report only, the People’s Republic of China, unless
otherwise stated, excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region
and Taiwan herein

EBRARFHRED  PEARHKM
P RIT R R A

BRIEFRIEGRAA  AXFABEEE

7Road Holdings Limited ( 28 £ X #& & iz & R 2 7)), a company incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited ||ab||ity on 6 September 2017
and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
18 July 2018 (Stock Code 797)

FELtREERERAR —HARZZE—tFNABRERSHE AN T
IV BRAR] /H\Hx TRZE—N\Ft AT N\BRBARZ T ER T (AR
797)

R R AR



“Companies Act”

[REA]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[ % Y B B 28

“Contractual Arrangements”

[B# & BE]

“Director(s)”

(&%

” o« [T

“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”

ENSLAREARIEAE 410N

"HKS"
(7% 7z

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“Huoerguosi 7Road”

[ERRHTELKE]

“IFRS”

[ BB B 7% ¥R 5 22 A1

“p”
[Pl

“Latest Practicable Date”

(R ERRATTHH

“Listing”
[ 7]

Definitions (continued)

%2 ()

the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

FEHESRRNAE2E (—NR—
il TR SA A 7 SE X

FHEIFOR - BEHEERIER)  BARER]

the entities that the Company controls through the Contractual Arrangements,
namely Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries
ARARBEBENLHEHNER R ELRBERAEWB AR

certain contractual arrangements entered into on 13 April 2018 by us
BAR_E—N\EFENA+=ZARINETAHNLH

the director(s) of the Company

RABER

the Company and all of its subsidiaries and companies whose financial results
have been consolidated and accounted as the subsidiaries of our Company
by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements, or, where the context so requires,
in respect of the period before our Company became the holding company of
our current subsidiaries, the business operated by such subsidiaries or their
predecessors (as the case may be)
RRBINREREMNBARIR A BEEEBENLTHEEHARARINERR
BB AR AR KINXEME ARAKABERBEWNBRGMNERA
AIAEAEM T - ZEMBARISKEA AR R FBERME)FEEmNER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BREEEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEBRRITHRER

Huoerguosi 7th Road Network Technology Co., Ltd. (E B R % + K8 R 4
£l £ A& BR A 7)), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 27 November 2015 and one of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
ERRNELRENPERBFAERAF  —ARZZE—AF+—HA=Z+tHR
BHREEREKRINBRAR  RARMOHRWBEER 21—

the International Financial Reporting Standards
B B 55 e 5 22 A

intellectual property

R E

April 17, 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual
report for ascertaining certain information contained herein
—E_RFMA+ER AFERENHAIBERERAEE TEHNZE
BEERA1THH

listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
MR AN TR B X PT E AR BT

— =~ Y4 #{ Annual Report 2024 3



Definitions (continued)

%2 ()

“Listing Date”
[ -7 B A
“Listing Rules”
[ET R AL

“MAUSs”
[ AERRBFE]

“mobile game(s)”

[ F 08 sk F 12
“Model Code”

RERS TN
“MPUs”
[BFANERF]

“Ningbo Lianjun”

[ )% B8t 3R |

“Nomination Committee”

[RERZEE]

“online game(s)”

[ 48 45 15 B

“paying users”

(M ERF]

the date on which the Shares were listed and initially commenced their dealings on
the Stock Exchange, i.e. 18 July 2018
BROPBRMETREAABEENRS - \FLA+/\H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)
EREBARIMBERAAZEF LHHRA (K TRERD

monthly active users, refers to the number of people logged in to specific game(s)
in the relevant calendar month; average MAUSs for a particular period is the average
of the MAUs in each month during that period

BRERRBF BEEBMEBEANESEBEERNAS: RETHENTEE
RERAFREZPRHRZEANEBRERAFNTHEH

game(s) that is/are played on mobile devices

BB R L% I 2 B

the Model Code of Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FTARBIMERCIMEMN EMBETAEFETEFRHNRETH

monthly paying users, refers to the number of paying users in the relevant calendar
month

BANERFE EREBEEBEANNERFPAK

Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Area Lianjun Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership)* (XGRS E R BREREABEE(BERAR), a limited
partnership established under the laws of the PRC
ERBLURTERBEBEREREARCEEBRER)  —HRETFBIEEK
YHBERABEE

the nomination committee of the Board

E=giRA%Ee

video game(s) that is/are played over some forms of computer or mobile network

BB TRAGANERKTFRBEEITNREEE

in any given period, (i) paying users of a particular game refers to all registered
users who charged their accounts for the game with virtual items purchased
from us at least once in such period regardless of whether such virtual items
were consumed by the registered users in such period; and (i) paying users of a
particular type of game or all of our games refers to the simple sum of the paying
users of each game of such type or all of our games, as applicable, in such period
and a paying user that purchased virtual items for two or more games in such
period is counted as two or more paying users in such period

MREREESRRE \R—REBONERFPREMEERZERARANLAREK
MBENERYmAEBERRPAERLD —KRNEMAL - TwaEMARR
ZBHRAARTEREAHMERY D RX —HEEBIBMABERNN
ERFPRENZRPBANZER BRSPS FER KK MAAEE(WERB) K
NERFHNBERAN M- BERNZRABAMRKA L EHBEER Y ®
WNERAPF  RZRPARABERRERA LONERFPHE

4 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]



“Prospectus”

(AR ER]

“Qianhai Huanjing”

(A& £)3%]

“‘R&D”

[T 2 |

“Registered Shareholders”

[E IR
“Remuneration Committee”
[FNEZEE

“‘RMB”
AR

“RSU Scheme”
[ 52 PR &l % 10 B AL 51 &1

“RSU(s)”
[ BR B n B2

“senior management”
SREERE]

“SFO”
[ 75 M & 15k Bl

“Share(s)”
[R5 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
&S

“Shenzhen 7Road”

[FRIIE KB

Definitions (continued)

%2 ()

the prospectus issued by the Company dated 29 June 2018
AARHEBRHA S - \FAAZTALENEBRER

Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology Co., Ltd. (& 3l T 8 /& 4 35 48
LRI B R A7), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 12 July 2015

FINTRNELABRERBEERAR  —FARZE—AFEA+ZBREH
ERKIHBR AR

research and development
B 9T M A B

Mr. Meng Shugi, Mr. Hu Min, Mr. Liu Jing, Ningbo Bao Pu Xin Sheng Investment
Management Center (Limited Liability Partnership) (2 & 9 1% 2% 5% 1§ & & 12
(B R4 %)) and Shanghai Ting Can Entity Investment Center (Limited Liability
Partnership) (£ /& &£ & Bk #E & & F 0 (B R & %)), as the shareholders of
Shenzhen 7Road

REFEE  AEELE BFEEE ERNESERETERLERER)
REBEREREREFLAREGR) RANBLRENRE

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExevHEZEe

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

ARE  HPEEEEY

the restricted share unit scheme adopted by our Company on 6 March 2018
ARARRZZE—N\F= ANBERMEZ R IR 5 & G5t 3

restricted share units granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme

AR A5 2 PR I AR £ B2 51 81 1% #0 XPR 1 AR 9 B8 L

the senior management of the Company
ARl ER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
B REEEO(BREEESNE)  KBIRER - Az A 4T K&k

ordinary share(s) of US$0.000005 each in the issued share capital of the Company
A2 R 81T & AR T {0.000005 3 7T & & 8 AR

holder(s) of Shares
LEHESEEPN

Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd. (&Il 5+ K EEH X B BR A 7)), a company
established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 22 January 2008 and
one of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities

RINELREBERFBERAR  —EARZZEZENF AT+ _BREBEPRBEE
B ERARRBBEMOHRIBEER 2 —

— & ~ U4 7 Annual Report 2024 5



Definitions (continued)

%2 ()

“Shenzhen Qiangi”
RT3
“Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 Frr )

“US$”
E

“web game(s)”

[ 48 B i B
w0y
[%

“Nanjing Lingxing”

(B RETT]

Shenzhen Qiangi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (& Il T HF MW 4& R AR QD
7)), a company established under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 28
November 2013 and one of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
FINTEHERERFTBAERLAR —BR - Z2—=F+—A -+ \BREFRZX
BRI EAERRABIRBEMOFENEER 2 —

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERMERGMEBRAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
X XMNBARBEREEES

game(s) that is/are played in a web browser on a personal computer without
downloading any client base or application

BATHENELPHXEAREAEBACRNBEAESRG I BB

per cent
Bkt

Nanjing Lingxing Technology Co., Ltd.* (Fg R %8 17 Bl # B 15 B BR 2 7)), a joint
stock company with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC
EARETREBROMDERAR  —KBEBEREEEK ARG B R QT

* For identification purposes only

6 7Road Holdings Limited 25+ K &% i B R A A



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Meng Shuqji (Chairman)
Mr. Li Zhengquan (resigned with effect from 26 January 2025)

Mr. Liu Zhizhen @ppointed with effect from 26 January 2025)
Mr. Yang Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xue Jun
Ms. Li Yiging
Mr. Lui Chi Ho

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Xue Jun (Chairman)
Ms. Li Yiging
Mr. Lui Chi Ho

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Li Yiging (Chairworman)
Mr. Xue Jun

Mr. Lui Chi Ho

Mr. Meng Shugi

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Meng Shuqji (Chairman)
Mr. Xue Jun

Ms. Li Yiging
Mr. Lui Chi Ho

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Zhengquan (resigned with effect from 26 January 2025)
Mr. Yang Cheng (@appointed with effect from 26 January 2025)

Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie (CPA, FCCA)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Meng Shuqi
Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie (CFA, FCCA)

Corporate Profile

NEEH

EEg

HITES

BEFREEE)

B F2hH(BE_E-—AF—H -+ A%
FFIE)
BEIREE(BE-—FE-—AF—H_—F+ AL
EZ(T)

B A&

BYFATES
BELE
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BeErt
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R EG(BE-_FE-—AF—H -+ NAE
FF1E)

BREEE=ZFE=—AF— A=+ NHE
EZ(T)

RS S £ (CPA » FCCA)

REAXR

LEFEE
KRS £ (CPA » FCCA)
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Corporate Profile (continued)

NEIER ()

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

23/F, Tower 2

Enterprise Square Five

38 Wang Chiu Road

Kowloon Bay, Kowloon

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Han Kun Law Offices LLP
Rooms 4301-10, 43/F
Gloucester Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.7road.com

STOCK CODE

797

REGISTERED OFFICE IN
THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P. O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
THE PRC

The 27th Floor, Xiangjiang Financial Center
Nanshan District, Shenzhen

Guangdong Province

PRC

8 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]

B S A

FELZESTMELKMER AR

HESF AR
AR T2 B RBIZE AT

BB

NENEE

7= FR 1B 3855

TtEESFRH

ORED31E

BERLERERD

EHMEMEBMEREZEEETER
BB

ERKEBEHR155%
EMESERETITRE
43184301-10F

NGIE B

www.7road.com

B 40 1K 8%

797

FEHEEMMNRSZE

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P. O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands

TEIEEERMBE

HE

BERE
AT R LU (&
BT RPL27E



PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P. O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China
Shenzhen Qianhai Bay branch

China Merchants Bank
Shanghai Xuhui Binjiang branch

Corporate Profile (continued)

NEIER(E)

BERETEERME

B
BT 2 7 K8 2485k
AN#F & @A 0408

TERODBFRERLRE

Vistra (Cayman) Limited

P. O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands

BEREFERTE
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Financial Performance Highlights

MERARE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

BHHGE2ERER

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-BHL%E

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-QmE “E-=F —EC-CF “E--F  -Z-E%F
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB'000) (RMB’000)
(AE%TR) (ARETn) (ARETR) (ARETn) (AR%ETR)
Revenue e 306,396 484,946' 540,630 420,543 424,313
Profit/(loss) for the year EREF /(BB (74,156) (144,894) 279,606 97990 80,001
Profit/(loss) for the year attrioutable X2 7] % A A JE/E R
to owners of the Company w2l / (ER) (73,453) (146,461) 282,499 94,236 81,309
1, Restated. 1. wE -
2. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total revenue amounted to 2. BE-Z-_NF+_A=+—HLFE Kx@
approximately RMB306.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately 36.8% HAOBARMICAEE L BHE-T=_=F
as compared with the year ended 31 December 2023. T A=+ —BULFERIDL36.8% °
3. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company recorded a loss attributable 3. BEZZT-_MF+_A=+—RHILFE ' KQF
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately RMB73.5 million, B ARREAARGEERBNAARKESSE
representing a decrease of approximately 49.8% as compared with the year ended Bl BEZEZTE-_=F+=-A=+—HLFE
31 December 2023. B £949.8% ©
4. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company recorded a loss for the year 4. HE_Z-NE+-A=+—BLFE  AQF
of approximately RMB75.4 million for its continuing operations, whereas for the BERECEEBFRNBBROARARKETSIE
year ended 31 December 2023, the Company recorded an earning for the year of B MBE-T-_=F+-A=1T—BLLFE
approximately RMB3.2 million (restated) for its continuing operations. AABHERHERLEEBFANBMNOAARES2
BEIL(EEY)-
10 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]



Financial Performance Highlights (continued)
M RERE (B)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED

HRGRSEEREB/R

BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December
R+=A=t-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE “E-=F —E-CF “I--F -Z-ZF
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AE%®TR) (AREFTm) (ARETR) (ARETR) (AR®EFR)
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,547,385 1928117 1,955,212 1,535,214 1243150
Current assets THEE 257,234 346,256 690,926 473 591 871,194
Total assets BEE 1,804,619 2274373 2,646,138 2,008,805 2,114,344
Equity and liabilities BakafE
Total equity B 1,679,611 1,754,388 1,900,847 1,621,684 1,511,897
Non-current liabilities ERBaR 11,225 170,508 290,464 43,114 127,756
Current liabilities mEAaE 113,783 349,477 454,827 344,007 474,691
Total liabilties BELS 125,008 519,985 745,291 387,121 602,447
Total equity and liabilities BERafEes 1,804,619 2274373 2,646,138 2,008,805 2,114,344
— = — P9 4F 7R Annual Report 2024 11
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Chairman’s Statement

e

On behalf of the Board and the management of 7Road Holdings
Limited, | am pleased to present to you the financial results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, review our business
development during the year, and discuss the strategies and
prospects of the next year.

RESULTS FOR 2024

In the past 2024, the Company was committed to strengthening
our internal R&D capabilities and and market expansion efforts
in games, focusing on core products, strengthening operation,
actively exploring domestic and overseas markets, striving to bring
more high-quality and interesting gaming experience to players.
In 2024, the Company generated a total revenue of approximately
RMB306.4 million, representing an decrease of approximately 36.8%
as compared to the total revenue of approximately RMB484.9 million
(restated) in 2023. The Company recorded a loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB73.5 million in 2024,
representing a decrease of approximately 49.8% as compared to
2023. In 2024, the gross profit margin of the Company was 69.3%,
and the gross profit of the Company was RMB212.3 million, with the
latter representing an decrease of approximately 47.0% as compared
to approximately RMB400.2 million (restated) in 2023.

The decline in revenue and gross profit is primarily due to the
significant increase in revenue recorded for the year ending 31
December 2023 generated from the new game launched at the end
of 2022 while the revenue recorded for the year ended 31 December
2024 dropped gradually.

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR 2024

In terms of our gaming business in 2024, the Company’s online
game revenue was approximately RMB299.6 million, as compared
to approximately RMB469.9 million (restated) in 2023, representing
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 36.2%, of which revenue
from mobile games and web games accounted for 73.2% and
26.8%, respectively. Other revenue included IP licensing and sales of
online game technology and publishing solutions services, etc.

In terms of 2024, the Group focused on the competitive leisure
games, large-scale multiplayer online games (“MMORPG”) as
the development direction, and actively captured new market
opportunities.

12 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]

AANERRBLREBEERERARESE
RERRE MAM BETREAEEHZE
2024F12AGIA I FEUBELE IEF
WEBEE  WHRARRKR—FHRBE XA

=
= °

2024 FF ¥ 7%

R ER22024F L RAIBRIREAR
MR EENMTBREAE N BE
ZOEm BbEE  BEEBERINT
B BNEMRERELELD BHBMNE
BiBEER - R2024F - AR AIEL KRS REE
4 AN R¥306.45 & 7T © 82023F W = 42
BHHOAREIBAIOAE LK EY) R H
36.8% ° M2024F + NN &) 815 KD A
EAREEBEBROABARBIBSEE T &
20234 [Z iF ) #949.8% ° FA20244F + KR
AN EF K E69.3%  KRARMEF A A
R¥212.3B 8T * EFIR2023FHARE
400.2B BT (& E ) B #947.0% °

WARMEFNOTREBEIR_E-—
EHENFESMEEAEE_S-_=F
+Z A=+ —HLEFEHEHKRE KRG
mmEREE_TE-_NF+_A=+—
H I F[E 8515 A IR 25 BIE 8 T P& o

2024 F £ 7 [B &

BEEL TS A M 0 F2024%F 0 AR B 484K iE
B EE A W 25 49290.68 & T A R # (2023
FHBARBIIBET(EEN)) [
LE R #936.2% o B A T i 5 B R AG EE
78.2% - #9 B i#E B UL A1k 126.8% > H b
WA B FEIP T A B 8 & A8 4% 2 Bl B iy Je 3%
TRAFTERRES -

At B2024%F - RE T 2UKREIHRE - K
BEZ A& E(MMORPG) # B A% E 7
M WHEEHIRFOTISHE -



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

In 2024, the two classic IPs of “DDTank” (38 58 & ) and “Wartune”
( 48 i ) continued its momentum. By optimizing user experience,
improving the quality of the artwork and introducing innovative
gameplay, we were able to maintain the activity and stickiness of our
players. At the same time, we also focused on exploring the potential
of the existing market, and through precise marketing strategies
and data analysis, we were able to achieve stable operation of our
published gaming projects. “DDTank” ( 5& 58 = ) series, “Wartune”
(%% # ) series games and mini-program game “I'm MT” ( & A4 MT)
contributed the majority of the Company’s revenue.

We have been actively exploring and achieving positive results in
the area of mini-program games, which is expected to become a
new engine for growth of the Group in the future, while at the same
time vigorously expanding new acquisition channels and distribution
regions. The Group’s operation and R&D capabilities have enabled
it to participate in market competition through various flexible means
while ensuring the continuous and stable operation of its published
gaming projects.

In May 2024, our mini-program game “'m MT” ( E A MT) was officially
launched on the platforms of both WeChat and Douyin, and ranked
among the top sellers of WeChat mini-program games in the first
month of launch. Combined with our own IPs, we have increased
our investment in mini-program games. In the second half of 2024,
we invested in the R&D of mini-program games with two major IPs,
“DDTank” (558 &) and “Wartune” (14 #4), and tested the mini-program
game version of “Wartune H5” (18 B H5) in the fourth quarter, and the
test data showed a good results. The card-based mini-program game
“Bloodling” (Il /%) was tested at the end of 2024 and will be released
in the first quarter of 2025. The R&D and launch of these products not
only enrich our product matrix, but also lay a solid foundation for our
sustainable development in the future.

In recent years, there has been rapid development of games going
overseas. Through in-depth research on the cultural background
and player preferences of different overseas markets, the Group
has accurately identified the target regions and launched our classic
IP gaming projects to a number of overseas markets gradually. In

particular, “Wartune H5” (## # H5) was launched in Europe in the fourth
quarter of 2024 and achieved good resullts.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)
= EEE(E)

In 2024, the 2D arena has become a red ocean with fierce
competition, and the Group has been committed to finding
opportunities for its 2D arena products to stand out. The first online
test of the mini-program version of “Gintama” (#R 2 ££ 45) has been
completed at the end of 2024, and we will further optimize the
combat and gameplay based on market feedback, and strive to
exploit full potential of our product features. The classic IP mobile
game “DDTank X” (58 58 & X), has completed the beta version and
will be tested online and distributed overseas in 2025.

With the further advancement of the wave of artificial intelligence,
the Group has always maintained a keen insight to accurately grasp
the market trend and proactively embrace technological changes.
The Group has introduced Al technology applications in the areas
of game R&D, publication materials creation and placement. With
reference to the Al-generated multimodal contents (such as text,
images and audio), we not only improve the efficiency of product
development, but also enrich the forms of product expression,
bringing users a better experience.

OUTLOOK FOR 2025

Looking ahead to 2025, we will continue to deepen our presence
in the competitive leisure games and MMORPG sectors, adopting
a user-centric approach with a global vision to develop premium
games. Regarding new product layouts, we remain highly responsive
to market trends and actively diversify our product portfolio. The
Group plans to advance multiple self-developed or licensed mini-
program games in 2025.

We will also intensify our efforts in global market deployment and
explore new paths for international development. “DDTank Adventure”
(558 & K E %) in the European region and “Wartune H5” (& g H5)
in the Asia-Pacific region are expected to be launched successively
within 2025. We are conducting innovative transformation and
development based on the market and user characteristics of Web-
based DDTank (B ## 58 58 &), and it is expected to be launched and
introduced to the market within the year.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Multiple mini-program games under the two classic IPs, “DDTank” (5&
38 &) and “Wartune” (18 #), are currently in development or testing,
and are expected to be launched within the year. The mobile app
and mini-program multi-platform version of “Gintama” (3R 28 % 45 ) is
undergoing active optimization of combat and gameplay to further
enhance the fun of combat strategy, player stickiness and willingness
to pay. It is expected to be tested and launched in the first half of
2025. At the same time, we are actively advancing the collaboration
on the 3D mini-program game “I'm MT” (¥ A MT) to further explore
its IP value. In addition, we are also negotiating the agency distribution
cooperation for several other mini-program games.

In 2025, we will further optimize our data analytics capabilities at
the technical and operational levels to enhance the accuracy of user
profiling, thereby achieving more efficient marketing and operational
strategies. We will also continue to deepen the application of Al
technology, enhance R&D efficiency and product quality, and
empower our business.

Games are creations that bring joyful experiences to users. Building
on the foundation of the two major IPs, “DDTank” ( 3 58 & ) and
“Wartune” (4% R ), the Group will strive for innovation and in-depth
development. We always adhere to a user-centric approach. While
providing users with more interesting content, we are committed
to creating a higher-quality gaming experience for a wide range of
players.

In terms of investment, we will continue to seek appropriate
investment or cooperation opportunities, and selectively acquire and
invest in companies or assets with potential in the Internet-related
industry chain in accordance with the Group’s development strategy.

In summary, the Group will continue to focus on the value of the
Group’s core IP, proactively explore the new engine value of mini-
program games and improve our gaming product portfolio. At the
same time, the Group will control investment risks, optimize resource
allocation, and focus on global layout. We will actively respond to
changes in technology and in the market, and continuously improve
our overall capabilities with the aim of creating more value for our
Shareholders.

Meng Shugqi
Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC, 28 March 2025
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
EERSHREEAEB[BMN

Below are the brief profiles of our current Directors and senior MU TABREZEENSAEEENEN
management.

DIRECTORS 55

The Board currently comprises six Directors, of which three are EEEHAIA A NBRERHK  BE=ZE#H
executive Directors and three are independent non-executive fTEENR=ZRBIIFHNITEE - TR
Directors. The following table sets forth the information regardingthe BB EZME R :

Directors:

Date of Appointment as
Name Age Position Director

e Fie Bz EEZZEAH

Executive Directors

BITES
Mr. Meng Shuqi 47 Chairman and executive Director 6 September 2017
hEAEE 47 ITREBITES —E—tFNAKH
Mr. Li Zhengquan 48 Executive Director, chief financial officer and 30 April 2019
joint company secretary (resigned with
effect from 26 January 2025)
FERELE 48 HITES BRMBERBEARTNE —E-NFWMA=+H
(BE=—F=—AF—H=+ NHEFT)
Mr. Liu Zhizhen 42 Executive Director (appointed with effect from 26 January 2025
26 January 2025), chief executive officer
(appointed with effect from 8 March 2024)
BlEIR A& 42 WTER(HE-FT-_AF A=+ HEEZ —T-_HAF—A=+XH
F) TR (E=—F-—mF=HHE
EZE)
Mr. Yang Cheng 48 Executive Director, vice president, chief 29 October 2018
financial officer and joint company secretary
(appointed as chief financial officer and
Joint company secretary with effect from 26
January 2025)
15 X 5t 48 WITES BN BAEVBERBELAR —T—-N\F+AZ+IE
WEEH-F-AF—A-F  NHEEZ
EREREHEEREERTWE)
Independent
Non-executive Directors
BYFBITES
Mr. Xue Jun 50 Independent non-executive Director 14 December 2018
BESE 50 BUFRITES —E-N\F+A+HMA
Ms. Li Yiging 52 Independent non-executive Director 30 September 2019
B ERL 52 BUEMITES —E-NFNAZ=TH
Mr. Lui Chi Ho 52 Independent non-executive Director 1 December 2021
BERIITE 52 BUEMITES T —H+-HA—H
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EEZNENRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Meng Shuqi, aged 47, is our executive Director and Chairman.
He has been appointed as the Chairman since the Listing Date,
and is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning
and decision-making of our Group. Mr. Meng is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee.

Mr. Meng has more than 18 years of experience in the internet and
gaming industry. Mr. Meng joined Shenzhen 7Road in June 2009. He
had served as the chief operation officer and a director of Shenzhen
7Road since May 2011. He ceased to be the director of Shenzhen
7Road in May 2013 and subsequently retired from his role as the
chief operation officer in February 2014. In August 2015, Mr. Meng
returned to Shenzhen 7Road and has been the director, chairman
of the board and general manager of Shenzhen 7Road since then.
Mr. Meng was also the chief executive officer of the Company from
March 2018 to September 2019.

Mr. Meng is a director of Ben 7Road Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

EABRT (E)

HITES

EETRE 47w HAWBTESRE
Fe-RALTHMEZERTF YEE
REERBER RBHREFZOREKHE -
BEETNRREZBEEIFENTFHEES

BAEERE BB R BERITE RS BI8F
B R EERZTZEAFNAMAZRI
FLRB-RE-_FT——FHABEMLR
NEELXENERFEERERES - R
TE-ZHFAATBEERINEELREE
FORBENR-_T-NOF_ARTEFLE
BE -R-_T—RFN\A - AEEERR
NWELARE Bl —BEEERINELKE
MEE EERIELE -HZXAEB-F
—NEFEZRAE_ZT-NFAANTEEER
NETHRAEE °

&= HE B A RA £ ZE KR R Ben 7Road
Holdings Limited K & % o

—Z ~ /94 3R Annual Report 2024 17



Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EEREREBEABGN (B)

Mr. Liu Zhizhen (2] £ #R), aged 42, joined the Group in September
2019 and was appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company with effect from March 8, 2024. He was mainly responsible
for managing the Group’s R&D. In September 2022, Mr. Liu was
appointed as the vice president of the Company and began
participating in the overall management of the Group. Before and
after joining the Group, Mr. Liu’s background in the R&D of games
was extensive with over 20 years of experience. He has served as a
game producer and R&D leader in a number of large and well-known
gaming companies, has led the R&D and team management of
multiple types of gaming projects and achieved excellent performance
results. From April 2005 to July 2006, Mr. Liu was a gaming project
planner at Netstar Square Enix NetworkTechnology (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
(M8 2 5 5 Bl B 5 BT A 4% B B2 (48 ) B R 2 A]). From August
2006 to September 2007, Mr. Liu was the chief gaming project planner
and assistant producer at Beijing Guoji Chuanshi Network Technology
Co., Ltd* (b R Bl £ Bt 48 48 $21l5 B IR 2 71). From November 2007
to September 2011, Mr. Liu was a producer in the gaming division of
Beijing Wuzhou Zongheng Sports Development Co., Ltd.* (1t &= F i
MEEBEEEER AR AT and from September 2011 to August
2019, he was a producer of games at Giant Network Group Co., Ltd.
(E AR £E R (AR A7) acompany listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002558).

Since September 2007, Mr. Liu has been an external lecturer at the
Academy of Arts & Design of Tsinghua University (J& % A 2 X fiT 2
B) in the PRC. In May 2022, he was appointed as an expert tutor at
the Art and Technology Innovation Base* (£ iy £2 £} 5 &l #7 £ i) of
Tsinghua University (/5 & X ) in the PRC.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

-

Mr. Yang Cheng, aged 48, is our executive Director, vice president,
chief financial officer and joint company secretary. Mr. Yang has over
22 years of experience in financial management. Mr. Yang managed
the overall financial affairs of Besttone Holding Co., Ltd (5% & 1% A%
%15 B BR A 7)), a listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 600640), for more than 10 years, as the general
manager of the planning and finance department and the chief
financial officer. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics
from East China University of Science and Technology ( % 3 12 T
AE) in July 2000, and a master’s degree in financial management
from the same university in March 2003. Mr. Yang obtained the
qualification of senior accountant in December 2009.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Xue Jun, aged 50, is our independent non-executive Director. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
respectively. Mr. Xue has over 23 years of experience in auditing
and financial management. Mr. Xue served as an audit manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from July 1998 to October 2005. He has
been a partner and the deputy chairman of Shanghai My Whole
Way Certified Public Accountants (_t /& & & & =t Al <5 7% FfT) since
October 2005. Mr. Xue obtained his bachelor’'s degree in Economics
from Shanghai Jiaotong University (_E 8 22 38 A 22) in June 1998, and
obtained the qualifications of Chinese Certified Public Accountant and
Chartered Financial Analyst in December 2001 and November 2010,
respectively.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EENEREBEABEN (B)

Ms. Li Yiqing, aged 52, is our independent non-executive Director.
She is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee, respectively. Ms. Li has substantial experience in
corporate management and investment. Ms. Li has been the
chairwoman of Hangzhou Li Zi Cultural Technology Co., Ltd. (#70H #i
F b EHE A BR A B]) from September 2018; a director of Hangzhou
Shunwang Technology Co., Ltd. (1 B4 & £ Ik D B R A Al), a
company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 300113) from September 2018 to May 2022, and the
director of Chengdu Hua Qi Yun Technology Co., Ltd. (A #B % 2 &=
£ £ & BR A &) since August 2018. From April 2017 to April 2018,
Ms. Li was the chairwoman of the investment committee of De Qing
Pu Hua Equity Investment Fund Enterprise (Limited Partnership) ( 12
BEEREREEASABPLE(BERAER). From May 2018 to
March 2020, Ms. Li was the chairperson of the Investment Committee
of Puying Guoshi (Shanghai) Equity Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (# BB R (L 85) BREREESAB L E(F
R & %£)). From September 2012 to September 2015, Ms. Li was the
chairwoman and chief executive officer of Hua Shu Media Holdings
Co., Ltd. (ZE {E E 15 IR Bx 19 A IR 2 7)), a company whose shares
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 000156),
and was a director and chief executive officer of such company from
September 2015 to March 2017. From December 2009 to November
2015, Ms. Li was the chairwoman and the chief executive officer of
Huashu Media Network Co., Ltd. From July 2001 to December 2009,
Ms. Li was the senior vice president of Hua Shu Digital Television
Media Group Co., Lid (E# BT ERBEEE B R AR]).

Ms. Li obtained her bachelor’s degree in finance from the Zhejiang
University of Finance and Economics ( #7 JT Bf 48 K £ ) (formerly
known as Zhejiang Institution of Finance and Economics ( #7 T 8f
& B BT ) in July 1995 and further obtained her master’s degree
in business administration from Zhejiang University (3 )T KX £ ) in
March 2001.

Mr. Lui Chi Ho, aged 52, is our independent non-executive Director.
He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, respectively. Mr. Lui has
extensive experience in advising banking, corporate finance and
cross-border project finance transactions.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

-

Mr. Lui is a partner of Ince & Co. and has been qualified as a lawyer
in Hong Kong and England & Wales since July 1999 and May 2004,
respectively. Mr. Lui is also a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC. In addition, Mr.
Lui has also been appointed as chairman of the Appeal Tribunal
Panel (Buildings) and a member of each of the Solicitors Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel, Licensing Appeals Board, Fishermen Claims Appeal
Board and Disciplinary Panel A of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Zhizhen, see “— Executive Directors” in this section for details.

Mr. Yang Cheng, see “— Executive Directors” in this section for details.

Mr. Peng Shuo (¥ 7%8), 39, is our chief operating officer. A graduate
of Nanjing University, Mr. Peng began his career at Shanghai
Qinhe Internet Co., Ltd* (L /8 E M E 5 A HF R A7) as a product
manager, where he participated in the design of the company’s
voice-based social products. He later worked at Beijing Feiliu Jiutian
Technology Co., Ltd.* (3t 3 & 7t J1 X £ £ 2 &) and Shanghai
Black Peach 51 Technology Co., Ltd.* (/& Z #k51% & B R A &)
as a business manager, and was responsible for product acquisition
and channel operations. In 2019, he joined the Group, as the head
of publishing, overseeing the Group’s overall operations and market
publishing efforts.

Mr. Yuan Ye (& BF), 32, is our vice president. With ten years of experience
in game operations and R&D management, Mr. Yuan specializes in the
incubation, development, and operation of casual and massively multiplayer
online game IP products. He has been responsible for the management of
the Company’s core IPs, including “DDTank” (38 38 &) and “Wartune” (#&
# ). In 2015, he joined the Group and was responsible for the overseas
game operations of the web game “DDTank” (58 58 &' ). In 2016, he was
promoted to operations manager, and deputy director of operations in
2018. In 2019, Mr. Yuan became the head of studio. In June 2024, he was
appointed as a vice president of the Group, mainly responsible for managing
projects in respect of “DDTank” (58 38 &) and “Wartune” (48 ).
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EENEREBEABEN (B)

Ms. Zhou Wenwen, aged 39, has been appointed as Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company since 1 January 2022. Ms. Zhou
is primarily responsible for formulating corporate human resources
strategic planning and the implementation of comprehensive
administrative management policies of the Group’s operations. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou has more than 10 years of experience
in administration and human resources management in a large-scale
well-established gaming company. Ms. Zhou received her bachelor’s
degree from Shanghai Maritime University in 2010.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as the
executive Director and CEO, and Mr. Liu Zhizhen was appointed as
the CEO. With effect from 26 January 2025, Mr. Liu Zhizhen was
appointed as the executive Director.

Mr. Liu Zhizhen obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on January 23, 2025 and has confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a Director.

With effect from 26 January 2025, Mr. Li Zhengquan resigned as the
executive Director, chief financial officer and joint company secretary.
Mr. Yang Cheng was appointed as the chief financial officer and joint
company secretary.

With effect from 20 March 2024, Mr. Jiang Mingye, resigned as the
Company’s chief operating officer. With effect from 27 April 2024, Mr.,

Peng Shuo was appointed as the Company’s chief operating officer.

With effect from 1 June 2024, Mr. Yuan Ye was appointed as the
Company’s vice president.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading game developer and operator in China with
a global reach. Since our incorporation in 2008, we have been
engaging in the R&D, operation and publishing of a number of
popular games.

Overview of the industries in which the Company operates in

According to the “2024 Global Games Market Report” (2024 % Bk i /&
™35 ¥R &) released by Newzoo in 2024, the global games market size
was estimated to be US$187.7 billion in 2024, and the number of game
players around the world was over 3.42 billion, with a year-on-year
increase of 4.5%. Among which, (i) mobile games still represented the
most important sector of the gaming industry, and the global mobile
games market size was estimated to be US$92.6 billion in 2024,
accounting for 48% of the total revenue of the industry, with a year-
on-year increase of 3%; and (i) the PC games market size accounted
for 23% of the total revenue of the industry, reaching US$43.2 billion
with a year-on-year increase of 4.0%. The report concluded that the
gaming industry will continue to develop steadily, and the games
market is expected to continue to grow in the next few years. It is
estimated that the number of players around the world will increase
from the current 3.42 billion to 3.76 billion by 2027, with the market
size reaching US$213.3 billion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BIRE S AT ()

Principal risks relating to our business

There are certain risks involved in our operations and our prospects
and future financial results could be materially and adversely affected
by these risks. The following highlight the principal risks exposed to
the Group and are not meant to be exhaustive:

° we are required to comply with new policies or any
amendment to current policies in relation to the gaming
industries, which may affect our business operations;

° we face uncertainties in the continued growth of the gaming
business as well as the market acceptance of our games;

o delays of game launches could negatively affect our
operations and prospects;

° we rely on our key personnel, and our business and growth
prospects may be severely disrupted if we lose their services
or are unable to attract new key employees;

o if we are unable to extend the expected lifecycle of our
games, our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects could be materially and adversely affected;

° we rely on third-party distribution and publishing platforms
to distribute and publish our games. If these third-party
distribution and publishing platforms fail to effectively
promote our games on their platforms or otherwise fulfil their
obligations to us, our business and results of the operations
will be materially and adversely affected; and

° our business relies on our data analysis capabilities, any
impact on which would materially and adversely affect our
ability to formulate appropriate business strategies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

To mitigate the identified risks, we shall monitor the risks, and review
our business strategies and financial results. We have implemented
the following strategies to ensure the risks are being managed:

° our Directors and management teams actively exchange
views and information in relation to the new policies and
amendments to current policies of the gaming industries
with relevant regulatory authorities and take appropriate
actions to respond to the changes and ensure the Group is in
compliance with the latest applicable laws and regulations;

° our user support department is committed to tracking and
responding to the changes in players’ preferences in a timely
and effective manner;

° we further strengthen our data analytics capabilities to
continue developing popular games, and improving the
gaming experience of players;

° we constantly enhance or update our existing games with
new features to attract players;

° to keep pace with the market, we bring on board new talents
to keep the competitiveness of our businesses; and

° we strengthen our relationships with major domestic and
international publishing and business partners.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BIRE S AT ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operational Information

During the year ended 31 December 2024, we continued to focus
on the R&D of games and the operations of high-quality games
to cope with the intensifying competition in the gaming industry
and endeavored to become a world-renowned game developer
integrated with research, operation and development capabilities.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s online game
revenue was mainly derived from several well-known games,
including “DDTank” (3858 &) series, “Wartune” (## #) series and “I'm
MT” (F AYMT).

We assess the operating performance with a set of key performance
indicators, which include MAUs, MPUs and ARPPU. Fluctuations in
our operating data are primarily a result of changes in the number
of players who play, download (in the case of mobile games) and
pay for virtual items and premium features in our games. Using
these operating data as our key performance indicators allows
us to monitor our ability to offer highly engaging online games
and helps us to increase the continuous popularity of our games,
gain the monetization of our player base and deal with the intense
competition in the online gaming industry, so that we can implement
better business strategies.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our web games had (i) an
average MAUs of approximately 0.9 million; (i) an average MPUs of
approximately 28,000; and (i) an ARPPU of approximately RMB573;
and our mobile games had (a) an average MAUs of approximately
0.6 million; (b) an average MPUs of approximately 49,000; and (c) an
ARPPU of approximately RMB530.

The Group has fully withdrawn from providing cloud computing
resources and relevant support services to its customers since 28
March 2024.
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2023

The following table sets forth the comparative statements of profit or
loss for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 (restated):

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
BIEENwmES T (B)
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Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=T—BHLHFE

Year-on-year

2024 2023 change
—E-NF —ET-=F [ Lt 2
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) %
(AR®Fx) (AEBTFT) %
Restated
(&)
Continuing operations BELSEER
Revenue Uy == 306,396 484,946 -36.8
Cost of revenue 1 &% B AN (94,111) (84,697) 11.1
Gross profit EF 212,285 400,249 -47.0
R&D expenses MERAX (131,865) (168,395) 217
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSHEER (63,600) (49,837) 276
Administrative expenses THRAX (45,971) (59,548) -22.8
Net provision of impairment losses on ~ T Hi{Z EEEER
financial assets under expected credit 18 & g & EEE
loss model E BB E FRE (25,472) (33,422 -23.8
Other income Halr A 13,952 5,394 158.7
Other gains or losses, net Hilhsm sk B 1B 558 (19,758) (85,254) -76.8
Operating (loss)/profit L (FR), B (60,429) 9,187 -757.8
Finance income BB A 595 1,113 -46.5
Finance costs B K A (1,866) (1,806) 3.3
Finance costs, net BA S B AR VR 58 (1,271) (693) 83.4
Share of results of associates DL E D EER (1,669) (588) 183.8
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEBHAT(EE)
i A (63,369) 7,906 -901.5
Income tax expense FrigtiE A (12,062) (4,685) 157.5
(Loss)/profit for the year from BFEREXBEFAN(E
continuing operations 8),/ R (75,431) 3,221 -2,441.9
Discontinued operations BRIEREEK
Profit/(loss) for the year from ERIECEEBFFA
discontinued operations wmF(EE) 1,275 (148,115) -100.9
Loss for the year FREE (74,156) (144,894) -48.8
— =~ /Y4 2k Annual Report 2024 27



I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BEE T ()
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE

The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

3

T_J' =1 I%E(é
W #=

TR BEMBE_T-_NFER-_FT =
FT-A=t-BLEFENKREAA:

For the year ended 31 December

BEE+t-A=t-HLEE

2024 2023
—E_ME —EZ=F
(% of total (% of total
(RMB’000) revenue)  (RMB'000) revenue)
(AR¥ (4 W #8 (AR% (e &=
Fr) #EE %) Ft) 1BEE%)
Types of goods or services EmdRBEES
Online game revenue A% e B = 299,641 97.8% 469,920 96.9%
— Self-development games — B EE
published by the Group REBET 160,671 52.4% 356,996 73.6%
published by other publishers Hh TR BT 83,827 27.4% 111,077 22.9%
— Licensed games —RIB R
published by the Group REBEELT 54,099 17.7% 1,795 0.4%
published by other publishers HhBITRRT 1,044 0.3% 52 0.0%
Sales of online game technology and 4 & 4 4% 1% &L B 1 &%
publishing solutions services BITHR T RIRT 529 0.2% 664 0.1%
Intellectual property licensing A ERET T 5,331 1.7% 7,159 1.5%
Cloud related service ERERBE 895 0.3% 7,203 1.5%
Total #st 306,396 100.0% 484,946 100.0%
Note: M&E:
) The Group has fully withdrawn from the business of cloud computing and related (1) AEBE-_ZT-_MWEF=A=-+N\HEZEED
cloud service since 28 March 2024. EHEREMEREER -

For the year ended 31 December 2024, total revenue was
approximately RMB306.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 36.8% as compared with the year ended 31
December 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of
the Group’s game business was approximately RMB299.6 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 36.2% as compared
with the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to the substantial increase in revenue recorded for
the year ended 31 December 2023 generated from the new game
launched at the end of 2022 while the revenue recorded for the year
ended 31 December 2024 decreased gradually.

28 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]

HE-Z-_WMF+-_A=1+—RBLtFE"
W BN A ANREI064EE T BE
E-T_ZHFt-A=T—HALEERD
#368% - HE-_TE_WF+_A=+—
HEFE AEEEBEEHRZOAEA
R¥E2006BEIT BEHE_ZE-_=F+=
A=+—HIEFERIH36.2% W z= )
BAOEEHRBEMAR_ZS_—_FEHELHN
FEBNEE_T-_=F+-_A=+—H
IEFERMEENKZE K@M - mMER
HEZZT-_NF+-_A=+—HLEFERN
8BRS Uk 25 I 3X 8T TR o



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

COST OF REVENUE

Our cost of revenue mainly comprises employee salary and benefit
expenses incurred by our operations departments, bandwidth and
server custody fees and cost of game licensing. The cost of revenue
amounted to approximately RMB94.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing an increase of approximately 11.1%
as compared to the corresponding period for the year ended 31
December 2023, mainly due to the increase in licensing costs as a
result of the growth of licensed games.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT
MARGIN

Our gross profit amounted to approximately RMB212.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately 47.0% as compared to approximately RMB400.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which is mainly due
to the year-on-year decrease in revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024,

Our gross profit margin was approximately 69.3% for the year ended
31 December 2024, representing a decrease of 13.3 percentage
points as compared to that for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly due to the year-on-year decrease in revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2024 while the year-on-year increase in cost of
revenue.

EXPENSES

R&D Expenses

Our R&D expenses mainly comprise employee salary and benefit
expenses incurred by our R&D department and outsourcing
expenses. The R&D expenses amounted to approximately RMB131.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a
decrease of approximately 21.7% as compared to that for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to our
enhanced management of R&D expenses during the Reporting
Period, the decrease in employee salary expenses incurred by our
R&D department as compared to the corresponding period in 2023.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

&2 A AT ()

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly comprise employee salary
and benefit expenses, office expenses, property rent expenses,
professional consulting service fees and miscellaneous management
fees. The administrative expenses were approximately RMB46.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing a
decrease of 22.8% as compared to that for the year ended 31
December 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to a decrease in
property rent expenses and miscellaneous management fees as a
result of our more efforts in fees management.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses mainly comprise advertising
expenses incurred by marketing. The selling and marketing expenses
amounted to approximately RMB63.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing an increase of approximately 27.6%
as compared to that for the year ended 31 December 2023. Such
increase was mainly due to an increase in marketing and promotion
expenses incurred by our game operations as compared to the
corresponding period in 2023.

Income Tax

The income tax expenses increased for the year ended 31 December
2024 as compared to the corresponding period in 2023, which was
mainly due to the effect of the expiration of preferential tax rates for
certain subsidiaries and the changes in matters related to deferred
income tax assets of certain subsidiaries. The estimated income tax
rates applicable to the Group entities (excluding the entities that are
currently tax exempted) for the year ended 31 December 2024 varied
from 12.5% to 25% (20283: 12.5%—-25%).

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company from continuing operations
amounted to approximately RMB74.7 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 4,618.0% as compared with the year
ended 31 December 2023. This was mainly attributable to the year-
on-year decrease in revenue and gross profit for the year ended 31
December 2024,

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our discontinued operations
recorded a profit for the period of approximately RMB1.3 million as
compared to a loss of approximately RMB148.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Details of the discontinued operations
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and equity or debt financing activities for its capital
requirements. As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB60.7 million (2023: RMB48.1 million),
which were denominated in RMB, representing an increase of
approximately 26.1% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2023. Such increase was mainly because we obtained a new bank
loan and recovered the relevant investment during the Reporting
Period.

INTEREST BEARING LOAN

We adopt a prudent treasury management policy to ensure that our
Group maintains a healthy financial position. As at 31 December
2024, our bank and other borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB15.0 million (2023: RMB231.0 million). The decrease in total
borrowings was mainly because the borrowings balance of
approximately RMB191.0 million as at 31 December 2023 was
attributable to Shanghai Lingsu, a then-subsidiary we disposed in
the Reporting Period, which was no longer included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements upon completion of the disposal.
As at 31 December 2024, our borrowings were denominated
in RMB, which are at fixed interest rate. Details of the Group’s
borrowings, including maturities, currencies and interest rates, are
set out in note 28 of the consolidated financial statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 6.9% (2023: 22.9%). The decrease was mainly due
to the disposal of Shanghai Lingsu during the Reporting Period,
resulting in a decrease in total borrowings. The gearing ratio is
calculated as total debt divided by total assets of the Group as at 31
December 2024.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

&2 A AT ()

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

EXRREX

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—HLEE

Year-on-year

2024 2023 ohange

—®-mE  -To=F  ALEH

(RMB'000)  (RMB'000) %

(AR®Fx) (ARETFIT) %

Servers and other equipment Pk 75 23 & H A0 5% 8 207 4,022 -94.9

Office furniture and leasehold MARER

improvement HEMERE 21 1,692 -98.8
Buildings and related improvements BFEEEEER

and leasehold land HE 16,178 42,082 -61.6

Total et 16,406 47,796 -65.7

Our capital expenditure includes servers and other equipment, office  HKFINEAFE X B ERERE L EMRE -

furniture and leasehold improvement and buildings and related
improvements and leasehold land. The total capital expenditure for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 was approximately
RMB16.4 million and RMB47.8 million, respectively. The decrease
was mainly due to our purchase of buildings and leasehold land in
2023

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group operates in overseas markets through overseas
publishers and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar.
Foreign exchange risk arises primarily from recognized assets and
liabilities when foreign currency is or will be received from overseas
counterparties. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
did not have policies to hedge any foreign currency fluctuation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Investment in Shanghai Silicon

As of 31 December 2024, (i) the fair value of the investment in
Shanghai Silicon was approximately RMB391.6 million; (ii) an
unrealised fair value gain on the Group’s investment in Shanghai
Silicon of approximately RMB11.6 million was accumulatively
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024; and (iii) no
dividend/income distribution was received. Accordingly, the fair
value of the investment in Shanghai Silicon compared to the Group’s
total assets as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 21.7% and
therefore classified as a significant investment of the Group.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group effectively invested in
approximately 2.0% of Shanghai Silicon (correspondingly held
approximately 23,150,127 shares in Shanghai Silicon) through indirect
shareholding at a total capital commitment of RMB380 million.
Shanghai Silicon is a market-leading domestic manufacturer of large-
scale semiconductor silicon chips, and is expected to have broad
market prospects in the future. Shanghai Silicon’s products are
widely used in the production of memory chips, central processing
units, graphic processing units and various semiconductor
components.

The investment in Shanghai Silicon is expected to be for medium
and long-term purposes. Given the future prospects of large-
scale semiconductor silicon chips, the Group expects to generate
investment returns from the investment in Shanghai Silicon.
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Investment in Ningbo Lianjun

As at 31 December 2024, (i) the fair value of the investment
in Ningbo Lianjun was approximately RMB116.3 million; (ii) an
unrealized fair value gain of the Group’s investment in Ningbo Lianjun
of approximately RMB11.3 million was accumulatively recognized
for the year ended 31 December 2024; and (i) no dividends/profit
distributions have been received. The fair value of the investment
in Ningbo Lianjun compared to the Group’s total assets as of 31
December 2024 was approximately 6.4%, and is therefore classified
as a significant investment of the Group. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group effectively invested in approximately 20.98% in Ningbo
Lianjun at a total capital investment of RMB105 million. Ningbo
Lianjun is a private equity fund in the form of a limited partnership,
the investment area of which focuses on the integrated circuit and
its upstream and downstream enterprises, with upstream mainly
including enterprises engaged in silicon wafers for integrated circuits
(including its upstream core equipment and key consumables,
etc.), and downstream mainly including key chip design enterprises
and those whose major application scenarios, such as automotive
networking, internet of things, and autonomous driving applications,
are synergistic and growth-oriented. The investment in Ningbo
Lianjun is expected to be for medium and long-term purposes. The
Board is optimistic about the prospects of the related industry and
the Group expect to generate investment returns from the investment
in Ningbo Lianjun.

Investment in Nanjing Lingxing

As of 31 December 2024, (i) the fair value of the investment directly
held in Nanjing Lingxing was approximately RMB122.3 million; (ii)
no unrealised fair value gain on the Group’s investment in Nanjing
Lingxing was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024; and
(i) no dividend/profit distribution was received. The fair value of the
investment in Nanjing Lingxing compared to the Group’s total assets
as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 6.8% and therefore
classified as a significant investment of the Group.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group directly held an investment of
approximately 0.5317% of Nanjing Lingxing (correspondingly held
approximately 44,741,619 shares in Nanjing Lingxing) at a total capital
investment of RMB122.3 million. Nanjing Lingxing operates a smart
travel platform. The investment in Nanjing Lingxing is a medium
and long-term investment. Taking into account its industry position,
business prospects and its future capitalization plans, the Group
expects to receive financial returns from its investment in Nanjing
Lingxing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
significant investments held as of 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not have
other future plans for material investments or capital assets as of 31
December 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Disposal of Shanghai Lingsu Network Technology Co., Ltd.*
(EEEZER &R FHER2ATF) (“Shanghai Lingsu”)

On 28 March 2024, Shenzhen 7Road entered into a disposal
agreement with Shanghai Canghuo Network Technology Co., Ltd.*
(EBENBEEE AR A A (“Shanghai Canghuo”), pursuant
to which Shenzhen 7Road agreed to sell and Shanghai Canghuo
agreed to buy 100% of the registered capital of Shanghai Lingsu
for a consideration of RMB14.85 million. Upon completion of the
said disposal, the Group no longer hold any interest in Shanghai
Lingsu. For details on the aforesaid disposal, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2024.

Prior to the completion of the said disposal, Shanghai Lingsu had
taken out a loan and obtained three finance leases (collectively, the
“Borrowings”) from certain financial institutions. The Borrowings
were secured by the Group through providing guarantees in favour
of such financial institutions. Upon the completion of the Disposal,
Shanghai Lingsu ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company,
and the Group continued to provide the guarantee for Shanghai
Lingsu for a certain period after the completion of the Disposal (the
“Guarantees”). Regarding to the Guarantees, the Group entered
into a counter-guarantee agreement with Shanghai Canghuo and
an independent third party (the “Counter Guarantors”). Pursuant
to the counter-guarantee agreement, the Counter Guarantors jointly
provided an unconditional and irrevocable joint liability guarantee
to the Group for any of the Group’s obligations under the relevant
guarantees. The maximum guaranteed amount of the Group under
the Guarantees was RMB120,000,000. Details of the Guarantee are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 28 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balances of Shanghai
Lingsu’s each borrowing which guaranteed by the Group was
RMB54,155,000, and as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group
was not aware of any default or breaches of a covenant of Shanghai
Lingsu’s borrowings. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group’s credit risk regarding the Guarantee was insignificant as
in light of the above and the counter-guarantee to the Group has
been provided.

Acquisition of the entire partnership interest in Shanghai
Lingsuda Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (L&%8
EENBFEBLEEREE) (“Shanghai Lingsuda Partnership”)

On 283 December 2024, Wuxi 7Road Yunrui Equity Investment
Management Co., Ltd* (EH M -t EZEREREETEEARA
A]) and Wuxi 7Road Technology Co., Ltd* (5% + XKERF A
R A &) (“Wuxi 7Road Technology”), being indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company (collectively, the “Purchasers”), entered
into two agreements with Beihai Hexi Investment Management Co.,
Ltd.* (b8 FIER & & E 12 A BR A 7)) and Wuxi Feiye Investment Co.,
Lt (% 35 R E & & B R 2 7)) (the “Sellers”), pursuant to which
the Purchasers agreed to acquire and the Sellers agreed to sell the
entire partnership interest in Shanghai Lingsuda Partnership at a total
consideration of RMB122,301,724.96. Upon completion of the said
acquisition, Shanghai Lingsuda Partnership will become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Wuxi 7Road Technology shall
still have the obligation to make capital contribution of RMB9,850,000
to Shanghai Lingsuda Partnership. For details on the aforesaid
acquisition, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
23 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any other

material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As of 31 December 2024, we pledged property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as security for loans of RMB15.0 million. For
further details, please refer to note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, there was no
other material charge on the Group’s assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
GUARANTEES

On 8 December 2021, Proficient City Limited (“PCL") filed a lawsuit
(the “Lawsuit”) with the Guangdong Higher Court against the
subsidiaries of the Group, Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd.
CRIYIE £ K ER AR 2 A) and Qianhai Huanjing Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (A )& £) 3% #3 4% Bl & & BR 2 7)), in relation
to a dispute on infringement of trade secret over the online game
Wartune (18 f#), and the Group had received the Notice to Respond
from the Guangdong Higher Court in July and August 2022. On
8 April 2024, the first trial’s judgment was delivered and the court
dismissed all the plaintiff's claims. Upon the expiration of the appeal
period, neither party appealed, and the first trial’s judgment became
effective, which means Qianhai Huanjing and Shenzhen 7Road do
not need to make any payment to PCL. Accordingly, the lawsuit
no longer constitutes a contingent liability for the Group as at 31
December 2024,

As disclosed in the section headed “Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures” in this
annual report, as at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balances of
Shanghai Lingsu’s various borrowings which were guaranteed by the
Group was RMB54,155,000, and up to the date of this annual report,
the Group was not aware of any default or breaches of a covenant
of Shanghai Lingsu’s borrowings. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group’s credit risk regarding the Guarantee was
insignificant as in light of the above and the Counter Guarantors has
provided counter-guarantee to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, we did not have any other unrecorded
significant contingent liabilities, guarantees or any material litigation
against us.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 December 2024, we had 247 full-time employees, mostly
based in Shenzhen, Shanghai and Wuxi, the PRC. The following
table sets out the number of our employees by function as at 31
December 2024:

& & & %5 M BUR

BE-_ZE-_WNME+_A=+—0" &ME
BTt 2 BEES  ERRZEH MR RE
Y EBRED - TREHNERMHURZE
“WFE+ - A=+ HIRBEEONESR
8 :

Number of
Function B3 B8 Employees % of total
BE®E HEBESL
R&D it 2 176 71%
Operation L 29 12%
Administration TR 42 17%
Total 5t 247 100%

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our employee remuneration
amounted to approximately RMB125.4 million (including salary,
bonus interest, share-based compensation, pension scheme
contribution, termination payments, other social security fund and
other employee benefits).

The remuneration of our employees is determined based on their
performance, experience, competence and market comparables.
Their remuneration package includes salaries, performance-related
bonus interest, RSUs, allowances and state-managed retirement
benefit schemes for employees in the PRC. The Group also provides
customized training to its staff to enhance their technical and product
knowledge.

The remuneration of Directors and members of senior management
is determined on the basis of each individual’s responsibilities,
qualification, position, experience, performance, seniority and time
devoted to our business. They receive compensation in the form
of salaries, performance-related bonus interest, RSUs, and other
allowances and benefits-in-kind, including the Group’s contribution
to their pension schemes.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance by focusing on the principles of
integrity, accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility
and fairness. The Company has developed and implemented sound
corporate governance policies and measures, and the Board is
responsible for performing such corporate governance duties. The
Board will continue to review and monitor the corporate governance
of the Company, as well as various internal policies and procedures,
including but not limited to those applicable to employees and
Directors, with reference to the CG Code and other applicable legal
and regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions of Part 2 to the CG
Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
The Board has general powers for the management and plans the
Company’s business development. The day-to-day operations and
management are delegated by the Board to the management of
the Group, who implements the Group’s strategy and direction as
determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of six Directors, namely Mr. Meng
Shugi (Chairman), Mr. Liu Zhizhen and Mr. Yang Cheng, as executive
Directors, and Mr. Xue Jun, Ms. Li Yiging and Mr. Lui Chi Ho, as
independent non-executive Directors. None of the Directors have a
relationship (including financial, business, family or other substantial
or related relationship) with each other. The Board has a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Group.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 17 to 21 of this
annual report.

There is no information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company and the Company has issued letters of
appointment to each of the independent non-executive Directors.

Code provision B.2.2 of Part 2 to the CG Code states that every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
new Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board; or (ii) as an additional Director to the Board shall hold office
only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years and is
subject to retirement by rotation at an annual general meeting of the
Company at least once every three years.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The term of
the service contracts and the letters of appointment may be renewed
in accordance with the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions
to pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses,
discretionary bonuses, housing and other allowances and other
benefits in kind) payable to the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB5.4 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in notes 15 and 39
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal proceedings against the Directors.

The Company has procedures as agreed by the Board to
enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense as required pursuant to code provision C.5.6 of Part 2 to
the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the
Board.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considered them to be
independent. In addition, each of the independent non-executive
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 had
demonstrated the attributes of an independent non-executive
director by providing independent views and input and there is no
evidence that their tenure has had any impact on their independence.
Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that each of the current
independent non-executive Directors have the required character,
integrity, independence and experience to perform the role of an
independent non-executive director. The Board is not aware of any
circumstances that might influence each of the current independent
non-executive Directors in exercising their independent judgement
and the Board believes that their external experience will continue
to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board,
as well as generate significant contribution to the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole. The Board has conducted its review
on such mechanism to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board and considered that the said mechanism was
effective for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Directors have access to the services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the joint company secretaries
of the Company are Mr. Li Zhengquan and Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong,
Willie. With effect from 26 January 2025, Mr. Li Zhengquan resigned
as a joint company secretary and Mr. Yang Cheng was appointed
as a joint company secretary. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, Mr. Li Zhengquan and Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie
have undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 December 2024. Mr. Cheung Kai
Cheong, Willie has the necessary qualifications and experience as
required under Rules 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie is a senior manager of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and his primary
corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. Yang Cheng,
the Company’s executive Director, chief financial officer and joint
company secretary.
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In compliance with code provision C.1.4 of Part 2 to the CG Code,
all Directors attended various continuous professional development
(“CPD”) trainings during the year ended 31 December 2024,
including CPD activities by way of reading materials and/or trainings
regarding the updating of the Listing Rules, the responsibilities and
continuous obligations of Directors and the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide. The Company has arranged
suitable trainings for all Directors in order to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills as part of their continuous professional
development.
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The particulars of the trainings of each Director during the year I T&HMEE - -_MNM&E+-A=+—H
ended 31 December 2024 are set out as follows: TFEBUNESEI ZBINFE:
Participation of
Name of Director CPD trainings Types of CPD trainings participated
EYIESE
EEpE HEXBRZFI SMBEEXBRRIZINER
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Meng Shuqi v Online training and reading materials on practical
fundamentals of information disclosure, corporate
governance, and capital operations for Hong Kong-listed
companies, and online training and reading materials on
notifiable transactions and connected transactions.
RETRE BRETARGEEEKE 2 T/éiiéﬁiéﬂi@?ﬁai"k% B
iR EEI EEEMR  REATRAMORGNEERFH
R 5 K B RE A R
Mr. Li Zhengquan 4 Seminar on practical fundamentals of information disclosure,
(resigned with effect corporate governance, and capital operations for Hong Kong-
from 26 January 2025) listed companies and online training and reading materials on
notifiable transactions and connected transactions.
FEREE ;’éﬁxtﬁ@‘ﬂ:%?&ﬁﬁ Qﬂ}uﬁéﬁiﬁﬂi%@’ﬁ,ﬁ“ﬁﬁ%f&
(BE=—F_aF—H BERATAMHRGRBEIZOR LB RBEEM
ZFNEHEFFT) 4
Mr. Yang Cheng 4 Online training and reading materials on practical

fundamentals of information disclosure, corporate
governance, and capital operations for Hong Kong-listed
companies, and online training and reading materials on
notifiable transactions and connected transactions.

B BRETMAREERE  RARAEEENEFEBEMRIM
B &R E 35l K BB AR )3‘4 TRMHORGREERFHH
AR B P R B E MR

Mr. Peng Cheng 4 Not applicable
(resigned with effect
from 8 March 2024)

ZiRTHE 25
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Name of Director

Exns

Participation of
CPD trainings

BB R

Types of CPD trainings participated
SMEEEERRZINER

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Xue Jun

Ms. Li Yiging

Mr. Lui Chi Ho

ATREE
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Online training and reading materials on practical
fundamentals of information disclosure, corporate
governance, and capital operations for Hong Kong-listed
companies, and online training and reading materials on
notifiable transactions and connected transactions.

B EHARIE S QT@E£§$E¢i%ﬁ%ﬁ
m%iiN&ﬁuﬁﬂ‘&m RS REAERSH
iR EE P R B E MR

Online training and reading materials on practical
fundamentals of information disclosure, corporate
governance, and capital operations for Hong Kong-listed
companies, and online training and reading materials on
notifiable transactions and conneoted transactions.

B EMAREERERE - Té@ﬁﬁ$i¢€%%%ﬂ
mﬁLiN&ﬁEMﬂ-&m NN 5 REEIHH
R 5 K B E A R

Online training and reading materials on practical
fundamentals of information disclosure, corporate
governance, and capital operations for Hong Kong-listed
companies, and online training and reading materials on
notifiable transactions and connected transactions.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of Part 2 to the CG Code.

The principal roles and functions of the Board in relation to corporate
governance are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, to review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
management, to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors, and to review the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND
NOMINATION POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board has adopted a Board diversity
policy and a nomination policy. The Board diversity policy sets
out the basic principles to ensure that the Board has the requisite
knowledge of the Company and experience in different business
and cultural conditions of different regions and markets and a
variety of perspectives necessary to maintain and enhance the
overall effectiveness of the Board and taking account of succession
planning. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit
basis based on the Group’s business needs from time to time, while
taking into account the benefit of diversity (including gender diversity
at Board level). In accordance with the Company’s nomination policy,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of
corporate governance. Selection of Board candidates will be based
on a range of factors with reference to the Group’s business needs,
including but not limited to age, gender, nationality, educational
background, industry and professional experience. The Nomination
Committee will select board members in accordance with the
Company’s nomination policy and will also give consideration to
the Company’s Board diversity policy. The Nomination Committee
will review the Board diversity policy at least annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Nomination Committee was satisfied with the diversity of the
existing Board and did not, for the time being, set up any measurable
objective regarding the diversity of the Board.
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Currently, the Board comprises five male Directors and one female
Director and has achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board.
Our male to female senior management gender ratio is 4:1. Further
details on the gender ratio of the Group together with the relevant
data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 at the
Appendix to this annual report.

EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY POLICY

The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities to all
employees, irrespective of gender, race, age, nationality, religion,
sexual orientation, disability, or other dimensions of diversity, and
strongly opposes all forms of discrimination. The Company remains
dedicated to incorporating gender diversity in its recruitment process
to ensure a pipeline of potential candidates across all job levels. The
Board will regularly review the gender composition of the workforce
and establish targets as necessary.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company has adopted a practice to convene Board meetings
regularly which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on
a quarterly basis. A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be
delivered to all the Directors at least 14 days in advance with the
matters to be discussed specified in agenda of the meeting. For
other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of the Board or
Board committee meetings shall be despatched to the Directors
or members of the committees at least three days prior to the
convening of the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to
the Chairman prior to the meeting. The minutes are kept by the joint
company secretaries of the Company and the copies are circulated
to all Directors for reference and recording purposes.

The minutes of the meetings of the Board and Board committees,
composing of all matters under consideration and decisions made
including any problems raised by the Directors, are thoroughly
recorded. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board
committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within
a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Directors have a right to review the minutes of the Board meetings
and the Board committee meetings.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held 9
Board meetings. The attendance of each Director at the Board
meetings is set out below:

TERERA®RSE (B)

BE-_EZ-_NME+-_A=+—BHIEE -
ARARBATINEESECH SRES
HEEEgEZNBASENAT:

Attendance/

Number of

Directors E=E meetings held
HERR

BHERRE™

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Meng Shugi®ote TE T MR 7/9

Mr. Peng ChengiNte2 T2 ST e 0/0

Mr. Li Zhengguan®oted ZFIE & EWE 9/9

Mr. Yang Cheng 155K % & 9/9

Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITES

Mr. Xue Jun EELAE 9/9

Ms. Li Yiging K== g 9/9

Mr. Lui Chi Ho AERELE 9/9

Notes: Bt 5E -

1. Mr. Meng Shugi did not attend the two board meetings this year due to conflicts of 1. HEALTEACEBESE SR LEZRILE
interest in the relevant proposals considered and approved in the relevant board MEBZEEREFEANRERMALEAFEN
meetings. MAREBEBEEE -

2. With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as an executive Director. 2. BE-T-_WF=ANBR ZTREEFENIT

EFo

3. With effect from 26 January 2025, Mr. Li Zhengquan resigned as an executive 3. BEZZE-AF—AZ+ "B FEZEEFE
Director. WITESE -

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITREH

Under code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 to the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

The Chairman and CEO of the Company are independent of each
other and their positions are held by different individuals. Mr.
Meng Shugi, the Chairman of the Company, is responsible for the
management of the Board and the formulation of the overall strategy
of the Group. Mr. Liu Zhizhen, the CEO, (appointed as CEO with
effect from 8 March 2024) is responsible for the implementation of
the Group’s strategies and business strategies formulated by the
Board and the day-to-day operations of the Group, including product
development management and channel operations.

PEERTAE —FoaTRIERXFEC.21
FRE TERTREHRNAEREA R
7 AT EH—ARERE -

AR ERERATHRARE BRI B
HTABATHE - ARFAEIFEREET
E RAEEFEERERAEEERE
BEEHIE - TRARBERELE(BZF
TOFE=—ANAREEZERTTHRER) E
BEHTESEHENAREBEMEHR
- YEEAEENEEES  BREEM®
FREEENRREELS -
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GENERAL MEETING

Annual general meeting proceedings are reviewed from time to time
to ensure that the Company follows best corporate governance
practices. The notice of annual general meeting is published at least
21 days prior to the annual general meeting and the accompanying
circular also sets out details of each proposed resolution and
other relevant information as required under the Listing Rules. The
chairman of the annual general meeting exercises his power under
the Articles of Association to put each proposed resolution to the
vote by way of a poll. The procedures for demanding and conducting
a poll are explained at the beginning of the meeting. The poll results
announcement will be posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange on the day of the annual general meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, one annual general

BRERKXE

$@ﬁ$ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ¢ﬁAﬁﬁ LATE
RARBEBRRECEELRER - REHE
FAEREERRRBERSRITAINED
—+—B87FE mEMABERITEEEFE
BEAZRNFBERLETHRAURENHE
@@%%ﬂ BRRBEASETFEITHEL
RERMRIBEBTIOED  UWEREARXEKR

XIE%@%E&/ o BRNMETHRENER
REFMAARHA REXRRERREE

RERBFAEERTSERAAE KR
T8 U

BE_T_NF+_A=+—HLFESR

meeting was held and no extraordinary general meetings were held. 17T — AR EBEF KGR W E BT B
The attendance of each Director at the meetings is set out below: ARE ZRRESHERERENER
AW
Attendance/
Number of
Directors = meetings held
HERR
BHEERRE
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Meng Shugi ﬁ%lﬁf‘ﬁi 1/1
Mr. Peng Chengote A2 St e 0/0
Mr. Li Zhengquan®ete2 ZIE B S EWED 1/1
Mr. Yang Cheng 15K 5 & 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIUFHITESE
Mr. Xue Jun EEESRE 1/1
Ms. Li Yiging BeE L 1/1
Mr. Lui Chi Ho AERLEE 11
Notes: F & :
1. With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as an executive Director. 1. BE-ZT-WFE=ANBR EREEBTNT
B o
2 With effect from 26 January 2025, Mr. Li Zhengquan resigned as an executive 2. BEZZE-AF—AZ+ "B FTEZEEFE
Director. WMITEE -

The forthcoming AGM is expected to be held on Tuesday, May
20, 2025. The notice of the AGM will be published at least 21 days
before the AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Each of the Board committees operates under its terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held seven
Board committee meetings. The attendance of each Director at the
Board committee meetings is set out below:

TERERA®RSE (B)

EEZET

ARAIRE-EXTBEEFTEZES HEZ
ZEBg wHEZBEELREEZEE - &
E=ZEemHBREEEFE -EFX
BenBESENARR M EA
HER -

HE—_Z-_NF+_A=+—HBILFE -
ARBIBRATLAESEZESSH - B4
EEHEEEZESERMBEREYIDT

Attendance/Number of meetings held

HERER BRERRE

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Directors E=E Committee Committee Committee
BEREES FMEES RELEEY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Meng Shugjite = E A gD N/A 2/3 2/2
T#E A
Mr. Peng ChengiNete2 T A2 ST A ED) N/A N/A N/A
T TEA T E A
Mr. Li Zhengguan®ote ZE &L EWE N/A N/A N/A
i A i A T iE A
Mr. Yang Cheng 15K & N/A N/A N/A
T iE A i A A
Independent non-executive Directors Bk HTESE
Mr. Xue Jun BEELE 2/2 3/3 2/2
Ms. Li Yiging Bas &+ 2/2 3/3 2/2
Mr. Lui Chi Ho aERLEE 2/2 3/3 2/2
Notes: B &
1, Mr. Meng Shugi did not attend one of the remuneration committee meetings this 1. HEFEERERNBEZESEE LEHARILE

year due to conflicts of interest in the relevant proposals considered and approved
in the relevant committee meeting.

2. With effect from 8 March 2024, Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as an executive Director.
3. With effect from 26 January 2025, Mr. Li Zhengquan resigned as an executive
Director.

MERERTFENSERMALESFER
—REFEMEESRE -

2. B-ZT-_WNE=ZAN\B#  ZREEBTHT
EE-

3. BE-Z-hAF A=+ AR FTE2TEEFT
BITESE -
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Xue Jun, Ms. Li
Yiging and Mr. Lui Chi Ho, all being our independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Xue Jun is the chairman of the Audit Committee. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise,
and provide an independent view of the effectiveness of, the financial
reporting process and the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, oversee the audit process and perform other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, major works performed
by the Audit Committee included, among others, (i) reviewing
the Group’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2023; (i) reviewing the Group’s internal control policy, risk
management systems and internal audit functions; (i) reviewing the
Group’s interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and
audit plan; (iv) making recommendations to the Board on the change
in auditors and dealing with related matters; and (v) discussing and
addressing audit and report issues of the external auditors of the
Company.

The external auditors of the Company were invited to attend the
Audit Committee meetings without the presence of the executive
Directors to discuss with the Audit Committee issues arising from the
audit and financial reporting matters. There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the
re-appointment of the external auditors of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee has four members, comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Li Yiging, Mr.
Xue Jun and Mr. Lui Chi Ho, and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Meng Shugi. Ms. Li Yiging is the chairwoman of the Remuneration
Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to assess performance of executive Directors, establish and
make recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management (i.e.
the model described in the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of Part 2 to the
CG Code is adopted) and make recommendations to the Board on
employee benefit arrangement (including reviewing and/or approving
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules).
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration policy and structure, assessed
the performance of executive directors, approved the terms of
executive directors’ service contracts and made recommendations
to the Board on the annual remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management and other related matters.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of Part 2 to the CG Code, details of
the annual remuneration of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out under “Compensation of
Directors and Senior Management” in the Director’s Report.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
being Mr. Xue Jun, Ms. Li Yiging and Mr. Lui Chi Ho, and one
executive Director, being Mr. Meng Shugi, who is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on appointment and removal of Directors. When
nominating a new Director, the Nomination Committee shall conduct
adequate due diligence in respect of such individual and hold a
meeting to make recommendations for consideration and approval
by the Board, The Nomination Committee will consider candidates
on merit against objective criteria and with due regards to the
benefits of diversity on the Board in accordance with the Board
diversity policy adopted by the Company. Diversity of the Board will
be considered from a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a Director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and recommended the Board on the appointment of an
executive Director and the re-election of Directors.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors and the
Group’s employees who, because of their office or employment, are
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Group or the
Company’s securities.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, they have all confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2024. In addition, the Company is not aware of any
non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information which sets out the procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in
a timely manner in such a way so as not to place any person in
a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the market to
determine the price of the listed securities of the Company with the
latest available information. This policy also provides guidelines to
staff of the Company to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent
the Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements.
It also includes appropriate internal control and reporting systems
to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination of
inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing
the relevant information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable to Elite
Partners CPA Limited, previous external auditors of the Company,
and fee payable to ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the current
external auditors of the Company, were as follows:

tEERHmE (E)

SMNEE #x BLED

BE-_ZT-_NWE+_-_A=+—BHILtEE"
BN ENARR RTINS BT s
EEeMEBMAERAR KEMNAAFIR
EINE BRI E L ES R EBMER
NEMERWNT :

Nature of Services REME RMB’000
ARETIT

Elite Partners CPA Limited HATlEEe:tMEEAMAER AR

Non-Audit related services (interim review) JERAZ A BRI (R HAEE ) 430

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited FEZESTMEBER AR

Audit services (including annual audit) BEEZRE BREFEER) 3,100

Total @t 3,530

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flows during the year ended 31 December 2024. A statement from
the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out on pages 90 of this annual report. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value
over the longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives
are explained in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” as set out on pages 23 to 38 of this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risk the Company is willing to take to achieve the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes
and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems. The Board has developed its internal
management systems and has an internal audit function, which
includes but is not limited to the following processes:

the Board receives regular updates from the senior
management and reviews the Group’s business plan, financial
results, investment strategies and business indicators to
ensure that the business risks are identified and managed;

the senior management supervises the Group’s business
performance on an on-going basis via regular meetings
with respective departments and project teams, to identify
potential risks and develop strategies to address the risk;

the Group monitors a wide range of indicators, such as game
statistics, player feedbacks and employee turnover rate, and
responds promptly if any risk indicators arise; and

the Group works with external legal, accounting and other
professional advisers in various jurisdictions to ensure that it is
in compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.

However, the risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management in
the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems,
and reviewing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Board conducted an annual review of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group have been implemented effectively and are adequate. Such
review covered financial, compliance and operational control. The
Board also discussed the business risk, financial risk, compliance
risk, operational risk and other risks. The Company has set up an
internal control department to conduct regular review of the internal
control system, policies and procedures of the Group and make
recommendations for rectification. The Company will continue to
improve its internal control system, to meet its obligations under the
Listing Rules and to satisfy the development requirements of the
Company.

In addition, the Board has reviewed and considered that the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and
budget of the Company’s accounting, compliance, legal and financial
reporting functions are adequate and effective during the year ended
31 December 2024.

The Group attaches utmost importance to the proper handling
and dissemination of inside information. Internal policies have
been put in place to ensure that inside information is adequately
controlled. To ensure the confidentiality and the timely disclosure of
inside information, all employees have been provided with learning
materials and guidelines regarding the handling and dissemination of
inside information. Our data system controls have been implemented
to ensure the access to sensitive data is restricted to authorized
personnel only.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential so as to provide Shareholders and other
stakeholders with ready, equal, regular and timely access to material
information about the Company, in order to maintain an on-going
dialogue with Shareholders and to enable Shareholders to exercise
their rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and
other stakeholders to engage actively with the Company through
general meetings or other proper means.

The Company communicates information to Shareholders and
other stakeholders through various channels, including its periodical
financial announcements and reports, annual general meetings and
extraordinary general meetings, all the disclosures submitted to
the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the Company’s website.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
extraordinary general meetings, which provides opportunities for
Shareholders to ask questions about the Company’s performance.
The Chairman of the Board, independent non-executive Directors,
and the chairmen of all Board committees (or their delegates) will
make themselves available at general meetings to meet Shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

In addition, to promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at www.7road.com, where up-to-date
information and updates on the Company’s business developments
and operations, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered the multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place, it is satisfied
that the Shareholders’ communication policy has been implemented
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and is effective.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There were no changes to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

A copy of the Articles of Association is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association, general meetings of the Company shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
of the Company deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of
the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings of the Company will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.
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Under article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote
per Share basis, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the joint company secretaries of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one
location, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company under
the Articles of Association and the Companies Act. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are published on the Company’s website. For
putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: The 27th Floor, Xiangjiang Financial Center, Nanshan
District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, PRC

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 6
September 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Act. The Group is a leading game developer
and operator in China with a global reach. The Group is principally
engaged in the R&D, operation and publication of games.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 21 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year
ended 31 December 2024 by principal activities is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report and consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year ended 31
December 2024, which includes a discussion of the principal
challenges and uncertainties faced by the Group, an analysis of the
Group’s performance using financial key performance indicators,
particulars of important events affecting the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2024, and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual
report. The review and discussion form part of this Directors’ report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group actively abides by the regulatory requirements in various
jurisdictions which it operates in and has kept a close watch on any
new laws or regulatory changes.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company in material
respects.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out on pages 91 to 98 of this annual report.
The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, May 15, 2025 to Tuesday, May 20, 2025, both days
inclusive and during which period no share transfer will be effected,
for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entittlement to attend
and vote at the AGM to be held on Tuesday, May 20, 2025 at 11.00
a.m. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, May
14, 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on pages 10 to 11 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note
18 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 172 to 173 of
this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be environmentally
friendly at work by consuming electricity and paper according to
actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and minimize
unnecessary waste. See “Appendix — Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” to this annual report for further details.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 201 to 202 of this annual
report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on page 95 of this
annual report and in note 33 and 34 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 203 to 205 of this annual report, respectively.
As at 31 December 2024, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to RMB1,467.5 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any Shares
(including treasury shares).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, or the Companies Act, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report were as follows

Executive Directors

Mr. Meng Shuqi (Chairman)
Mr. Peng Cheng (resigned with effect from 8 March 2024)
Mr. Li Zhengquan (resigned with effect from 26 January 2025)

Mr. Liu Zhizhen (@ppointed with effect from 26 January 2025)
Mr. Yang Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xue Jun
Ms. Li Yiging
Mr. Lui Chi Ho

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on
pages 17 to 22 the section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company. Pursuant to their respective service contracts,
() Mr. Meng Shugi has agreed to act as executive Director for an
initial term of three years commencing from 18 July 2018, which was
renewed for three more years on 18 July 2021 and July 18, 2024; (ii)
Mr. Yang Cheng agreed to act as executive Director with effect from
29 October 2018 for a term of three years, which was renewed for
three more years on 29 October 2021 and October 29, 2024; (i) Mr.
Li Zhengquan agreed to act as executive Director with effect from
30 April 2019 for a term of three years, which was renewed for three
more years on 30 April 2022. With effect from 26 January 2025, Mr.
Li Zhengquan resigned as executive Director; (iv) Mr. Liu Zhizhen
has entered into a service contract with the Company to act as an
executive Director commencing on January 26, 2025 for a period
of three years. The above service contracts may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
the executive Director or the Company. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from his/her
respective appointment date, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director
or the Company. Under the respective appointment letters, each
of the independent non-executive Directors is entitled to a fixed
Director’s fee.
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The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors (including the Directors proposed for
re-election at the AGM) has a service contract with members of the
Group that is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance was entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2024 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended 31 December
2024 or subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements and the sections headed “Non-exempt Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Loan
and Guarantee” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report,
no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to the
business of the Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with
such a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2024.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are decided by the Board with reference to the
recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.
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Details of the Directors’” emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The annual
remunerations of senior management (excluding those who are also
the Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2024 fall within the
following:

EEZFMEAEERE RS HALTHOBM
THBENAFREEMBFHRRM LS
SREEETEBRTAEREE)BE_T
“HE+ A=t HIEFENFEFHH
ERATEE

Number of
individuals
A"

(Note)
(MtE)

HK$1 to HK$500,000
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

178 7T 2500,0007% 7T 1
500,001 7T &1,000,0003% 7T 1
1,000,001 7T £1,500,0005 7T 3

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any Directors or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office which is paid except as required
by laws and regulations. None of the Directors had waived any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments had been made or
were payable, for the year ended 31 December 2024, by our Group
to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus, for the year ended
31 December 2024, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a director
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

NON-EXEMPT CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Contractual Arrangements
Background

On 11 December 2001, the State Council promulgated
the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-Invested
Telecommunications Enterprises (the “FITE Regulations”), which
were amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February 2016.
According to the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed
to hold more than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing
value-added telecommunications services. In addition, a foreign
investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications business
in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of
business operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirements”).
Currently, none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
provided clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirements. Therefore, in order for the Company to be able to
carry on its business in the PRC, the Group has entered into the
Contractual Arrangements to enable the Company to exercise
and maintain control over operations of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and to consolidate these companies’ financial results into
the Company’s results under IFRSs as if they are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

Despite the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirements, we have taken and plan to continue to
take specific steps to comply with the Qualification Requirements.
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TR EH LS R RNRBIREA
ITREERNEERBERNMEE -

The table below set forth the connected persons of our Company
involved in the Contractual Arrangements and the nature of their

relationship with our Group.

Connected Person

BEAL

Connected Relationship

REE

Mr. Meng Shuaqi

mEREE

Mr. Hu Min

AR A

Mr. Liu Jing

Ve

Ningbo Bao Pu Xin Sheng Investment
Management Center (Limited Liability
Partnership)

ERNEERREETEDL(ARAR)

Shanghai Ting Can Entity Investment Center
(Limited Liability Partnership)

LEERKRERERL(ERER)

an executive Director and a substantial shareholder of our Company
RARATEERFTERR

a substantial Shareholder

FERR

a substantial shareholder of Shenzhen 7Road
RINELRKBEBNEERE

an associate of our Company’s substantial Shareholder

ARREERFRHBEE A

a substantial shareholder of Shenzhen 7Road

RYNBLRENETERR
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Up to the date of this annual report, there is no further update
in relation to the Qualification Requirement. The Contractual
Arrangements which were in place during the year ended 31
December 2024 are as follows:

1. The voting rights proxy agreement and powers of the attorney
dated 13 April 2018, pursuant to which each of the Registered
Shareholders irrevocably appointed Qianhai Huanjing or
the Directors and their successors as his attorney-in-fact to
exercise such shareholder’s rights in Shenzhen 7Road (the
“Proxy Agreement and Powers of Attorney”).

2. The exclusive option agreement dated 13 April 2018, pursuant
to which Registered Shareholders jointly and severally
granted irrevocably to Qianhai Huanjing the exclusive rights to
require the Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their
equity interests and/or assets in Shenzhen 7Road to Qianhai
Huanjing and/or a third party designated by it, in whole or
in part at any time and from time to time, at a minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC laws and regulations.
The Registered Shareholders have also undertaken, subject
to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to
Qianhai Huanjing any consideration received in the event
that Qianhai Huanjing exercises the option to acquire the
equity interests of Shenzhen 7Road (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”).

3. The equity pledge agreement dated 13 April 2018, pursuant
to which each of the Registered Shareholders agreed to
pledge all of their respective equity interests in Shenzhen
7Road to Qianhai Huanjing as a security interest to guarantee
the performance of contractual obligations and the payment
of outstanding debts under the Contractual Arrangements (the
“Equity Pledge Agreement”).

4. the exclusive business cooperation agreement dated 13
April 2018, pursuant to which Shenzhen 7Road agreed to
engage Qianhai Huanjing as its exclusive provider of technical
support, consultation and other services and Shenzhen
7Road agreed to pay service fees to Qianhai Huanjing (the
“Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement”).

No service fee was paid pursuant to the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
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The revenue and net loss of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately
RMB139.4 million and RMB14.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, respectively. The total assets and total liabilities
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB433.8 million and
RMB13.3 million as at 31 December 2024, respectively.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

For risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, please see
the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to our Corporate
Structure” in the Prospectus for details.

Material change in relation to the Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted.

Unwinding the Contractual Arrangements

The Company will unwind the Contractual Arrangements as soon as
the laws allows the business of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
be operated without the Contractual Arrangements.

However, for the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound as none of the
restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements
had been removed.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Contractual
Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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Annual review

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and have confirmed
that the Contractual Arrangements were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii) on normal
commercial terms, and (iii) in accordance with the respective
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole. In addition, the independent non-executive Directors confirm
that (i) the transactions as contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements carried out during the year ended 31 December
2024 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) no dividends or
other distributions have been made by Shenzhen 7Road to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group; and (i) no new contracts
have been renewed and/or adopted as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements.

Further, the Company’s external auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has
issued an unqualified letter containing their conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not
enter into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Legal proceedings commenced by Qianhai Huanjing in April 2021

On 28 April 2021, Qianhai Huanjing, as the plaintiff, filed a lawsuit
(the “April 2021 Lawsuit”) with the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s
Court against Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong Information Technology
Company Limited (& /M £ @ {5 B B 5 B B A 7)) (“Zhang Ying
Kong”), and Angame Inc., as the defendants, in relation to the
intellectual property rights contractual dispute over the mobile game
version of the online game DDTank. The amount claimed by Qianhai
Huanjing in relation to the April 2021 Lawsuit was approximately
RMB60.2 million. On 1 August 2023, the court issued the first
judgement and dismissed the lawsuit. Qianhai Huanjing appealed,
and on 22 January 2024, the Guangdong Higher People’s Court
made a second-instance ruling, revoking the first judgement and
sending the case back to the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court
for retrial. As at the date of this annual report, the April 2021 Lawsuit
is still pending retrial by the Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court
but is not expected to affect the normal business operations of the
Group.

Details of the above legal proceedings are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 April 2021.

Save as disclosed above, the Group was not involved in any other

material legal proceedings during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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LOAN AND GUARANTEE

On 12 October 2018, the Group and Ben 7Road entered into a loan
agreement. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the Group granted
a loan of HK$3.07 million to Ben 7Road which was unsecured,
interest-bearing at 5% per annum and repayable on 11 October
2020. On 9 October 2020, a supplemental loan agreement was
entered into between the Group and Ben 7Road which extended
the date of loan repayment to 11 October 2021. On 9 October 2021,
the Group and Ben 7Road entered into the second supplemental
loan agreement, which extended the date of loan repayment to
11 October 2023. On 9 October 2023, the Group and Ben 7Road
entered into the third supplemental loan agreement, which further
extended the date of loan repayment to 11 October 2025. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, Ben 7Road successively repaid part
of the loan and interest amounting to HK$1,237,214 in aggregate.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the outstanding amount
of the loan was HK$2.79 million.

At the time of providing the loan, the Company was of the view that
the provision of the loan to Ben 7Road was in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders in that it could generate additional
interest income at a relatively lower risk level without putting material
pressure on the working capital of the Group, taking into account
of the market price of the Company’s shares held by Ben 7Road,
the working capital position of the Group and the additional interest
income. At the time of extension of the loan, the Company was of the
view that, the risk of default of the Borrower was relatively low, and
accordingly considered that the extension of the loan pursuant to the
supplemental loan agreements were in the interest of the Company
and its shareholders for the additional interest income. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors but excluding
Mr. Meng) considered that the provision and/or extension of the loan
under the loan agreements were fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.
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For details on the loan, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 23 April 2024 and 10 May 2024.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group had not made any loan or provided any guarantee for any
loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of
the Company, the controlling shareholders of the Company or their
respective connected persons.

RSU SCHEME

On 6 March 2018, the RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by
the Directors.

(1)

72

Purpose of the RSU Scheme

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to incentivize Directors,
senior management and employees of our Group for their
contribution to our Group, to attract, motivate and retain
skilled and experienced personnel to strive for the future
development and expansion of our Group by providing them
with the opportunity to own equity interests in our Company.

Participants of the RSU Scheme

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the RSU Scheme
are existing employees, directors (whether executive or non-
executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors)
or officers of our Company or any member of our Group (the
“RSU Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible
Persons to receive RSUs under the RSU Scheme at its
discretion.
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Total number of shares available for issue under the RSU
Scheme

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under
the RSU Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that have
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the
RSU Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held or to be
held by the trustee for the RSU Scheme for the purpose of the
RSU Scheme from time to time.

Our Company has appointed Mr. Meng Shugi and Mr. Hu
Min as the trustees (the “RSU Trustees”) to assist in the
administration of the RSU Scheme. Our Company may (i)
allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustees to be held by the
RSU Trustees and which will be used to satisfy the Shares
underlying the RSUs upon exercise and/or (i) direct and
procure the RSU Trustees to receive existing Shares from any
Shareholder or purchase existing Shares (either on-market or
off-market) to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs upon
exercise. Pursuant to the transitional arrangement issued by
the Stock Exchange, as the RSU Scheme was adopted before
January 1, 2023, the Company may only grant shares under
general mandate for the purpose of the RSU Scheme until the
second annual general meeting after January 1, 2023. Hence,
the total number of Shares available for issue under the RSU
Scheme is O, as no new Shares can be issued under the RSU
Scheme until it complies with the revised Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. In the event that our Company intends to issue
and allot Shares underlying any RSUs to the RSU Trustees,
our Company shall rely on specific mandate obtained from
the Shareholders at any general meetings of our Company in
accordance with the Listing Rules to issue and allot Shares
underlying any RSUs to the RSU Trustees. Our Company shall
procure that sufficient fund is provided to the RSU Trustees by
whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the RSU Trustees to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration of the RSU Scheme.
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As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total
number of Shares held by the RSU Trustees for the purpose
of the RSU Scheme were 178,932,000 and 178,932,000
Shares, respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the RSU
Scheme

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provisions
governing the maximum entitlement of each participant under
the RSU Scheme. The Company will comply with the relevant
requirements under Rule 17.03D of the Listing Rules as and
when appropriate.

Period within which the option may be exercised by the
grantee

The RSU Scheme does not involve the grant of share options
to subscribe for Shares.

Vesting period of RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme

An offer to grant a RSU will be made to a RSU Eligible Person
selected by our Board (the “RSU Selected Person”) by a
letter, in such form as our Board may determine (the “RSU
Grant Letter”). Our Board can determine the vesting criteria,
conditions and the time schedule when the RSUs will vest and
such criteria, conditions and time schedule shall be stated in
the RSU Grant Letter. The RSU Grant Letter will also specify,
among others, the manner of acceptance of the RSUs and
the exercise price of the RSUs (where applicable). A RSU
Selected Person may accept an offer of the grant of RSUs in
such manner as set out in the RSU Grant Letter.

The amount, if any, payable on application or acceptance
of the RSU and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must be
repaid

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provisions
governing the amount, if any, payable on application or
acceptance of the RSU and the period within which payments
or calls must or may be made or loans for such purposes
must be repaid.
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(8) The basis of determining the exercise price of options
granted or the purchase price of shares awarded, if any

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provisions
governing the basis of determining the exercise price of
options granted or the purchase price of shares awarded.

9) Remaining life of the RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of
ten (10) years, commencing from 6 March 2018 (unless it
is terminated earlier in accordance with its terms). As at 31
December 2024, the remaining life of the RSU Scheme was
approximately three years.

Further details of the principal terms of the RSU Scheme are set out
in the Prospectus.

Since 31 December 2022, the Company did not have any
outstanding RSUs. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
no RSUs were granted, exercised, expired, lapsed, cancelled or
outstanding.

The above RSU Scheme constitutes a share scheme under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. Since the Listing Date, the Company did not
have any other share schemes. The total number of Shares that may
be issued in respect of the RSU granted under the RSU Scheme
during the year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in
issue for the year was 0%.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he/she has taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein;
or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Interests in the Company

ESERESITHAERR
7 HEROREERZ

BERKR

R-ZTE-_WE+-_A=+—H  BFxHAK
RAIERSITHRAERARR S EBHEE
(EERBHFRHEEKHEXVE) D - 18
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GBI EXVIBETR ESH EBAME AR A&
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B
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Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director/Chief Capacity Number of Shares or  issued share
Executive /Nature of interest underlying Shares held® capital®

HEBITRAE
ES BERTRAEHE B #EmHHE FEROIBABERGHE? HMYUBIHO
Mr. Meng Shugi®® Interest in a controlled corporation 528,854,000 19.20%

hE AR REGEE R
Notes:
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The calculation is based on the total number of 2,753,200,000 Shares in issue as
at 31 December 2024.

All interest stated are long positions.

429,922,000 Shares are registered under the name of Ben 7Road Holdings
Limited, the issued share capital of which is wholly owned by Mr. Meng Shugji.
Accordingly, Mr. Meng Shuqi is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

98,932,000 Shares are registered under the name of 7Road Elite Holdings Limited,
the issued share capital of which is wholly owned by Ben 7Road Holdings Limited.
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Meng Shugi. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Meng Shugi and Ben 7Road Holdings Limited is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by 7Road Elite Holdings Limited for the purpose of
Part XV of the SFO.
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Interests in Other Members of the Group MNAEBHEMEKE AR 2z
Approximate

percentage

Name of Director/ Name of other members Capacity/ of registered

Chief Executive of the Group Nature of interest capital®
b & R A

Ex BRTBRAEBME FEEHMKELARER B HEBMEE BMAOBFD O

Mr. Meng Shuqi Shenzhen 7Road® Beneficial owner 21.50%

hEAFEE RYNE £ KB EnlEBA

Notes: Bt &

) All interests stated are long positions. © 3B EZEDAITER -

@) Mr. Meng Shugi is a registered shareholder of Shenzhen 7Road directly holding  (2) HEAREARINELRENELDRREL T E

21.50% of the entire registered capital of Shenzhen 7Road. Pursuant to the
Contractual Arrangements, Mr. Meng Shugi does not enjoy the voting right in
the general meeting of Shenzhen 7Road nor its economic benefit and each
of Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries is accounted for a subsidiary of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any of the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO;
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code; or to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as the Directors were aware, as at 31 December 2024, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company) or corporations who had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO; or which were required to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 2 and 3 of part XV of

TEBRREEMALIRE
R AHB IR A0 2 & K

B

BEEMHM R-ZT-_NF+_A=1+—8"

TIAL(EERARREZEEITHRABRIN
SORBRARAR RO EER O PESR
EQTAVIN/N T*ETE?M%&Hﬂaﬂﬁfﬁﬂfﬁ:&%ﬂ%
FENELMIPERIAR  IHEER
BEHFREBERK WU%XV*B%Z&EES“*
BRARREBMREENESIOAR

the SFO, were as follows:

Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
underlying issued share
Name Capacity/nature of interest Shares held® capital®
FRERBH HEBRTRE
“E/EB B/ REME HEROHA BREAILO
Baohu Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 352,714,000 12.81%
Baohu Holdings Limited BEnEAAC
Shanghai Bao Hu Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 362,714,000 12.81%
Management Center (Limited
Partnership)
LENERREEERL(EBRAE) REHEE#ERC
Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 353,586,000 12.84%
Management Co., Ltd.
FANEREBERERAA XEHERERC
Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 353,586,000 12.84%
Management Co., Ltd.
ERENREERERRT REtEBERC
Mr. Zhou Hao Interest in a controlled corporation® 353,586,000 12.84%
JEIHE T REHEE#ERC
Shengqu Technology Korean Limited Beneficial ownert 51,902,000 1.89%
Shengau Technology Korean Limited Interest in a controlled corporation® 88,764,000 3.22%
ERBEAAY
REtEE#ER
Zhejiang Century Huatong Group Interest in a controlled corporation® 274,366,000 9.97%

Co., Ltd.
It L EREERHERAT
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Number of Approximate
Shares or percentage of
underlying issued share
Name Capacity/nature of interest Shares held® capital®
FRERAH HEBRITRE
“E/ AR 5/ EEtE HEROHE® BREA O
Shangyulongcheng Holdings Limited Beneficial owner®! 174,410,000 6.33%
Shangyulongcheng Holdings Limited ERBEAANY
Shaoxing Shang Yu Long Cheng Capital  Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
Investment Fund (Limited Partnership
RRIBREIREREABLE REHERERC
(BRA%)
Zhejiang Long Xin Equity Investment Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
Management Co., Ltd.
HIREREREERARAF REtEBE R0
Wolong Holding Group Co., Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
EEREBRRAA REtEE R0
Mr. Chen Jiancheng Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
REKEE XEHERERC
Ms. Chen Yanni Interest in a controlled corporation® 174,410,000 6.33%
REEx L REtEEERD
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 429,922,000 15.62%
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled corporation® 98,932,000 3.59%
ExBERAO
REHEE#E RS
World 7Road Holdings Limited Beneficial owner” 331,130,000 12.03%
World 7Road Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled corporation® 80,000,000 2.91%
EREAAD
REtERERD
Mr. Hu Min Interest in a controlled corporation” 411,130,000 14.93%
HELE REHEBERD
Songshuxing Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 189,936,000 6.89%
Songshuxing Holdings Limited ExBEAC
Mr. Song Shuxing Interest in a controlled corporation® 189,936,000 6.89%
REEXKE REHEERE RS
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The calculation is based on the total number of 2,753,200,000 Shares in issue as
at 31 December 2024.

All interests stated are long positions.

352,714,000 Shares are registered under the name of Baohu Holdings Limited,
the entire issued share capital of which is directly owned by Shanghai Bao Hu
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership). Accordingly, Shanghai
Bao Hu Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) is deemed to be
interested in such number of Shares held by Baohu Holdings Limited. In addition,
the general partner of Shanghai Bao Hu Investment Management Center (Limited
Partnership) is Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd., which is in
turn owned by Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd. as to 42.75%; and Ningbo
Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd. is owned by Mr. Zhou Hao as to 70%. Accordingly,
each of Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd., Ningbo Hao Chu
Investment Management Co., Ltd. and Mr. Zhou Hao is deemed to be interested
in such number of Shares held by Baohu Holdings Limited. In addition, 872,000
Shares are registered under the name of Baopu International Limited (formerly
known as Baopu Hong Kong Limited), the entire issued share capital of which
is directly owned by Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Bao Pu Investment Management Co., Ltd. is owned by Ningbo Hao
Chu Investment Co., Ltd. as to 40%; and Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd.
is owned by Mr. Zhou Hao as to 70%. Accordingly, each of Shanghai Bao Pu
Investment Management Co., Ltd., Ningbo Hao Chu Investment Co., Ltd. and Mr.
Zhou Hao is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Baopu
International Limited.

88,764,000 Shares are registered under the name of Actoz Soft Hong Kong
Limited, which is wholly owned by Actoz Soft Co. Ltd, which is owned as
to 51.08% by Shengqu Technology Korean Limited. Accordingly, Shengqu
Technology Korean Limited is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares
held by Actoz Soft Hong Kong Limited. Together with the Shares directly owned
by Shengqu Technology Korean Limited, Shengqu Technology Korean Limited
is interested in approximately 5.11% of the issued share capital of the Company.
In addition, 133,700,000 Shares are registered under the name of DianDian
Interactive Holding. DianDian Interactive Holding and Shengqu Technology Korean
Limited are ultimately wholly owned by Zhejiang Century Huatong Group Co., Ltd..
Accordingly, Zhejiang Century Huatong Group Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested
in such number of Shares held or deemed to be held by DianDian Interactive
Holding and Shengqu Technology Korean Limited.

174,410,000 Shares are registered under the name of Shangyulongcheng Holdings
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is directly owned by Shaoxing
Shang Yu Long Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership). Accordingly,
Shaoxing Shang Yu Long Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)
is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by Shangyulongcheng
Holdings Limited. In addition, the general partner of Shaoxing Shang Yu Long
Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership) is Zhejiang Long Xin Equity
Investment Management Co., Ltd., which is directly owned by Wolong Holding
Group Co., Ltd.. Wolong Holding Group Co., Ltd. is owned directly as to 48.93% by
Mr. Chen Jiancheng, 38.73% by Ms. Chen Yanni (daughter of Mr. Chen Jiancheng)
and 12.34% by certain other shareholders. Accordingly, each of Shaoxing Shang
Yu Long Cheng Capital Investment Fund (Limited Partnership), Zhejiang Long Xin
Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd., Wolong Holding Group Co., Ltd., Mr.
Chen Jiancheng and Ms. Chen Yanni is deemed to be interested in such number
of Shares held by Shangyulongcheng Holdings Limited.
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6) The entire issued share capital of 7Road Elite Holdings Limited is directly owned by
Ben 7Road Holdings Limited. Accordingly, Ben 7Road Holdings Limited is deemed
to be interested in such number of Shares held by 7Road Elite Holdings Limited.

(7) The entire issued share capital of 7Road Talent Holdings Limited is directly owned
by World 7Road Holdings Limited. Accordingly, World 7Road Holdings Limited is
deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held by 7Road Talent Holdings
Limited. In addition, World 7Road Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Min.
Accordingly, Mr. Hu Min is deemed to be interested in such number of Shares held
by World 7Road Holdings Limited and 7Road Talent Holdings Limited.

8) The entire issued share capital of Songshuxing Holdings Limited is directly owned
by Mr. Song Shuxing. Accordingly, Mr. Song Shuxing is deemed to be interested in
such number of Shares held by Songshuxing Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO; or which would
require to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s largest customer
accounted for 11.3% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five
largest customers accounted for 34.8% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for 19.0% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for 37.5% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
EEgWE(E)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which allows the
Shareholders to share the profits of the Company whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth. The declaration
and amount of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. Pursuant to the dividend policy, in deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the
Board shall take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates;

(@) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and its subsidiaries and associates;

d) the liquidity position of the Group;
@) the Group’s expected working capital requirements;
(f) general business conditions and strategies;

Q taxation considerations;

(h) possible effects on creditworthiness;
0] legal, statutory and regulatory restrictions;
() contractual restrictions; and

(k) any other factors that the Board deem appropriate.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF
HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have all participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
Directors’ Report of this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group had not entered into any connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements contained herein.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” of the
Directors’ Report of this annual report, none of the related party
transactions constituted a non-fully exempt connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the Latest Practicable
Date, the Company has maintained the public float as required under
the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
EEgWmE (8)

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as
well as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code
as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions contained in Part 2 to the CG Code during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim of maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
39 to 58 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited,
Certified Public Accountants, who are proposed for reappointment
at the forthcoming AGM.

With effect from 1 November 2024, Elite Partners CPA Limited
resigned as the auditor of the Company and the Company’s current
auditor, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, was appointed as the new
auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy so arising.

With effect from 12 May 2021, Moore Stephens CPA Limited
resigned as the auditor of the Company and the Company’s then
auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited, were appointed as the auditor of
the Company to fill the casual vacancy so arising.

Save for the aforementioned, there has been no other change of
auditors in the past three years.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group did not have any other significant subsequent events
after the year ended 31 December 2024.

On behalf of the Board

Meng Shugqi
Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC, 28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BT R

n

ZHONGHUI

To the Shareholders of 7Road Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 7Road
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 214, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

GOODWILL

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group is required to annually test the amount of goodwill for
impairment. This annual impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of goodwill of approximately RMB624,183,000
as at 31 December 2024 is material to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on assumptions and
estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

= Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by Group;

= Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

= Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

= Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;

= Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

= Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth
rates and discount rates) and;

= Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for goodwill is
supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (continued)
BN % BREh R ()

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF
UNLISTED EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND
UNLISTED LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS
RECORDED AS FINANCIAL ASSETS

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (“FVTPL?)

Refer to Note 6(b) and Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group measured its unlisted equity investments and unlisted
limited partnerships recorded as financial assets at FVTPL at fair
value with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. This fair value measurement is significant to our
audit because the balance of unlisted equity investments and
unlisted limited partnerships of approximately RMB263,693,000
and RMB545,757,000 respectively as at 31 December 2024. A net
fair value loss of approximately RMB1,002,000 was recognised
against the unlisted equity investments and a net fair value loss of
approximately RMB16,974,000 was recognised against unlisted
limited partnerships for the year then ended are material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair value
measurement involves application of judgement and is based on
assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

= Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by Group;

= Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

= Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence;

= Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

= Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the unlisted

equity investments and unlisted limited partnerships recorded as
financial assets at FVTPL is supported by the available evidence.

88 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3Z & H R A7)

ARIIER D REETA
B@m(EAREESTAER
m)NEMEERNIF LT
BRERENRFLTERSE
BEENRAEETE

E2 B A M TSR M SE6() M M 5E25

EEBEHRARINERRAABEGFARE
ENEREENFELTRERERIELT
ERABLERAANEBEFERARE
BEEBTALRAER - MWAABENEY
BMNEAFTOEE  FRAAR-ZT-NH
F+-_A=+—8 RIELTHRELEK
FLETEREGBEEZHRBEOAINAAR
#263,693,0007T & A R #545,757,0007T °
HEZBLEFE BFELTREREER
KA B A E 1B F R4 A K #1,002,0007T
Rt LETERGERLEERNAAER
&5 18 )% 58 49 A R #516,974,0007T ¥f 47 & Bf
BHREBEKN I BEEENAAE
BFfEF Kk EAAHB Y ERBR REHET -

BN EARFEEEBER)

—  &HE EEEZEMIIEGERD
Be - B RAHIE

—  BUSHMERAE{E RS I R HMER (4 (B A
CH A wmEERGERF M
RATAERXFHHEERAMERAEAXN
H B R R TSR

- REGERAFMANERERR NG
ABBREXRERE:

— REGREEANEMERLE: &

~  FERAMBRETAAEENE
DEE R

BHRR - BESREERARIEZRAR
BEAABZNEBEENI LM RER
BERFLETAEREBEENOABEFE
KRS IRE FF ©



Independent Auditor’'s Report (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)
B Az BEn S ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at:
https:/www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO7374
Hong Kong, 28 March, 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeERENEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-mE —EBE-=4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5% AR® TR ARBTT
(Restated)
(f&7)
Continuing operations BEKSEXER
Revenue W & 7 306,396 484,946
Cost of revenue Wz AR 14 (94,111) (84,697)
Gross profit ER 212,285 400,249
Research and development expenses i 2 7 57 14 (131,865) (168,395)
Selling and marketing expenses HERMISHEEER 14 (63,600) (49,837)
Administrative expenses THAX 14 (45,971) (59,548)
Net provision of impairment losses on  FEHA{Z BB 1B T
financial assets under expected TRIEEREBEEE
credit loss model BETE 8 (25,472) (33,422)
Other income H A e A 9 13,952 5,394
Other gains or loss, net E b W sk BB F R 10 (19,758) (85,254)
Operating (loss)/profit e (EHE)ER (60,429) 9,187
Finance income B 75 I A 595 1,113
Finance costs B AR (1,866) (1,806)
Finance costs, net BSR4 R EE 11 (1,27) (693)
Share of results of associates DB E NRE A (1,669) (588)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETES B AT (B5E)
2R (63,369) 7.906
Income tax expense Fiis #E R 12 (12,062) (4,685)
(Loss)/profit from continuing BELEEE(FR)/
operations = Rl (75,431) 3,221
Discontinued operation EDRIEREETR
Profit/(loss) from discontinued BRIECEE R
operation (B1#8) 13 1,275 (148,115)
Loss for the year FRER (74,156) (144,894)
Other comprehensive (expense)/  H 2@ (B %) k&
income:
ltems that will not be reclassified to T & E# 7 48 2 18 2 A
profit or loss: EH
Fair value changes on financial BRAANBEFAEMEZE
assets at fair value through other KEmemEENA
comprehensive income, net of tax REEEE  MEKRHIEA - (2.17)
- @171)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (continued)

relEmkEMTmR R X (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—B-NF —T_=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5% AR® TR ARETF T
(Restated)
€ <=-27))
ltems that may be reclassified to profit F] 5£ 2 27 77 #8 2 8 25 #Y
or loss: EH
Currency translation differences of BINEBEBMEERE
foreign operations (383) 153
(383) 153
Other comprehensive expense for the FRE 2 ER L
year, net of tax MERHIE (383) (2,018)
Total comprehensive expense for FRAZER X AH
the year (74,539) (146,912
(Loss)/profit for the year UTATEEER
attributable to: (E18), &
Owners of the Company RRARHEABA
— Continuing operations —RBEKEER (74,728) 1,654
— Discontinued operation — BRIFEEER 1,275 (148,115)
(73,453) (146,461)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR I
— Continuing operations — FRELEEE (703) 1,667
(703) 1,567
(74,156) (144,394)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ UTATEEERAZE
income for the year attributable (FAX), /W%
to:
Owners of the Company VN/NEIE Z =N (73,836) (148,479
Non-controlling interests FEVE R M = (703) 1,567
(74,539) (146,912)
Basic and diluted loss pershare SREAR#BEERE
(RMB) (AR 17
— Continuing and discontinued — REKEREKIE
operations KRR (0.0285) (0.0569)
— Continuing operations — REREER (0.0290) 0.0006
— Discontinued operation —BERIEREER 0.0005 (0.0575)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B3R R

At at 31 December 2024 R=—ZE - M&E+=-A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 3 AR®E TR ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BEREZE 18 34,149 214,153
Intangible assets BREEE 19 624,512 624,850
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 40,791 135,125
Investments in associates REE RaiEE 22 10,821 14,982
Prepayments and other receivables  ¥& 1<t 7k 18 Kz H i & U
15 24 - 34,933
Financial assets at fair value through & A L BEFT AR K
profit or loss SRNEE 25 809,450 864,443
Restricted cash <R HIR 2 26 140 140
Deferred income tax assets BLEFSHEE 31 27,522 39,541
1,547,385 1,928,117
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables =) e 23 68,591 169,254
Prepayments and other receivables 78 15 218 K H h & Ug
\ E sl 24 95,009 109,184
Financial assets at fair value through &2 A B EF AR EH
profit or loss TREE 25 18,603 19,729
Restricted cash and short-term SRHIRE R EHER
deposits 26 14,378 1
Cash and cash equivalents HekBE2EEY 26 60,653 48,088
257,234 346,256
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A E 5RIE 27 65,158 108,183
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 15,000 118,347
Contract liabilities BREE 29 27,680 35,354
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 5,772 87,420
Current income tax liabilities BNERFT IS T B & 173 173
113,783 349,477
Net current asset/(liabilities) REBEE (AR FE 143,451 (3,221)
Total assets less current liabilites B EER R EE 1,690,836 1,924,896
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

A B K (E)

At at 31 December 2024 W —_ZE_HFE+_-_A=+—H

2024 2023
—EC-NEF —E_=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARETIT
Non-current liabilities kHRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R HME K 28 — 112,656
Lease liabilities HEARE 30 2,693 49,503
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFEHRasE 31 8,532 8,349
11,225 170,508
Net assets EEFRE 1,679,611 1,754,388
EQUITY Ea
Share capital &N 32 90 90
Share premium & 15 =B 4,083,085 4,083,085
Other reserves HEh e 33 (2,965,320) (2,964,937)
Retained earnings IRE & A 560,222 633,675
Total equity attributable to ARBEEAEAL
owners of the Company 4R 2 1,678,077 1,751,913
Non-controlling interests R ER 1,534 2,475
Total equity 4R = 1,679,611 1,754,388

The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 214 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

FONE2UENGETBRRBESTS R
—E_RF=ZA-+N\BHEWIRER A

March 2025 and signed on its behalf by: MBAUATATRAEEE:
Meng Shugqi Liu Zhizhen Yang Cheng
B2EH 21 E iR )24

Director Director Director

EF EE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEeEmBEX

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARREEEEAEL
Other Non-
Share  reserves  Retained controlling
Share capital ~ premium  (note 33)  earnings Total interests Total equity
Htvif
kx  ROGEE  (WH) REEA At fBREZ 48R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR AR%Tn ARET:R
At1 January 2023 R-E-=£-f-8 90 408308  (2963174) 780,608 1,900,609 238 1,900,847
Total comprehensive (expense)/income  FR2E (%) k& 28
for the year - — 0@ (4ede) (48479 15T (4691
Capital contribution from non-controling 32 RER£)/E &
interests = = = = = 490 490
Acquisition of non-controling interest & 2 TR iE %
without change in control MAKE - - - (208) (208) 208 -
Transfer upon deregister of asubsiciary st~ B AR R ER - - - ©) ©) 9 -
Transfer tostatutory suplus reserne. BB E AT RS EE - - 255 (255) - - -
Acquisiion of a subsidiary YE-BHBAA - - - - - (37) (37)
Changes in equity for the year EREREH - - (1763) (146,933  (148,696) 2037 (146,459)
At 31 December 2023 and R-8-Z#+zR=1-H
1 January 2024 R=5-m&-E-H 90 4,083,085 (2,964,937) 633,675 1,751,913 2475 1,754,388
Total comprehensive expenseforthe ~ FR2EFXAH
Jear - - (083 (13459 (13836 (103 (145%9)
Acquisition of non-controling interest W& iR TR iE %
without change in control MAKE = - - - - (238) (238)
Changes in equity for the year ERERZD - - (383 (73453 (73,836) o4)  (4777)
At 31 December 2024 R-2-RE+-A=1-A 9 4083085 (2965320 560222 1,678,077 153 1679611
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Consolidated Statement of Cash
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

Flows

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—EC-mF —T_=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 3% ARETR ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHNBRERE
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISBLAT (&5 18) /i R
- Continuing operations — BELEER (63,369) 7,906
- Discontinued operation - E iﬁﬂ: i‘“ BEB 1,275 (148,115)
Adjustments for: BT
Share of results of associates ok o /N E ¥ 1,669 588
Finance costs, net B 7 R A F 5 6,420 23,547
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 23,837 89,363
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 23,896 98,262
Amortisation of intangible assets B A 366 2,093
Net provision of impairment losses on BHEEBREELBE TSR
financial assets under expected credit BEREEBEREETE
loss model 25,476 33,626
(Gains)/loss on disposals of property, HEMX - BERREURE
plant and equipment and right-of-use AEEEs)/BR
assets (121) 61
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR W E (9,442) (13)
Gains on disposal of associates i Bt = 0 B I 2 (822) -
Impairment loss of an associate —MEE AR AR EEE 3,261 748
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME BERREREESE
equipment - 64,827
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEERERESE - 30,146
Fair value change on financial asset at BARBEIFAERD
fair value through profit or loss CRHEENAABEESD 19,467 85,373
Early termination of lease RELIEHEE - 277)
Operating profit before changes in working 18 & & % B) 31l #0 45 & )4 7
capital 31,913 288,135
Change in trade receivables Z5RNKIEE S 37,743 135,144
Change in prepayments and other izl ﬁ HE R A ‘r& U I8
receivables = 5,532 635
Change in trade payables B 5 FE RRIEEE) (12,639) (131,196)
Change in contract liabilities ANBEEE (6,304) (38,255)
Cash used in operations KeEmMARE 56,245 254,463
Interest received B U F B 595 1172
Income tax paid ERFT ?% ) (68) (10,234)
Net cash generated from operating RETHHBHESFE
activities 56,772 245,401
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
meaRengx(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

P 3 AR TR ARETT

Cash flows from investing activities REZBNESR ) B
Prepayment for potential investments B EE ﬁ HIE - (20,000)
Refunds for potential investments BEKRERK 20,000 45,000
Payments for purchases of other financial ﬁ% BERAANEBEEFAERN
assets at fair value through profit or Hi S mEENMK
loss (130,402) (314,900)
Proceeds from disposals of other HE ? RABEFAER
financial assets at fair value through Hith & pl & ERI TSR t”
profit or loss 127,819 41,721
Capital injection to an associate m—EBERREE (1,347) )
Payments for purchases of property, BEVE BERRERNRK
plant and equipment (9,403) (3,938)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME  MERZEN
plant and equipment and right-of-use FREEEMSRE
assets 629 569
Payments for purchases of intangible BERVEEMNR
assets (28) (128)
Payments for acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — I BT B 2 Rl 5 3R - (82)
Payments for right-of-use assets ERAEEEMNR - (1103)
Payments for rental deposits HAZRE AR - (9,933)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries in ~ BAFE HER B AR S
prior year A - 43,000
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEMBARMNBRERAFE
subsidiaries 36 14,813 =
Payment for short-term deposits 55 H31F R (14,377) -
Repayment from a related party loan B ERRER 1,146 -
Repayment from a disposal subsidiary’s EREMRBARERNER
loan 24,400 =
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HE— B & QR B HRIE 270 =
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBHFRE(FTA)
investing activities ReFE 33,520 (219,797)
Cash flows from financing activities METHNRERE
Capital contribution from non-controlling FEERERETE
interests - 490
New bank and other borrowings raised BRI REMEE 15,000 86,000
Repayments of bank and other EERTRAEMEE
borrowings (56,577) (61,874)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEERE (28,997) (82,393)
Interest paid ERFE (6,163) (24,719)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest o B JE % J& ﬁ% i
without change in control i A~ B 2 o 4 (238) -
Net cash used in financing activities METBFMAREEE (76,975) (82,496)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

=iPAN
R B

HeRER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+t-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-F —T_=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’OOO
B 3 AR TR AREFT

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash B&€RE £ ZEY

equivalents ®/m,/ (HD)EE 13,317 (56,892)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F# MR & KB & HEY

the year 48,088 104,747
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEEREE BN T E (752) 233
Cash and cash equivalents atend of the FRNWEERELZEEY

year 60,653 48,088
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BE&RBESZEW DI
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 60,653 48,088
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

7Road Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 6 September 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is Sertus Chambers, Governors Square, Suite #5-204,
23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 2547, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the development and distribution of
web games and mobile games in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and other countries and regions and as
well as the provision of cloud computing services and other
cloud related services in the PRC. During the year, a major
line of operation of provision of cloud computing services and
other cloud related service in the PRC was discontinued. The
details of principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (‘RMB”), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the board of directors of the Company
on 28 March 2025.

— = —
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AN ) Y A M 4 =5 5 b i 7 Sertus
Chambers, Governors Square, Suite
#5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue,
P.O. Box 2547, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e BmRM )

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. #R#NHET R EBETHY

IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS R EHREEAS
ot ZE A
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and RAEE  AEEEHMAEEE
revised IFRS Accounting Standards that are relevant to its XGHEBYR_T_MNF—H—H
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning RIS FELEROTITIRE
on 1 January 2024. IFRS Accounting Standards comprise &3] B BR B 75 3 5 2 B & 5T 2R -
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); BRI mEER S LR RIEE
International Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. PR B 75 o 25 45 R ([ PR B 7% 3R &5 28
The adoption of these new and revised IFRS Accounting Al BEgHERRE - KK
Standards did not result in significant changes to the Group’s ZEFIT RIS TR RS %
accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated Ale st ZR W REAEE AT
financial statements and amounts reported for the current R AEEGETBHRENZESR
year and prior years. AEERBAFEMREN G
EKXNEIL -

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRS AEBRKRERE BHMERRER
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet TRl RIEFTEIR I mEEA g
effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment FHER - REBELRARTEZE
of the impact of these new and revised IFRS Accounting TR REETERE B RS ERE
Standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these SFEAMEE  BRAEARBZ
new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards would have EHAT RIS ET BIBR B 75 3R 5 2 R
a material impact on its results of operations and financial S EAEETSHHELCEXERM
position. BRREEERTE -

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EZEg®HXK
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared e KEBRREBERE 2L
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued ZEgRMNBERMEREERE
by International Accounting Standards Board, accounting FTER - BEEARSHAENREE
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the BERSGMAR AR ESF EME L
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the (TEmRBDREBRBEH T
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing EHEABEERR -
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared RERBUMBRERTIBBERE £ KA
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the BHREE  WRERIRESMHM T E
revaluation of investments which are carried at their fair B REREBEREAABMEYE-
values.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in METEEBRM B REEL 2%
conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use Al e B RcFTEERE T
of certain key assumptions and estimates. It also requires BOBREMGEE c ENERERQA
the directors of the Company to exercise its judgements in EEHEREASHERNBREFRER
the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas FlE o FREBRAENER RE P
involving critical judgements and areas where assumptions WRERETHRZFLRE VB R
and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial rXMEBEANEE ERGEH
statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated MR AR 5E -
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)

(continued)

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries (including structure entities) are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

— = —
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ZER - -EAKEHRERBEEN
EEENESHEBEE  AHERE
EHRBEAZENABE - NEE

HAEREAEHRE -

EREEGEE  AEEEEEHR
BERZRANEMTHENERE
REE  NETEIOHEGEGE -
BEREREEFBARBERT
LR MM BE NS R E R ©

MEBAREENEEREEAREZ
BEAH BiEHRKLZAES
BAEGARK -

HESB R EEFI KB AR T
EEMKREHER KROHER
B AR EEMEEZHE AR T
RENEAREN R TEE Hi(i)
ARBEMEZH BT EEFEM
b B 5% P B X B) 4R B &Y 4E (7] R £
BREMBABRINEREFEE
FIEERR

SEARS BHREARERBNE
HOHRR - REREE IS OB
BRIEZRZRERTEREEREN
EE - WBARMEHARREESR
FEREE  UBEREXEEMK
MMBR— B o

VU 4F ) Annual Report 2024 101



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R & B TR SR 2 BT 3 (48)

2Ny =

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

3.

102

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of
acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred
and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R & BT 3R 2 BT 3 (48)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E - Z &+ - A=+—HBItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EZ®:BXK (&)
(continued)
Business combination and goodwill (continued) EBEMEEE(E)
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently ?ﬁ@iikﬁ RERE - R EH
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might AP FRAIBE R BRE JHE
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated i’@Lﬁ /,HJJ 2o EMBEK AR R
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment BEEBETE HEREBSENGE
losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as AEETREFBRTEMEERN
stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses FFERERR - HERBEEEEL
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss EEGHHER BETSEXRESRRE
and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to BE HEIREBEHIZIERK
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the BHRAMENRESEAEELN - N
synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment 1TRE DRI o
testing.
The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially B ARAIEE R iE R VIR 3'5?
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate fE IR AW B B HE(E MY B A
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets BRIEERBENAREBESF %ﬁ J:I:
and liabilities at the acquisition date. PIEtE -
Associates /N
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant HENRIREASEHEAFE KR
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate HENNMERB EAFENRES
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity BRI R CEBORARNES
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The B30~ F R 8 5725 BUR A9 15 &l sk =
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are BZEs - T AEERESHEE
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting AEEBNFE EEZEBAAIITESRK
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing AIEBE)BERRAENTERTE
whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing BREEMEBIBEMNELRAE -
whether a potential voting right contributes to significant EAGBERAERSCHEALE
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise NBEVERR  TEEHEABEANE
or convert that right is not considered. REATESERZENE I ERE N
Investment in an associate is accounted for in the e AR REESGEMBHRES
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and LA EARR - WHIIRTE K ARERR ©
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities RUEER - BE AR WA R BIEE
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair FAaGERKERENALEBERE °
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of U B A AN R 1B AR SR B N B & A R) ]
acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the HABEERBENAALBEFE
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as ITHBERERATE HEES
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of EREMNEREESR  TREBERS
the investment and is tested for impairment together with HATEREBEBRETRELER
the investment at the end of each reporting period when BERFEZE —ETRENR - &N
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. SEEGAUBNEERBENAR
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the BE FFEBWEK AR (BT
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is BAELZEEETRER -
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising
its share of those profits only after its share of the profits
equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus
the fair value of any investment retained in that associate and
(i) the Group’s share of the net assets of that associate plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that associate and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and
does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollar (‘HKS”).
The functional currencies of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries are RMB, while the functional currencies
of the Company’s overseas subsidiaries are United
States Dollar (‘US$”) or other appropriate currencies.
As major operations of the Group are located in the
PRC, the directors of the Company determined to
present the Group’s consolidated financial statements
in RMB (unless otherwise stated).

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

U)

(i)

(i)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 30 years

Servers and other 3to 5 years
equipment

Furniture 3 to 5 years

Leasehold improvements Estimated useful lives of 1 to 3 years
or remaining lease terms of 2 to 3

years, whichever is shorter

Vehicles 4 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal life is
as follows:

Leasehold land
Leased business premises

70 years
110 3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease
payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration
costs. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z=ZF =W F+=-_A=+—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)

(continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s games
business development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

An asset is created that can be identified (such as
software and new processes);

It is probable that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits; and

The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortization
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Game copyrights and
intellectual property
license contracts

3 to 10 years

Computer software 1to 3 years
licenses
Domain name 10 years

— = —

—_

ft 3 32 i

IR By S A H B A B AR
RAX - ABEE MR A A G
B AKBEEREHHETALE
ENENEES GRER

Al T — (&7 3 5 & E (Fl a0
| RFIRAE)

FrEIZEERIREEELE KRR
ML RS &

28 B B B AR A T AT 55
Myt 8 o

BVEE

EEARAEAFHNETLEES
BB - B ARANR R AT # &
EMRBEBREK BEAR
ARFHNELEENEHRARL
FHAAFHNERERER - BT
AEREMERBETERESERS
HIRETRA  EAEF 2SR
ERBAEEEEAR BFER
AERFHNBIREETLEER
AR E R R RETBERBRIIE -

i R B, L
AN 7 U 3 T
A1
EMBIEFAE  1E8F
i%% 1045!E

VU 4F ) Annual Report 2024 109



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

R & B TR SR 2 BT 3 (48)

2Ny =

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

3.

110

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z=ZF =W F+=-_A=+—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the
following categories:

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at amortised cost; and

Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

= the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

= the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)

(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (‘ECL’) model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, restricted cash and short-term
deposits and cash and cash equivalents) which are subject
to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at the end of each reporting period to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the end of the reporting period
as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12 month (“12m”) ECL, unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognizes lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z=ZF =W F+=-_A=+—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables and
other receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

A B HRERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E - Z &+ - A=+—HBItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under IFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a point
in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

= the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

= the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

= the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Online game revenue

The Group is a web-based and mobile online
game developer and also a publisher. The Group’s
online game revenue is generated primarily from its
self-operated, i.e. game publishing by the Group, and
licensed-out, i.e. game publishing by other publishers
under various game distribution arrangements.

The Group’s online games are operated under
free-to-play model whereby game players can play
the games free of charge and are charged for the
purchase of in-game tokens, which entitle the game
players to exchange for in-game virtual items, including
those consumable and durable in-game virtual items.

(i) Revenue from online games (both
self-developed games and licensed games)
published by the Group

The Group sells in-game tokens to its game
players via payment channels, such as
various mobile carriers and third-party internet
payment systems. The in-game tokens are
non-refundable and non-cancellable, and can
be exchanged for in-game virtual items. The
payment channels are entitled to a handling fee
which is withheld and deducted from the gross
proceeds collected from the game players,
with the net amounts remitted to the Group.
The handling fee charged by payment channels
are recognised as cost of revenue in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group is obligated to provide on-going
services to the game players and such
obligation is not deemed to be inconsequential
after game players purchase in-game virtual
items. Revenue is recognised when the Group
satisfies its performance obligations, i.e. at a
point in time for the consumable in-game virtual
items upon consumed and over the estimated
playing period of paying players (the “Player
Relationship Period”) for the durable in-game
virtual items, given there is an implicit obligation
of the Group to maintain and allow access of the
players to the games operated by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

Online game revenue (continued)
(i) Revenue from online games (both

self-developed games and licensed games)

published by the Group (continued)

Estimation of the Player Relationship Period

The Group estimates the Player Relationship
Period and re-assesses such periods at the end
of each reporting period. If there is insufficient
data to determine the Player Relationship
Period, such as in the case of a newly launched
game, the Group estimates the Player
Relationship Period based on other similar types
of games developed by the Group until the new
game establishes its own pattern and history.
The Group also considers game profile, target
audience, and its appeal to players of different
demographics groups in estimating the Player
Relationship Period. Adjustments arising from
changes in the estimated useful lives of durable
in-game virtual items are applied prospectively.

Revenue from online games (both
self-developed games and licensed games)
published by other publishers under game

distribution arrangements

The Group also grants its online games to
third-party game publishers (the “Publishers”)
to publish its online games through the
Publishers’ platforms, including web-based
and mobile game portals, or other distribution
platforms, including major social networking
websites (such as Facebook), online application
stores installed in mobile (such as Apple Inc.’s
App Store (“Apple App”) and Google Play),

web-based and mobile game portals.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B 75 g 2k BT £ (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z=ZF =W F+=-_A=+—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@) Online game revenue (continued)

U)

Revenue from online games (both
self-developed games and licensed games)
published by the Group (continued)

Proceeds earned from selling in-game tokens
are collected by the Publishers or its designated
payment platforms and shared between
the Group and the Publishers based on a
pre-determined rate.

The Group is jointly obligated to provide
on-going services to the game players

In certain arrangements, the Group is
responsible for providing game products,
technical supports and upgrades, while the
Publishers are responsible for publishing
(including determining the platforms), providing
payment solutions, customer services,
promotion activities and other daily game
operations, and the right to determine the
ultimate pricing of in-game virtual items are
shared among the Group and the Publishers.

The Group recognises revenue that the Group
is entitled to, i.e. on a net basis and under the
same principles as stated in (i) above as the
Group is jointly obligated to provide on-going
services to the game players.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

Online game revenue (continued)
(i) Revenue from online games (both

self-developed games and licensed games)

published by the Group (continued)

The Group is obligated to the Publishers to

operate the licensed-out games

In certain arrangements, the Group grants
its online games to the Publishers and the
Publishers pay license fees for the exclusive
right to operate the Group’s games in specified
geographic areas. The license fees normally
comprise of a fixed license fees (either
up-front or under specific payment schedule)
and variable fees calculated based on a
predetermined rate on the cash paid by game
players collected by the Publishers in relation to
the licensed-out games. The Group views the
Publishers as its customers as the Group does
not have the primary responsibility for fulfilment

and acceptability of the game services.

Under these arrangements, apart from
providing game license and initial game
content, the Group is also obligated to provide
post-sale services to the Publishers, including
when-and-if-available technical supports and
upgrades. Normally, no activity that significantly
affect the game license is undertaken by the
Group. The performance obligations of the
Grouping these arrangements comprise of
the transfer of control of game license and
post-sale services. The fixed license fees
are allocated between the game license and
post-sale services based on relative fair values
of the standalone performance obligations.
The amount allocated to the game license is
recognized as revenue at a point in time when
the license is granted, given that it is considered
to be a right to use arrangement, and the
amount allocated to post-sale services is
recognised as revenue ratably over the license

period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

A B HRERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E - Z &+ - A=+—HBItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REBFPEA® Y = (E)
(@  Online game revenue (continued) (a) HWEXERWEE)

0] Revenue from online games (both (i) REBEBITREER
self-developed games and licensed games) SESEE: 3P EsEs
published by the Group (continued) D MM ()

The Group is obligated to the Publishers to ZIK £ l fj ?’Y‘ BHA
operate the licensed-out games (continued) =1
The variable license fees which are contingent SR 54'5 $j¢ A% 7)‘ Eﬁ
upon future events (future cash paid by game 1% 527?3@7 IR (ﬁ%
players collected by the Publishers in relation S /3% 1 E’J 5'5 R Iﬁ b
to the licensed game) are recognised when the BB AT ﬁ;ﬁﬁ g 1 B
contingency is met provided that collectability is i{f 1451‘ HXi) 15  5 %‘ = IE
reasonably assured. E PR T DARERR - Al
R’ ZA & 2 E WD
IR ©
(b) Sales of customisation game software (b) 85 & {8 AL 3 B AT

The Group is entrusted to provide customisation game a5 7&': i3 % Rt 3 % 1i\ﬂ: 5%

software to third parties. Revenue is recognised at a B #%f =7 ”&ﬁﬁ NS

point in time when the services are rendered to third HAR 5 T8 =05 /0 B ] B

parties. R

(c) Sales of game copyrights © 55 6 0 B AR R

Revenue from sale of game copyrights is recognised % & 53 34 HJE 1 EIQHSZ i Ei‘ BE

at a point in time when control of the asset is = %’J ERPTELMERAM

transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of wo _ﬁxtfﬁﬁ%{ T¢E$

the game software master copy and completion of the R ﬁ K% 58 X, i 54 hiR 4 o it B

registration change of the game copyright. R

(d)  Sales of online game technology and publishing (d) ﬁﬁ% 48 At 22 IR R IR B AT AR

solution services RTT R R

The Group provides technology development services, Kx% A % — Eﬁ B9 7

games installation services, software copyright and B HE@T BERE RS - W

publishing solution services to third parties. Revenue #H&%&%ﬁﬁ”@ﬁﬁ RIRAS o

is recognised at a point in time when the services are ”f Q[ _77 1% P AR 5 1

rendered to third parties. Ry P B T DARE AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

)

(f)

Intellectual property licensing

The Group also generates revenue from licensing its
copyrights to other online game companies for agreed
periods. The license fees normally comprise of a fixed
license fees (either up-front or under specific payment
schedule)and variable fees calculated based on
predetermined terms. Normally the Group do not have
any substantive post-sale services to the licensee.

Revenue from licensing agreements is recognised at
a point in time when the license is granted, given that
it is considered to be a right to use arrangement. The
variable license fees which are contingent upon future
events (future cash paid by gameplayers collected by
the Publishers in relation to the licensed game) are
recognised when the contingency is met provided that
collectability is reasonably assured.

Cloud computing services revenue

The Group earns cloud computing services revenue
from the provision of a number of services, including
cloud computing services such as elastic computing,
storage, graphics processing unit computing, and
security. These cloud computing services allow
customers to use hosted software over the contract
period without taking possession of the software
and hardware. Cloud computing services are mainly
charged on either a subscription or consumption
pasis. Revenue related to cloud services charged on
a subscription basis is recognised ratably over the
contract period. Revenue related to cloud services
charged on a consumption basis, such as the quantity
of storage or elastic computing services used in a
period, is recognised based on the customer utilisation
of the resources.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E - Z &+ - A=+—HBItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group,
the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view
to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, if earlier.
It also occurs when the operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, which comprises:

= The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

= The gain or loss recognised on the disposal group
constituting the discontinued operation.

Employee benefits
(a) Pension and social obligations

The Group operates various defined contribution
plans in accordance with the local conditions and
practices in which it operates. Defined contribution
plans are pensions and the other social benefit plans
under which the Group pays fixed contributions to a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
the benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. The contributions are recognised as
labour costs when they are due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

()

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of each
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonuses is recognised as
a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation for payment of bonus as a
result of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities for
profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be
settled within 1 year and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(d)

Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ relevant income and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed in the MPF
Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contribution
to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately. Any forfeited voluntary contributions
made by the Group are used to reduce the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions. There were no
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in such contributions) to offset existing contributions
under the defined contribution schemes.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) are
required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme. The Group has
no right of forfeiture of pension scheme contributions
(i.e. contributions processed by the employer on behalf
of the employee who has exited the scheme prior to
vesting of such contributions). As at 31 December
2024, no forfeited contribution under the pension
scheme of the Group is available for deduction of
contribution payable in coming years (2023: nil).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-based
compensation reserve). At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously

recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share capital.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]

EEETHXRE)

VA B £ 7% 25 188 9 15 3R

FEE M EMREHBURBOAL
MRS EEARO BERD
NRIORELEHREETANR
REEFE-

PR B TE R DAME 2 4 B AR
NRERONNRNAAREBECTE
JB P 3F ™ % 57 & 15k 1F) Th IR 1B AR
SEUSRKREREBZESTANMG
AORBEBEBHARERENZ M
1 FE SR N A AR 2 (AR D /3 & #E
M EREA - REREHR K
SESREMEBBIET SRS K
HHREE  EEESEAREES
TRABENGEE -EUREGEEE
EWFE(A)NIBEmAER - A
HEZRFERARMRDCBENHE
A EABFANRD SERMHE
e

EERREITER - LATRARG
RERABERFEREIANSBESEE
ERBAEN - ERRERNFEELS
BBOW A & m B B ARAT RS
55 T DA PR 70 70 25 B B0 408 180 (a6 1 T
RN RBEBERERERF -

BB ERBEE - AT R ARD R
EMAEFRARIANSERERS
(RN



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

=lPAN
R B

B 75 g 2k BT £ (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z=ZF =W F+=-_A=+—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised in the future. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

(continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of productions
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iif) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z=ZF =W F+=-_A=+—HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 EE2:HE(E)
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

U)

(i)

(V)

(vii)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3

132

(continued)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable

amount of the cash generating unit (the “CGU”) to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
when material.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors of the Company have made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i

Control over Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries
under the Contractual Arrangements

Pursuant to a series of contractual agreements,
including Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement,
Exclusive Option Agreement, Share Pledge Agreement,
and Powers of Attorney Agreement, dated 13 April
2018 (collectively, the “Contractual Agreements”)
among the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. (R YT BE 2035 A 48 B 5. A R 2 7)) (“Qianhai
Huanjing”), Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd. (%
JE+ KERE B BR A F]) (‘Shenzhen 7Road”) and
its shareholders, which enable Qianhai Huanjing and
the Group to:

= governing the financial and operating policies of
Shenzhen 7Road;

= exercise shareholders’ voting rights of Shenzhen
7Road;

= receive substantially all of the economic
interest returns generated by Shenzhen 7Road
in consideration for the business support,
technical and consulting services provided by
Qianhai Huanjing;
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

(continued)

(i) Control over Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries
under the Contractual Arrangements (continued)

obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right with
an initial period of 10 years to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Shenzhen7Road
from the respective shareholders at a minimum
purchase price permitted under the PRC
laws and regulations, and the irrevocable
and exclusive right shall be unconditionally
and automatically extended thereafter until
it is terminated by Qianhai Huanjing. Qianhai
Huanjing may exercise such options at any
time until it has acquired all equity interests of
Shenzhen 7Road. The respective shareholders
have also undertaken, subject to the relevant
PRC laws and regulations, they will return to
Qianhai Huanjing any consideration received
in the event that Qianhai Huanjing exercises
the option to acquire the equity interests of
Shenzhen 7Road; and

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interests
of Shenzhen 7Road from its respective
shareholders as collateral security for all of
Shenzhen 7Road’s payments due to Qianhai
Huanjing and to secure performance of
Shenzhen 7Road’s obligation under the
Contractual Arrangements.

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
directors of the Company believe that the Group
has rights to exercise power over Shenzhen 7Road
and its subsidiaries, receive variable returns from its
involvement with Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries,
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries
and is considered to control Shenzhen 7Road and
its subsidiaries. Consequently, the Company regards
Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries as the controlled
entities and consolidated the financial position
and results of operations of these entities in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(i

Control over Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries
under the Contractual Arrangements (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over Shenzhen 7Road
and its subsidiaries and such uncertainties presented
by the PRC legal system could impede the Group’s
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of the Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries. The
directors of the Company, based on the advice of its
external legal counsel, consider that the Contractual
Arrangements among Qianhai Huanjing, Shenzhen
7Road and its shareholders are in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally
binding and enforceable.

Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries are treated as
controlled structured entities of Qianhai Huanjing
and are ultimately controlled and consolidated by the
Company by way of the Contractual Arrangements.
The management of the Group, with the support of
legal opinion, are of the opinion that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with the PRC laws
and regulations and are legally enforceable, and that
the Group has power over Shenzhen 7Road’s relevant
activities and is exposed to significant variable return
of Shenzhen 7Road. Changes in these assumptions
could have material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E - Z &+ - A=+—HBItFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Estimates of Player Relationship Period in respect
of online game revenue

The Group recognises certain revenue from sale of
durable in-game virtual items in online games ratably
over the Player Relationship Period. The determination
of the Player Relationship Period for durable in-game
virtual items requires significant judgments and
estimates by the management. These judgments
and estimates included (i) the determination of key
assumptions applied in the estimation of Player
Relationship Period, including but not limited to the
observation of historical paying players’ behaviour,
log-in records, churn rates and games life-cycle;
and (i) the identification of events that may trigger
changes in the Player Relationship Period. Such
estimates are subject to re-evaluation at the end of
each reporting period. Any adjustments arising from
changes in the Player Relationship Period as a result
of new information will be accounted for as changes in
accounting estimates.

(b) Impairment assessment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
with certain significant inputs, including growth rates
and expected changes to sales and direct costs, and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of future cash flows. Where the actual cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise. As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
goodwill is RMB624,183,000 (2023: RMB624,183,000).
Details of the impairment assessment of goodwill are
disclosed in Note 19.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(©

(d)

Impairment of trade receivables and other
receivables

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables
are assessed based on assumptions and estimates
in respect of the expected credit loss rates. In
determining the expected credit loss rates, the
Group takes into consideration the Group’s historical
data, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking information at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the impairment
assessment. Details of the impairment of other
receivables and trade receivables are disclosed in
Notes 5(c), 23 and 24.

Fair value measurement of level 3 financial
instruments

The fair values of financial instruments that are not
quoted in active markets are determined by using
valuation technigues. These valuation techniques
include the use of market approach, discounted cash
flow model and other valuation techniques commonly
used by market participants, which require selection
of significant unobservable inputs in the valuation
process, including but not limited to earnings multiple
of comparable companies, discount for lack of
marketability and discount rate etc. Changes in these
assumptions and estimates could materially affect the
fair values of financial instruments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E - Z &+ - A=+—HBItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally through overseas
publishers and is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the US$. Foreign exchange risk primarily
arose from recognised assets and liabilities when
receiving or to receive foreign currencies from overseas
counterparties. The Group did not hedge against any
fluctuation in foreign currency during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

For the Company’s PRC subsidiaries whose
functional currency is RMB, if US$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the post-tax profit would have been
approximately RMB4,050,000 (2023: RMB1,655,000)
higher/lower for the year ended 31 December 2024,
as a result of net foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of net monetary assets denominated in
USS$.

(o) Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of
investments held by the Group that are classified on
the consolidated statement of financial position as
at fair value through other comprehensive income or
at fair value through profit or loss. The Group is not
exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price
risk arising from the investments, the Group diversifies
its portfolio. Each investment is managed by senior
management on a case by case basis.

In respect of the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, the sensitivity analysis is
determined based on the exposure to price risk of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at
the end of the reporting period. If the fair value of the
respective instruments held by the Group had been
5% higher/lower, the post-tax loss for the year ended
31 December 2024 would have been approximately
RMB31,131,000 (2023: RMB33,240,000) lower/higher.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of its trade
receivables, other receivables, restricted cash and short-term
deposits and cash and cash equivalents placed with banks.
The carrying amount of each class of the above financial
assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to the corresponding class of financial assets.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on group basis. Finance team is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk
for each of their new clients before standard payment
and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Group
assesses the credit quality of its customers and other debtors
by taking into account various factors including their financial
position, past experience and other factors.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 4% (2023:
2%) and 14% (2023: 15%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the Group maintains continuous communications with the
customers from trade receivables to ensure the effective
credit control.

In view of the history of cooperation with the customers from
trade receivables and the collection history of receivables
due from them, the directors of the Company believe that
the credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade
receivables balances is low. The Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables.

Restricted cash and short-term deposits and cash and cash
equivalents are mainly placed with state-owned financial
institutions in the PRC and reputable international financial
institutions both domestically and overseas. The financial
institutions have no recent history of default. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the expected credit loss is
close to zero.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E - Z &+ - A=+—HBItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group has mainly two classes of financial assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model: trade receivables
and other receivables.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

Other receivables are measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. The company considers the
probability of default upon initial recognition of an asset and
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk
the company compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

= internal credit rating;

= actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
counterparty’s ability to meet its obligations;

= actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the counterparty; and

= significant changes in the expected performance and
behavior of the counterparty.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in
credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 90 days past
due in making a contractual payment repayable demanded.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period of 36 months before 31 December
2024, and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables as at

31 December 2024 and 2023 was determined as follows:

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed collectively based on provision matrix:

Average loss rate

5
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Gross carrying amounts

Bt %5 L B B 2R (4

EERR(E)

Bk EE(E)
EHEELRDDER T _NF
+=A=+—H#36E A H M H
ENRIBR L ZEENEEBEE
EEE BEBSEBXREEAE U
RMEREFEMNEWFIAE B
2 7 B A R =AY 3R B R AT RE 1
‘e

ERNGEE R-Z_OMER-F
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REEEREBETOT
TRIEEANEERIZ R EBEEE
FENEFERFIEEERRER

Loss allowance

T ERE IR A E BERE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-mF —$-=F —B-NE —B-=f —E-NF —B-=f
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETn AR¥ETn ARETR ARETx
Within 6 months 61 A AR 0.00% 0.14% 40,749 63,505 - 89
6 months to 1 year ENEESE:E 1.55% 0.73% 1,805 17,878 28 130
1102 years 1ER% 19.62% 5.04% 2,049 82,216 402 4146
Over 2 years 2F L £ 71.91% 78.11% 86,918 45,778 62,500 35,758
Total Bt 131,521 209,377 62,930 40,123

The Loss allowance for other receivables as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 was determined as follows:
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5 HM¥RAMEIE(E)

(continued)
(©  Credit risk (continued) © 1EERRE)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) iy REBEEGE)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-WMFE+=-HA=+—~H
Carrying
Estimated amount
gross (net of
Expected Basis for recognition of  amountat impairment
Receivables credit loss expected credit loss provision default provision)
BHEE BAEHEE MAFELN REAEMRK
FE W K E | BEBANERE mE O ORERE)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR
Other receivables
H fth & W R IE
— Loans to third parties 66.2% Lifetime expected credit losses 2,297 776
—RAE=FEX SHEHREEER
— Loan to a related party 0.0% 12 months expected credit losses 2,580 2,580
— MEEER 8K 12EAEREEER
— Others 0.3% 12 months expected credit losses 3,310 3,300
— Hftp REARREEER
64.0% Lifetime expected credit losses 6,340 2,282
FHEHEEERE
As at 31 December 2023 RZFEZ=F+=—H=+—H
Carrying
Estimated amount
gross (net of
Expected Basis for recognition of amountat  impairment
Receivables credit loss expected credit loss provision default provision)
HHEE BRAEHEE  AFELH REER
JE& W R IE 18 BREERNESE mE O ORERE)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Other receivables
Hofth & W R I8
— Loans to third parties 0.5% 12 months expected credit losses 2,247 2,236
- ME=FER REAEREEEE
— Loan to a related party 0.0% 12 months expected credit losses 3,509 3,509
— MR EX REAEREEER
— Others 0.5% 12 months expected credit losses 22,402 22,290
— Hft REAEREEEE
59.4% Lifetime expected credit losses 5,417 2,197
SHEHREEEE
—Z = PU4F 7R Annual Report 2024 143
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5 BXERERE)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) © EERRE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) iy REBEEGE)
Apart from the above expected credit losses, certain balances BRTERATEEEEBEIN  ARA
included in other receivables, amounted to RMB31,647,000 SERANEEIZHEFELER
(2023: RMB31,569,000) were credit-impaired, due to the BRE  BRENEMERFKIEFH
financial difficulties of the respective counterparties identified = T 8858 A R#31,647,00070 (==
by the Group. — =% : AR ¥31,569,0007T) E £
HEERE -
Movement of provision for impairment of trade receivables for FABZRWRBEREREZ SN
the year is as follows: N
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
(RBEEE (RERE
HENZH BE) 828
BHGEEFE HBHGERR @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
At 1 January 2023 R-ZB-=#-A—A 3,539 17567 21,106
Increase in loss allowance recognised B ER M BB R EHEN
in profit or loss 10,642 17,376 28,018
Written off 4 (9,001) - (9,001)
Transfer EE b (735) 735 -
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-=%+-RA=+—H
1 January 2024 k—Z-mNFE—A—H 4,445 35,678 40,123
Increase in loss allowance recognised ~ RIBHEERMNE R
in profit or loss B (3,266) 26,073 22,807
Transfer & (670) 670 -
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_ME+=-fA=1+—H 509 62,421 62,930

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the group, and
indicators of severe financial difficulty.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented in the
statement of profit or loss on a net basis within net provision
of impairment losses on financial assets under expected
credit loss model. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line item.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5 BXERERE)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) © EERRE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) iy REBEEGE)
Movement of provision for impairment of other receivables for FAHMBERFIBEREREZ BN
the year is as follows: T
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit-  ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
(RBEGE  (BERH
1REAREN HEN2E RENZE
BEFE RUGEFSE RNGEER @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=F—f—H 163 1,872 28,959 30,994
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss 118 % 5 72 K 165 18 & 22 /1 1874 2,546 1188 5,608
Written off 3 (1,915) - - (1,915)
Transfer to credit-impaired BREEENE - (1,125) 1125 -
Exchange realignment R - (72) 207 225
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZBZ=F+=-A=+-H
kZE-WF-A—AH 122 3,221 31,569 34,912
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss 118 %5 # 72 ) 5 12 5
2] @) 2,760 - 2,669
Transfer to credit-impaired BRERSHE (22) 22 - -
Exchange realignment fE R - (424) 78 (346)
At 31 December 2024 W-E-M¥+-A=+-H 9 5,579 31,647 37,235

Other receivables are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of recovery e.g. when the debtor has deregistered,
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs earlier.

Impairment losses on other receivables are presented in the
statement of profit or loss on a net basis within net reversal of
impairment losses on financial assets under expected credit
loss model. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously.

— = —

—_
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5.

©

146

B 75 g 2k B 7E (48)

Palax
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5 BXERERE)
(continued)
Liquidity risk d nBESER
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AEBEHIEBIRE HSZ X IE £ AR W 1
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains BRIRRAEGE R AR A&
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in 7E 5 18 Bl 1 /5 18 1% o FEETE TR Hi
the short and longer term. FEEEBEBXR AEEEZEREHE
18 5 WY JEE S /5 18 2R I AR R A WE 1 2k
BHEITHE o
Weighted Between Between
average  Lessthan 1and 2and Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5years Total amount
mE¥H
HE  SR-%£ -Z@E  CZZIf @ REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-mE
TZA=t-
Bank and other borrowings BORAMEE 3.25% 15,488 - - 15,488 15,000
Trade and other payables (excluding & 5 &k £t {58
payroll liabilties, other tax (PEEIEEE -
payables, government grants) HEERBE
B ATHE) - 37,199 - - 37,199 37,199
Lease liabilities HEAR 3.60%-4.75% 5,972 2,734 - 8,706 8,465
58,659 2,734 - 61,393 60,664
As at 31 December 2023 R=ZB==f
t=A=1-H
Bank and other borrowings RORAMEE 3.70%-8.42% 131,030 80,260 39,890 251,180 231,003
Trade and other payables (excluding 25 [ £ #th e (4 58
payroll liabilities, other tax (FBEEIEEE .
payables, government grants) A EMBE
B A 16 B) = 68,855 = - 68,855 68,855
Lease liabilties REAE 3.85%-4.75% 90,834 47603 2,553 140,990 136,923
290,719 127,863 42,443 461,025 436,781
Interest rate risk e  FMERB
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and HRASBIEREARFEEERE
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially & WAKE EI’J ® iﬁ T mEEARN

independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits. These deposits and borrowings bear interests at
variable rates varied with the then prevailing market condition.
The directors of the Company consider that the changes in
interest rates of bank balances have no significant impact
to the Group due to the low interest rates and short-term
maturities and therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented for

bank balances.

7Road Holdings Limited £+ X &

R R AR

FETEFNEEP TR

7K 5 8 TH e 1O A 2R L B oK B
T?m ° *Ai?ﬁﬁuﬁf&ﬂ}?
7

wz%fﬂﬂ ﬁ%ﬁ‘]ﬂi?é@)?\@ﬁ
%@Eiik%% I 75 B R A R
RENBBAAERE - A& R
1145 ﬁ%zﬂ&ﬂ@ﬁlmﬁ“*ﬁ°



o.

(f)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT RR N T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5 HXEEKREREE)

(continued)

Categories of financial instruments at 31 December N KRITZA=+—HNERITAESE

hill
2024 2023
—E-MEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’OOO
ARSI ARETx
Financial assets: TREE:
Investments at fair value through profit & QA R EBETABRNKE :
or loss:
Mandatorily measured SRl ETE 828,053 884,172
Financial assets at amortised cost REHKATECSREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (B2#ER & KB4 g{g%) 176,430 334,490
Financial liabilities: cHmas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBHEKAFTEZERAE 74,882 330,824

Fair values @ 2»2rEE

Except as disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial BRéRE B H MR M sE6PT i R & A

statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial RAE AR A RTRR A AN E @ i

assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated Faj*i BERERE %ﬁ E’J PR (A HEHE X

statement of financial position approximate their respective ENAREERS

fair values.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. AAREHETE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an AABEANTEEMB2EER

asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction EMRFRSGPHEEER W K E

between market participants at the measurement date. The #AE 25§1‘JLEI’JTET5‘ IRTRARE

following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair B 2HE TzéﬁHA REESFREE -
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to BARFEAAEBENGERIE
valuation techniques used to measure fair value: ANEDR=EZER:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical FAE AAKERERDERANER
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the A BESBERNEEMHBORECK
measurement date. KRR

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level EF-fR REEFBEVEERIEEEE
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either BAY MHAIEE-RAERENRE
directly or indirectly. R BRAN) o

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. E-48 REEFABTUBENGAY

AEE: B

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers NEBERIK % RRBHEB K E

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or BESMRRAEEER  BRZ%Z=(E

change in circumstances that caused the transfer. BRATA—ROEAREL -
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6.

148

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

6. AREHEEGE)

(continued)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December: @ ®R+_A=+—HHAREBE
BE B ERR
Fair value measurements using: Total
FHUTEENARBEE: @t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
Description i F-BH F_EBR F=EBH —T-Nmf
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRn AR¥Tn AR%®Tn AR%¥Tx
Recurring fair value REMNAEENE:
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BRAABEFABREN
through profit or loss EREE
Equity securities RAE %
Listed in Hong Kong REE LT 18,603 - - 18,603
Unlisted equity investments RAEBIKIE LT
inthe PRC R AT E - - 263,693 263,693
Unlisted limited partnerships R B3 LT
in the PRC ERa¥LE - - 545,757 545,757
Total recurring fair value KEMAAEESE
measurements ok 18,603 - 809,450 828,053
Fair value measurements using: Total
FRUTEEMNAAEBEE @it
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
Description i F—ER FER F=-EH —ZT-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT ARETx
Recurring fair value KEMAAEESE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFABRD
through profit or loss EREE
Equity securities R 5
Listed in Hong Kong RES LT 19,729 - - 19,729
Unlisted equity investments RABE#IE LT
inthe PRC RARE = - 315,212 315,212
Unlisted limited partnerships KB 3E L
in the PRC BRAEBLE = - 549,231 549,231
Total recurring fair value REMNAEENE
measurements Fokc) 19,729 - 864,443 884,172

7Road Holdings Limited 5 + K i&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT RR N T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(continued)

Movement of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss for the year is as follows:

6.

(b)

Listed shares

Listed shares
in Hong Kong

and unlisted
equity
investments
in the PRC
RAE#
EHRGBR

REBHN FLTRFE

N\,

N EERE(E)

/7

RAFE  BRARBEFAERR
MERMEEZHIT:

Unlisted
limited  Unlisted trust
partnerships ~ and fund in
in the PRC the PRC Total

REEY  WEEN
KLTER ELTERR

Emikf % ABLE g @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 N=—E-=F—-H—H 25,099 85,569 515,164 70,527 696,359
Additions WE = 232,900 34,000 48,000 314,900
Disposals HE (622) - - (@1,721) (42,343)
Total gains or losses recognised in -~ B R A IR 25k
profit or loss (#) BEAEH (5,377) (3,257) 67 (76,806) (85,373)
Exchange realignment R AR 629 - - - 629
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=F+_f
1 January 2024 St-HRZZ-MmE
—H—H 19,729 315,212 549,231 = 884,172
Additions WE - 122,302 13,500 - 135,802
Disposals & - (172,819) - - (172,819)
Total gains or losses recognised in -~ H B & R K U 25 %
profit or loss (#) BEAE® (1,491) (1,002) (16,974) - (19,467
Exchange realignment R AR 365 - - - 365
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-ME
T-A=t-H 18,603 263,693 545,757 - 828,053
(#) Include gains or (losses) for WEERRERRE=
assets held at end of reporting MREMFEEN
period for Level 3 investments K@k (EE)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-M&E+=A
Sr=1[ N/AT i A 7,846 (16,974) -
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-A
=t+-H N/AT i (3,257) 67  NATER

There was no transfer between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year.

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including
those for assets held at end of reporting period are presented
in other gain or loss, net in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

REAFE F—F F-_R/EFE=
MR EER -

RIESPHA IR AREBRERE(E
ERBSHRAKEEZRELE
BRF)NEBEaREME2EKRER
ZHMWRKERFEATES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

6.

150

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(continued)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2024:

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for the
fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value
measurements. The chief financial officer reports directly to
the Board of Directors for these fair value measurements.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the chief financial officer and the Board of Directors
at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group has a team
that manages the valuation exercise of level 3 financial
instruments for financial reporting purposes. The team
manages the valuation exercise of the investments on a
case-by-case basis. At least twice every year, the team
would use valuation techniques to determine the fair value of
the Group’s level 3 financial instruments. External valuation
experts will be involved when necessary.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE WM (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

[REEEGE)

(continued)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2024: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

AEBMAGEBEARR-F
“WMFET-A=t—HAREE
SAEMRBEINENRBABIE 2
BKEE: ()
F=RDIAEETE

Effect on
fair value 2024
Valuation Unobservable forincrease Amount
Description technique inputs Range of inputs RMB’000
TABERBAY HEAYBENN —S-NEeE
Ha RERR B E QMMEENEE AR%TR
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
RARBEFABRENRE
Unlisted equity securities Recent market transaction N/A N/A N/A 40,400
EMBAE S ERTERS il T i
Unlisted equity securities Market approach volatility  43.24%-54.11% Decrease 223,293
¥ EMRAE S %% K A
Risk-free rate 1.38%-1.47% Decrease
BERNE s
Unlisted limited partnership, trust  Adjusted net assets value Discounts for lack ~ 9.00%-12.90% Decrease 532,889
and fund of marketability
mzmmREY wy
fi
FIMERERRE BRBEAEFE
FERkES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

6.

152

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6.
(continued)
Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (€

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2024: (continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued)

[REEEGE)

AEBMAGEBEARR-F
“WMFET-A=t—HAREE
AAEMRBEREMEABEZ
BKEE: ()
F=MAREETE(H)

Effect on
fair value 2023
Valuation Unobservable for increase Amount
Description technique inputs Range of inputs RMB'000
FABEEAY HRARBEMG —T_-F58
ft BB 3 58 RAABENRE ARETR
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
RORBEGTABRGZNRE
Unlisted equity securities Recent market transaction N/A N/A N/A 100,400
FEMRAE 5 MHTERS TER TER TER
Unlisted equity securities Market approach volatilty  42.23%-53.54% Decrease 33,145
FEMRAE 5 5% A Wy
Risk-free rate 2.21%-2.35% Decrease
BERNE D
Unlisted equity securities Discounted cash flow (note a) volatility  42.60%-48.40% Decrease 181,667
FLEMRAE 5 BERReRE(HiTa) I8 wd
Risk-free rate 1.98%-2.00% Decrease
EERNZ Wy
Unlisted limited partnership, trust  Adjusted net assets value Discounts for lack ~ 12.00%-30.00% Decrease 549,231
and fund of marketability
FIMERAELE Rk LRAREELE AR ki s
£% ik
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT RR N T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. DAEBEEE(E)

(continued)

) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group © AEEFMAGBEAEAERR=F
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value THEF+Z A=+ —BAAEE
measurements at 31 December 2024: (continued) FFrEMAGEEAERBAZSEZ

WEE: (88)

Level 3 fair value measurements (continued) FE=ZRAAREETE(H)

(@) The following table summarises the quantitative information in (@) TRBE MR THERZTZ=F
respect of the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value +=A= + EI FE-EBRALEEZE
measurements as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. FIAMNEARTABEH ABENE(L

Fair value

change

for the year

ended 31

Range of inputs Change December 2024

BE-—F2_m&E

+=A=+-—A8

LLEEH

Key unobservable inputs FTEFTHEERARE BARESHE LX) AARBEBERE
RMB’000

ARBTR
Volatility R R 43.24%-54.11% +5% (929)
-5% 941
Risk-free rate B FI R 1.38%-1.47% +5% (787)
—-5% 817

Fair value

change

for the year

ended 31

Range of inputs Change December 2023

HE-Z_=F

+= ﬁ =+—H

IEEFEH

Key unobservable inputs FETABZHAEE HAHEREE ) NAEEZE
RMB’000

ARBFT

Volatility & 42.60%-48.40% +5% 150
-5% (123)
Risk-free rate 3 B ) 3% 1.98%-2.00% +5% (133)
-5% 133
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

6.

154

(&)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, The valuation
technique of an unlisted equity security amounting to
RMB66,773,000 (31 December 2023: RMB60,000,000)
was changed from “Recent market transaction” to “Market
approach” as the transaction price was arrived at for more
than a year ago and no longer constituted an appropriate
reference for the most recent valuation and market
comparable approach is a more appropriate approach to
value fair value of a company that is under development stage
with potential for growth in the future.

SEGMENT INFORMATION AND
REVENUE

The Group’s business activities, for which discrete financial
information is available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated
by the chief operating decision maker. As a result of this
evaluation, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s operations are mainly operated and managed as a
single segment and no segment information is presented,
accordingly.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the majority of the
non-current assets of the Group were located in the PRC.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE WM (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION AND 7. DHERRWE(E)
REVENUE (continued)

HE_ZT_WNWEEK_TE_=F+_
A=+—HILEFE AEBRWZHR

The Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

U
2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
(Restated)
(& E5)
Revenue from continuing operations 33 48 & & ¥ & W &
Types of goods or services BEmaRGER
Online game revenue A 4% e B =
— Self-development games — BERBHER
published by the Group A EEZFT 160,671 356,996
published by other publishers BHEMBEITEET 83,827 111,077
— Licensed games — RIBER
published by the Group HAEBZE T 54,099 1,795
published by other publishers HEMBEITEET 1,044 52
299,641 469,920
Sales of online game technology and  $ & 48 4% 3 18§ 5 i &
publishing solutions services BITHOR T RIRTE 529 664
Intellectual property licensing MBERETH 5,331 7159
Cloud related service =R RS 895 7,203
306,396 484,946
Revenue from discontinued ERILEREXEL W&
operation
Types of goods or services ERBREESE
Online game revenue W4 e B =
— Self-development games — BERBHER
published by other publishers BHEMBEITEET — 1,884
Cloud revenue = &
— Cloud computing service — B ERE 31,482 140,902
31,482 142,786
Total revenue W 5 48 58 337,878 627,732

— = —

—_
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A B ERERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION AND
REVENUE (continued)

1.

7 #BE R R = ()

Timing of revenue recognition: R =R :
2024 2023
—ES-ME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE ARET
(Restated)
(geE75)
Continuing operations FEICEET
At a point in time H— A5 2, 5,860 7,823
Over time —ER 5[ 300,536 477,123
306,396 484,946
Discontinued operation ERIEREEET
Over time — R 31,482 142,786
337,878 627,732
Revenue from major customers: RKEETERFPHKE :

Revenue from major customers individually accounting for
10% or more of total revenue for continuing operations is as

KETEEPHKE MHLLEIANG
FRKERB W S BFE10%HIA L

follows: Mo RIaT :
2024 2023
—E-NF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Customer A BEA 34,750 —
Customer B =FB — 150,301

Note:  Customer A did not meet the threshold of accounting for 10% or more of
total revenue in the year ended 31 December 2023. Customer B did not
meet the threshold of accounting for 10% or more of total revenue in the
year ended 31 December 2024.

156 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE WM (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z T -_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

8. NET PROVISION OF IMPAIRMENT 8. EHIEEEFEEXT

LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS ZEeRMEEREEIE
UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS BRiEFHE
MODEL
2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
(Restated)
(&L &E5)
Impairment losses recognised on: MR ZBEBE:
— trade receivables — B RINFIE 22,807 28,018
— other receivables — H b E Y FRIA 2,669 5,608
25,476 33,626
Representing: =2
Continuing operations FECEET 25,472 33,422
Discontinued operation (Note 13) B AR | e 2 7 (BT FE13) 4 204
25,476 33,626
9. OTHER INCOME 9. Hfttlg A
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREET T
(Restated)
C<=27)
Government grants BT 78 Bl 2,614 3,235
Refunds of the PRC value-added tax ~ FRBIE AR 2 BN 1,745 1,847
Gain on disposal of a cloud business ~ HEZEE KA AW
contract 10,700 =
Penalty on lease termination MEKRIEMEIR (728) —
Others i (373) 342
13,958 5,424
Representing: =K
Continuing operations REREET 13,952 5,394
Discontinued operation (Note 13) B a8 27 (Y 5E13) 6 30
13,958 5,424

—Z — Y4 #{ Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

10. OTHER GAINS OR LOSS, NET

10. Htt =S5 18 F

2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRT ARETR
(Restated)
(r=3%)
Fair value changes on financial assets & A /A BEFT A B
at fair value through profit or loss TRMEEAABEED (19,467) (85,373)
Gains/(loss) on disposals of property, HEW¥ - MEMRE KL
plant and equipment and right-of-use ~ fF & E# W (Fi8)
assets 121 (61)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B AR W &= - 13
Gain on disposal of an associate & — R E AR WS 822 —
Impairment loss of an associate R /NEID A ER=ES (3,261) (748)
Foreign exchange gains, net HNEE U 55 558 977 910
Impairment loss on property, plantand  #1% * BB &R EREE X
equipment - (64,827)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets  {# A & & BB B & - (30,146)
Others Hh 1,050 5
(19,758) (180,227)
Representing: =1
Continuing operations FECEET (19,758) (85,254)
Discontinued operation (Note 13) B4R E e 75 (M FE13) - (94,973)
(19,758) (180,227)
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B 75 g 2k BT £ (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

11. FINANCE COSTS, NET

1. BFIE R 23 88

=iAN
R B

2024 2023
—E-E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRT ARETR
(Restated)
(r=3%)
Finance income B WA
Interest income on bank balances RITHEBHF B YA 343 729
Others Hh 252 443
595 1172
Finance costs B %% BR A
Interest expenses on bank and other ~ $R1T R EMEE R B X
borrowings (4,572) (17,739)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBEMNERAX (1,591) (6,882)
Others EAh (852) 98)
(7,015) (24,719)
Finance costs, net BF 7S RN 5 BE (6,420) (23,547)
Representing: =K
Continuing operations REREET (1,271) (693)
Discontinued operation (note 13) Bk a8 2 7 (Y 5E13) (5,149) (22,854)
(6,420) (03,547)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

12.

160

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

12. iSHER

2024 2023
—E-NE —E =5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AREET T
(Restated)
(&=&E5)
Current income tax BN HA P 15 7
— Income tax for the current year — RERER — =
— (Under)/over provision in prior years — @EEE (EBETR),/
BEE (68) 5,407
(68) 5,407
Deferred tax (Note 31) i A€ 76 18 (Bt 5E31) (11,994) (10,092)
(12,062) (4,685)

The Cayman Islands and The British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI”) Income Tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the
“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was
gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group
entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

12. FREHEAE)

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

©

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

In respect of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries, the PRC EIT
was provided for at a tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the
estimated assessable profits, except for:

(i

)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Qianhai
Huanjing is subject to an applicable tax rate of 15% in
2024, as it was established in Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong
Kong Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone of
Shenzhen and it meets the requirements set out by
local authorities for the preferential tax rate.

Huoerguosi Meimai Technology Co., Ltd (‘Huoerguosi
Meimai”) qualified as Newly Founded Enterprises
within the Special Economic Development Zone under
the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. Pursuant
to the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations, these
companies are entitled to a five-year EIT exemption
period, commencing from the first tax year which
the first profitable operations is recorded. As a result,
Huoerguosi Meimai was exempt from the PRC EIT for
the five years ended 31 December 2020 to 2024.

Shanghai Zhuiman Huyu Technology Company
Limited (“Shanghai Zhuiman”) qualified as a Software
Enterprise under the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. Accordingly, Shanghai Zhuiman was
entitled to a two-year EIT exemption period for the
two years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, and a
three-year period with 50% reduction in the applicable
income tax rate (i.e. 12.5%) commencing in the year
ended 31 December 2022.

©

— = —

—_

FRIMGERASH(EXRAERD
AARBNTBENRERBME  F
B b X P 1S TR 1% (51 I AR A a8 7 /Y

25%

Z T = =F:25%) /Y Bt = B

- BATIRRERSN :

)

(i

(i)
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12.
©

162

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (continued)
(iv) Shanghai Zhangzhi Network Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Shanghai Zhangzhi”) qualified as a Software
Enterprise under the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations in 2023. Accordingly, Shanghai Zhangzhi
was entitled to a two-year EIT exemption period for the
two years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, and a
three-year period with 50% reduction in the applicable
income tax rate (i.e. 12.5%) commencing in the year
ended 31 December 2025.

On 26 March 2023, the State Tax Bureau of the PRC
issued the Public Notice [2023] No. 7, announcing that the
enterprises engaging in research and development activities
are entitled to claim 200% of their research and development
expenses incurred as tax deductible expenses in determining
tax assessable profits from 2023 onwards. Certain qualified
subsidiaries of the Group have claimed such super deduction
in ascertaining their tax assessable profits/(losses) for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in the PRC to
a foreign investor with respect to profits derived on or after 1
January 2018 are generally subject to the PRC WHT at a tax
rate of 10%. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets certain conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant tax rate of the PRC WHT will be reduced
from 10% to 5%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(©)

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory
tax rate applicable to losses of the consolidated entities as

12. FREHEAE)

© HFEECEAEHIEEMRES])
(%)
WA BER PSR E B E R
R BREEEREBEMERNX
ERXFAERHNERSENER

follows: R
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Total
BESEER BRIEEEEE @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE-NME -—T--F ZE-_NE -T--E ZF-NE -—T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AR¥Trn AR%®Tn AR%Tn ARETR
(Restated) (Restated)
(m&5) (mE5)
(Loss)/profit before income BREEHA(ER)/
fax ekl (63,369) 7906 1275 (148115) (62,094  (140,209)
Tax calculated at statutory income 1% i & & AT/ #
tax rates applicable HEHERNTE
Tax calculated at PRC statutory 1R EIEEHi %
fax ate of 25% GRS EHBIE (15842 1977 39 @029 (15523) (35059
Tax effect of expenses not TAMBREX 2B
deductible for tax purpose it % 121 126 - - 121 126
Tax effect of income not taxable for - BB U A 2 B
tax purpose A - (372) - - - (372)
Under/(over) provision in respect of  BAFEBERE /
prior years (RBREE) 68 (5,407) - - 68 (5,407)
Tax effect of tax losses not RAERRBERZ
recognised BBy 42,875 53,410 - 040 42875 89450
Utlisation of tax losses previously I 2 BT A
not recognised BuBEE 5980 (26879 (319) - 6,299  (26879)
Effect of preferentialincome tax % B E THBAR
benefits granted to certain BEREHNR
subsidiaries il % (646) (10611) - - (646) (10,611)
Effect of additional deductionfor ~ EESMEMH EAF X
research and development L8
eXpenses (8,076) (11,250) - = (8,076) (11,250)
Remeasurement of deferred tax ~ REAHZXEFH 2
resulting from a change in B ERT
applicable tax rate HE - 10,794 - - - 10,794
Effect of different tax rates of WEARREAMR
subsidiaries operating in other EREERLERT
jurisdictions A% F2 (458) (7103) - 989 (458) (6,114)
Income tax expense FiEHER 12,062 4,685 - - 12,062 4,685
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 13. ERIEREXK
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after (charging)/ REBEBFANEBEE RGO, FTA
crediting the following: THIEBEEE:
2024 2023
—E s —E =&
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TR

Loss from discontinued operation ERIECEETEEE (8,167) (148,115)
Gain on disposal of discontinued HEDKRIELEEB W=
operation (note 36) (K$5E36) 9,442 —
Profit/(loss) for the period from REDKRIELEEBTH
discontinued operation HREF(&8) 1,275 (148,115)
On 28 March 2024, the Group entered into an equity transfer R-E-_WNMF=ZA-+N\H &
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of the B — 2B E= eI )M
entire equity interests in Shanghai Lingsu Network Technology HEWE DEARFEEZEW
Co., Ltd. (“‘Shanghai Lingsu”), an indirect wholly-owned BRI LB AZHEBEEBERAA
subsidiary of the Company that carried out the Group’s (EERZEDREAEBEFER
cloud computing and related services at a consideration HERB W HRE REAA
of RMB14,850,000. The disposal was completed on 11 R ¥14,850,0007T - HEFHE K=
April 2024 on which date control of Shanghai Lingsu and TMOFEMA+—HAEK " BB L
its subsidiaries passed to the acquirer. The Group’s major BEERRNEWNBARMESIEES
line of cloud computing and related services is treated as B - AEENEFFERBBARE
discontinued operation. NEREBZHERERERIKLEETR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE WM (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 13.
(continued)

The results of the major line of cloud computing and
related services in the PRC for the period from 1 January
2024 to 11 April 2024, which have been included in the
condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, were as follows:

ERILEREER(E

B-F-_mF-A-HEE"%
—mEmA+— BB BHA
MR A 25 B H A 2 M R A
MEEFEREBARENERER
BN

2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREET T
Revenue Wz 31,482 142,786
Cost of revenue W 75 B AR (33,319) (159,931)
Gross loss E 7 (1,837) (17145)
Research and development expenses  fff 2 i X2 — (94)
Administrative expenses TERAX (1,183) (12,875)
Net provision of impairment losses BHEEBHBERAET
on financial assets under expected SREERBERBREEFE
credit loss model 4) (204)
Other income E AUz A 6 30
Other gains or loss, net Hoh Uy 25 ok B 1B UF RE - (94,973)
Operating loss KB 1E (3,018) (125,261)
Finance income 5 75 A - 59
Finance costs B 755 B AR (5,149) (22,913)
Finance costs, net BTG K AN R B (5,149) (22,854)
Loss before income tax BRFTS T ATE 1B (8,167) (148,115)
Income tax expense FriS MMz — —
Loss from discontinued operation BERIEREEIEEE (8,167) (148,115)
Net cash inflow from operating activities #& & & B3R &R A F 5 44,207 106,662
Net cash outflow used in investing HEEBMARS RN FRE
activities - (9,933)
Net cash outflow used in financing BMEEBSMARESME
activities R (44,239) (97,484)
Net cash used in the subsidiary WEBARFTARE F5 (32) (755)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

14. EXPENSES BY NATURE

14, REES DI

2024 2023
—E-E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRT ARETR
(Restated)
(fe &%)
Continuing operations FEREEL
Amortisation of intangible assets EmTEEEH 366 2,093
Auditors’ remuneration % SR B &
— Audit services — FBET AR 3,100 3,465
— Audit-related services — B EERY 430 430
Bandwidth and server custody fees HTERREHRTESE 11,486 25,926
Channel service fee and cost of REREERREKA
licensing 46,490 9,254
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERRBITE
equipment 6,965 9,119
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 7,347 18,806
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAXZ 125,413 175,094
Outsourced technical service fees SNE T AR T B 51,592 44,062
Other professional consulting fees HEXERE 8,531 8,939
Promotion and advertising expenses ~ HE M E &M 63,883 49102
Short-term lease expenses HHREERY 1,906 2,487
Travelling and entertainment expenses = ik X HF & 4,447 7102
Tax and levies MIEREE 996 3,330
Utilities and office expenses NAEERBAERY 2,262 2,850
Others EAh 333 418
335,547 362,477
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z T -_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 15. EERBESTHRAE

EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND MEREZRS H M
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 4=

EENERITBRAEMS
REBEEREMRRREFBQRGED
BREZEERRERTHRABNFER

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong

Kong Company Ordinance, is as follows: T
2024
—E-mE
Social
insurances,
housing
provident Pension
funds and costs
other  — defined
employee contribution Bonus
Name of directors Fees Salaries benefits cost interest Total
HERE &
EELAEE BASHAE
NREMH - REMK
Esty we ¢ EEEAN RA  RANE - H)
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR AR¥Tn AR%TR AR%Tn
Executive directors/ BiTEE/
Chief Executive Officer: THAH:
Meng Shug LER - 1,831 14 53 - 1,898
Li Zhengquan (note | ZIE2 (K3 - 1,000 99 47 - 1,146
Yang Cheng B - 1,049 65 71 - 1,185
Peng Cheng (note i 12 (Wi - 480 17 18 - 515
Liu Zhizhen (note iii 2075 4 (Bt Zii) - 1,198 60 65 - 1,323
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Xue Jun HE 278 - - - - 278
Li Yiging BRE 185 - - - - 185
Lui Chi Ho BER 185 - - - - 185
648 5,558 255 254 - 6,715

—ZF Z P94 7R Annual Report 2024 167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

A B ERERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

EERBETHRAE
e Rk AERS 5 MW

15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS AND

15.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES E& (&)
(continued)
(@  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) @ EFEkZETBRAEME(E)
2023
“E-CF
Social
insurances,
housing
provident Pension
funds and Costs
other  — defined
employee  contribution Bonus
Name of directors Fees Salaries " t?eneﬁts cost interest Total
HERE -
EEAEE RAEHE
i ‘ X Mgﬁ{tﬁt - REEH § \
BEfA ok ¢  ESRA VAR @i
RVBOOO ~ RMB00O  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBIOOO  RMBOOO
ARETT ARETT AREBTE ARETn ARBTR ARETR
Executive directors/ HiTEs/
Chief Executive Officer: THE
Meng Shug aEy - 718 15 51 - 784
Li Zhengquan (note | FIE 2 (f &) - 804 101 46 - 951
Yang Cheng 1 - 1,048 7 68 - 1191
Peng Cheng (note i) & (W aki) - 2,376 75 68 6,355 8,874
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors:
Xue Jun HE 272 - - - - 272
Li Yiging Bing 181 - - - - 181
Lui ChiHo AR 181 = = = = 181
634 4,946 266 233 6,355 12,434
Notes: B =
0] Mr. Li Zhengquan resigned as the Company’s executive director on 26 i) FERAEER_ZT-_RF—A=+/"H
January 2025. BEARRMITES -

168

(i) Mr. Peng Cheng resigned as the Company’s executive director on 8
March 2024 and was appointed as the Company’s executive director on

8 March 2023.

(iii) Mr. Liu Zhizhen was appointed as the Company’s chief executive officer
on 8 March 2024 and was appointed as the Company’s executive
director on 26 January 2025.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year.
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AT RR N T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

-+ = W=/ =
15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 15 EERBEHTHRAS
= = %t
EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS AND ek ZE&S MW
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EE(E&E)
(continued)
(o)  Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements (b)) BEZENX5 THHAHFEK
or contracts =
No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts AARIMEII L RBE_T_MF
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was T A=+ ALFEMNFRIE
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material FRARRATFEEBASEEEHNE
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of HMEARS REEREH - MARQ
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: AESRETPEEXBEEEEEXR
nil). Bm(CTE_=F M)
©)  Five highest paid employees © TEE=FHMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year ARAIRFANEE RS S HEES
included 2 directors and 1 chief executive officer (2023: 1 BIE2AESRIZTRER(CE
directors) whose remuneration are set out in note 15(a) above. TEFIRESR) EEFEMEN L
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining 2 KT EE15() © B T2R(ZTE =4 :
(2023: 4) highest paid employees who are not a director or a AZ)IEARRAREEFHITHAEEH A &
chief executive officer of the Company are as follows: ST MEEFANEMFBERT
2024 2023
—S-E —E-_=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARS®TRT ARETR
Wages and salaries I8 %< 1,972 1,970
Discretionary bonus 15 EAT — 25,251
Social insurances, housing provident (&R - EFEAE SN K&
funds and other employee benefits Hibg BRF 112 272
Pension costs — defined contribution  RBIKE KA — FE K ET 2
plans 115 299
2,199 27,792

No emolument was paid by the Company or the companies
comprising the Group to the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join the Company or the companies
comprising the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

— = —

—_

REE_ZE_NFRER_ZE_=F
+ZA=+—HLEFEAR  ARQ7A
HEKAEBNARBERN TR R
SHMALTZANTABESESMA
PiN/NEETIE 20 NS E IO RNGST B: g=45)
SIERBERAE -
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A B ERERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(continued)

Five highest paid employees (continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors or chief executive officer of Company and whose
remuneration falls within the following bands:

15. EERESITHRAER
MeEkABHS 5
EE(E)

© hEE=FHHEESE)

MeaENFUATHENIEARRES
HITHRAER &= H ESHNASm
e

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=4F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £1,500,000/% 7T 2 =
7,500,0017% 7T £8,000,000/% 7T - 4

HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000

16. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2023: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

17. BREE

SREKNEE

HE T -_NER-_T-_=ZF+=
B=+—BUHFESKRERNEER
FRAARREEAEMGEEBRER

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 is calculated based on the loss attributable
to the owners of the Company and the weighted average

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated TEARIMETIEGAERT
as follows:
2024 2023
—EC-NEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARET
(Restated)
€=
Loss attributable to owners of the RATHEANEGES:
Company:
— Continuing operations — FELEER (74,728) 1,654
— Discontinued operation — ERIEEEER 1,275 (148,115
— Continuing and discontinued — FELERERIEEEER
operations (73,453) (146,461)
2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
’000 ‘000
T Bz T %
Weighted average number of ordinary #HZEZ+_-_A=+—HItFEHN
shares for the year ended I3 AR N #E 35 &R
31 December 2,574,268 2,574,268
Basic loss per share (RMB) BREANEEBARET)
— Continuing and discontinued — FELERERIEEEER
operations (0.0285) (0.0569)
— Continuing operations — BEREETS (0.0290) 0.0006
— Discontinued operation — ERIEREHED 0.0005 (0.0575)
Diluted loss per share EREEEE

The diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share,
as the Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary

HRARREE T -_NMFER T
=+ -_A=t+-BHBUIFETE

sharing for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. FRMEEBEEHELELBR &

BEEBEENERELNESE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

172

18. 1% - MEKXRE

EQUIPMENT
Servers  Furniture and
and other leasehold
Buildings equipment  improvements Vehicles Total
REHRk HAREE
EF Hit R NEEE "E @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Cost KA
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F—F—H - 472,102 8,274 1,514 481,890
Additions NE 8,176 4,022 1,692 - 13,890
Disposals e = (11,682) (1,829) = (13,511)
Exchange realignment EHAR - 10 7 - 17
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+-A=+—H
1 January 2024 RZE-NE-A—H 8,176 464,452 8,144 1,514 482,286
Additions NE 16,178 207 21 - 16,406
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - (422,653) - - (422,659)
Disposals e - (1,381) (414) - (1,795)
Exchange realignment R AR - 161 3 - 164
At 31 December 2024 RZB-NE+=A=+—H 24,354 40,786 7,754 1,514 74,408
Accumulated depreciationand 3t T E R HE
impairment
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F—-F—H - 118418 7342 940 126,700
Charge for the year FRYH 360 88,302 541 160 89,363
Disposals LE = (11,087) (1,794) = (12,881)
Impairment AL - 64,827 - - 64,827
Exchange realignment X A% - 121 3 - 124
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+-A=t—-H
1 January 2024 RZE-lE-A—H 360 260,581 6,092 1,100 268,133
Charge for the year FALH 1,140 21,380 1,223 94 23,837
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - (250,538) - - (250,538)
Disposals hE - (935) (195) - (1,130)
Exchange realignment fE 5 - (40) ®) - 43)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+=A=+—H 1,500 30,448 717 1,194 40,259
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-NFE+=RA=+-H 22,854 10,338 637 320 34,149
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+-A=+-H 7816 203,871 2,052 44 214,153
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

—_

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 18. ¥ - MEN®Z®
EQUIPMENT (continued) (&)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been '«F@% BMELZREITECBHREGHE
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as mac R - AT
follows:
2024 2023
B mEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Cost of revenue W &8 B AR 19,288 85,943
Research and development expenses  fiff 2 i X2 1,871 1,318
Administrative expenses THRAX 2,678 2,101
Selling expenses HEE A - 1
23,837 89,363
2024 2023
—E-ME =%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETET
Representing: 75'5 :
— Continuing operations FELEER 6,965 9,119
— Discontinued operation — ERIEREHER 16,872 80,244
23,837 89,363
As at 31 December 2024, no services and other equipment RZE-_WE+=—A=+—8" 1
were pledged as collateral. As at 31 December 2023, the = iR 75 25 &Efﬂ SEEERIERE
Group’s services and other equipment of RMB202,979,000 AR RZEZ=F+H=+—
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings of H - K& E A K #202,979,0007T &
RMB181,003,000. Rk EMRBEERIEREAE
A R #181,003,0007T # f& & #) 3K
e
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s building of RZZEZWMFF+=—A=+—H =K
RMB7,423,000 (2023: RMB7,816,000) were pledged as £/ ARET7423000T(ZTE=_=F:
collateral for the Group’s bank borrowing of RMB15,000,000 AR #7,816,0007T) Wi FE & #H1E
(2023: RMB40,000,000) A7 &£ B A R #15,000,0005T (= &
= =4 : A R#40,000,0007T) # R
TEENEFR -
— T 173
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

174

19. B EE

Game
copyrights
and
intellectual
property Computer
license software
Goodwill contracts licenses Domain name Total
BRRER
ASER  BMEH .
G FUEH Sk A @t
RMBIOO ~ RMB000  RMB0OO0  RMBOO0  RMBO00O
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost BA
At 1 January 2023 W-B-=%-f-H 624,183 10,101 7333 3,253 644,870
Additions NE - - 128 - 128
Disposals e - (@12 - - (@12)
Exchange realignment BB - 35 - - 35
31 December 2023 and —E-=F+-F=+-Bk
1 January 2024 —E-mE—F-F 624,183 0,724 7461 3253 644,621
Additions RE - - 28 - 28
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-mE+-F=t+-A 624,183 9,724 7,489 3,253 644,649
Accumulated amortisationand ~ Eit B # kA E
impairment
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=£-f—0 - 8,418 7217 2,397 18,092
Charge for the year ERxi - 1720 48 3% 2,093
Disposals e - (#12) - - (1)
Exchange realignment B 3 _ ) — — )
31December 2023 and 1 January —Z-=£+-F=+-Hf
2024 —E-mE—F-F - 9,724 7325 2722 19,771
Charge for the year ERLH - - 4 325 366
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-mE+=f=+-H - 9,724 7,366 3,047 20,137
Carrying amount EEE
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-mE+-F=+-A 624,183 - 123 206 624,512
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-A=t+-H 624,183 - 136 531 624,850
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

19.

ERWEEE)

BERVEEHHECARABRARTR
(N

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT

Continuing operations FEREER
Cost of revenue W &5 B AR 325 2,067
Research and development expenses  fff 2 5 52 29 20
Administrative expenses TR 12 6
366 2,093

Impairment assessment of goodwill RERE A

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s CGUs (or group of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.

In prior years, the management considers groups of
subsidiaries operating in specific regions, i.e. Shenzhen
Subgroup and Shanghai Sub-group, represent the CGUs
for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the operation of Shanghai
Subgroup has been integrated into Shenzhen Sub-group and
the Group reorganised its reporting structure for the Group’s
development and distribution of web games and mobile
games in the PRC from two CGUs (i.e. Shenzhen Sub-group
and Shanghai Sub-group) to one CGU. Accordingly, for
the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the goodwill of
RMB624,183,000 arising from the acquisition of Osmanthus
Vale Holdings Limited and Shenzhen Qianqgi Network
Technology Co,. Ltd. was allocated to the CGU which
principally engaged in the development and distribution of
web games and mobile games in the PRC as a whole.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based
on the value in use calculations. The value in use calculations
are derived from the cash flow projections of the CGUs based
on the latest financial budgets approved by the management
covering a period of five years.

— = —

—_

PEBERENANE BEESEK
EB A ZER A G 15 R e H A
SESReELBEU(EASELE
BAAR) SESERHEMNELSK
BEVARNERABEEANERR
ENERBASRERBR R TRKR

RBATEFE B REANAM
T EEERABETHEEZLNN
BRR&EE BERITBEER L
BTBEE RREESELEM- B
EZE=F+A=1+—HLHF
B - EB8TEBEBEMERFARI
TEBEE mASEZGNPEFR
WEZRE - AMERSEEELED
FINTEEER LS TBERE) S
A—REBReEESEM - Bt 5t
25 ERFE M E - UL B Osmanthus
Vale Holdings Limited X % JIl F & 48
BREBAERAEANHEARKE
624,183,000t E BB HEZHE &
EBA ZReEABMNETERES
Bt EME MR R F el my

Be EE B R WO R IZ AT
BEMEREEEE ERHEEE
DREBEEEHEZ AFHEZ &
MM BRESENRESRERR
B/ -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

19.

176

(&)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

ERWEEE)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued) BRI E M (8)
Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for RZZE-_WMFEF+=—A=+—HE=
impairment review purpose as at 31 December 2024 and T _=F+=ZRA=+—H" &H
2023 their corresponding comparative information are as MTE%EE’JQEHFTEE’]IETEJ B
follows: NEMAELEREMNT
2024 2023
—EFoNmFE T
As at 31 December BR+=A=+—H
Terminal growth rate KABIE R & 2.0% 2.0%
Terminal net profit margin KA =K 23.6% 26.7%
Discount rate BRI = 19.8% 20.9%

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect market
assessments of the time value and the specific risks relating
to the industry. The budgeted growth rate and net profit
margins are determined by management based on past
performance and its expectation for market development.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group appointed
STEAM Valuation Advisory Limited (2023: the same),
independent professional qualified valuers, to assist the
management on carrying out relevant assessment works.

Any change in the assumptions selected by management
could materially affect the value in use calculations used in the
impairment testing and therefore may result in an impairment
charge to profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the impairment
assessments result in headroom of not less than 5% over
the carrying amounts of group of assets that generated cash
infows and management, based on the sensitivity analysis
performed, is not aware of any reasonably possible changes
in a key assumption used that would cause a cash generating
unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AT RR N T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

20. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE

ASSETS

Disclosures of lease-related items:

20. HERFERAEEE

WEHEMBER:
2024 2023
—E-omE —E-=4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TR

At 31 December R+=—HA=+—H
— Leasehold land —HE T 32,580 33,272
— Leased business premises —HELEIGH 8,211 101,853
40,791 135,125
Lease commitments of short-term HEHEEMEE AR
leases 17 587
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of AEEBEHEREZ :tl Hﬂ > AT (1R 4%

the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows:

AUBBERSRE)WT

— Less than 1 year 5,972 90,834
— Between 1 and 2 years 2,734 47,603
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2,553

8,706 140,990
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE W R M (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

20. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE 20. HERGFERHEEE

ASSETS (continued) (#&)
2024 2023
—E-ME —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TRT ARETR
Year ended 31 December BEt+t-HA=1t—-RHLEE
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FHRHBEEZITES D
assets
— Leasehold land —HE LT 692 634
— Leased business premises —HEKLEIGm 23,204 97,628
23,896 98,262
Representing: =2
— Continuing operations —FELEER 7,347 18,806
— Discontinued operation —BRIFEEER 16,549 79,456
23,896 98,262
Lease interests HEF L
— from continuing operations —REFELEXEB 436 778
— from discontinued operation —REERIELEER 1,155 6,104
1,591 6,882
Expense relating to short-term leases R EHAEMNHAX
(included in administrative expense (FtATTB A R ER)
and research and development
expense)
— from continuing operations —REFELEXEB 1,906 2,487
— from discontinued operation —REBRIEEEER 53 405
1,959 2,892
Total cash outflow for leases HERESMLBE 32,547 92,167
Additions to right-of-use assets FREREERE 7,665 57,803
Disposal of a subsidiaries & KT B A R 71,928 —
Early termination of leases RERIEEE 6,180 6,101
Impairment loss VERIEN Rt - 30,146
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B 5 10

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=lPAN
R B

B 75 g 2k BT £ (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

20. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE

ASSETS (continued)

Leasehold land represented a land use right held under lease
for the period of 70 years from 2002 to 2072 located in the
PRC for the Group’s own use.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s right-of-use assets of
RMB32,580,000 (2023: RMB33,272,000) were pledged as
collateral for the Group’s bank borrowing of RMB15,000,000
(2023: RMB40,000,000).

For both years, the Group leases various business premises
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 to 3 years (2023: 1 to 3 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

20.

— = —

—_

HEREAEEE
(&)

MELMEAKRERE - HERE
RABEFEERN LT £AHR
B-EF_FEAE_FTL-FAR
HA706F -

RZFE-ZME+_A=+—8"

£ E A R#32,580,000c (=& =
& A R ¥33,272,0007T) By £ A
BEECEHHREALIEBRARE
15,000,000 (ZE = =F: AR¥
40,000,000) KR TTIE E AR G o

i

REZMF  AEEHETRKLES
FrErT %8 - AW E T HR A
EFIFE(ZE-_=F:1E35F)- M
ERRIBEBANSRBEETE
TEETRMEREIEN - B
& HARR N0 5T e 1 T JBEH EA PR AR R B
AEERBEHOEE YETEEH
AJo& HI TR HRBR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

21. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND

180

CONTROLLED STRUCTURED

ENTITIES

Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries and controlled
structured entities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as

21. FEHBE A
FlEBHTE

G &

=2

RZEBE_WNEFER T -_=F+_"H
=t B AEEFEWBRAX

follows: eGSR ERFEOT
Place of Percentage of
Principal incorporation/  Date of Issued and ownership interest/
country of registration incorporation/ paid up voting power/ Principal
Name operation and operation  establishment capital profit sharing activities
iRy, EREL/ BRERE/RER/
R IZHERR  ERREER  HUAE BRTRARRA BHAERDY IERH
2024 2023
ZEomE CTC=F
Directly held by the Company
ARRERKE
7Road Fun Limited The PRC The BVI 16-09-2017 US$t 100% 100%  Investment holdings
i EERAEE Tt B3 RARRK
ARTER
7Road Intemational Group Limited ~ The PRC The BVI 12-05-2016 USS1 100% 100%  Publication of onling
games
hE EERNEE CT-IF B3 BREREH
EA+ZA
QOsmanthus Vale Holdings Limited The PRC The BVI 27-06-2019 USS100 100% 100%  Investment holdings
il ZBRAEE ZE-N% 1007 RARR
~AZTtH
Indirectly held by the Company
ARABERE
TRoad HK Digital Limited The PRC Hong Kong 09-10-2017 HKS! 100% 100%  Investment holdings
BRALABAMERAT i Bk Ik 3 1T RARR
tANA
Qianha Huanjing® The PRC The PRC 12-07-2015 RMB269,320,000 100% 100%  Online game
development,
promotion and
management
IR A i hE _T-1f ARH REEHRE KR
tA+zA 269,320,007 kg%
Shenzhen 7Road® (Note g) The PRC The PRC 22-01-2008 RMB10,000,00 100% 100%  Online game
development,
promotion and
management
R FLREe (Hfta) i hEl it & )¢S ARE RRBERE KR
—AZfZH 100000007 RER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE WM (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

2. FEMBARIRZ &
HEBEER(E)

21. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED
ENTITIES (continued)

Place of Percentage of
Principal incorporation/  Date of Issued and ownership interest/
country of registration incorporation/ paid up voting power/ Principal

Name operation and operation  establishment capital profit sharing activities

gL/  ERHEL/ BRERE/RER/

tH IEREER EMRSER  HURH BRTRARRA BRAEEDY IERH

2024 2023
ZECQE CTCCE

Shenzhen Qianaj Network The PRC The PRC 28-11-2013 RMB26,000,000 100% 100%  Online game
Technology Co,, Ltd @ development,
(‘Shenzhen Qiangi’) promotion and
(R T FRENHERAR) management
(Note g

HMIMTAARNAERATT 98 i e ARK AREUR KR
(TRINT % )R ta) T=AZTN 260000007 kER

A

Huoerguosi 7Road Network The PRC The PRC 21-11-2015 RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Online game
Technology Co,, Ltd. development,
('Huoerguosi 7Road’) promotion and
(EBRAECAEBERE management
BRAF]) Note )

EBREELABBENRAERE bH hE _F-1f AEH REBERE HE
e t-A-tt 10,000,007 RER
(EBRHELRE])(a) A

TRoad International HK Limited The PRC Hong Kong 03-06-2016 USS1 100% 100%  Publication of online

games

FLAEER(BR)BRAT il B ZE-155A I BRBREMT

=H

TRoad Games Pte. Ltd. The PRC Singapore 21-06-2023 Singaporean 100% 100%  Publication of online

10,000 games
hE il ZEZZE {0000M T REBEEN
~RZt-A

Wuxi 7Road Technology Co,, Ltd*  The PRC The PRC 18-07-2019 RMB,034,846,300 100% 100%  Online game
(EHET AEREERA) development,

promotion and
management

ERFLNERRARAA Tl hE “ZhE AEH BEBERE HE

TATNR  1034846,3007 RER
Malus Viale Holdings Limited The PRC The BVI 21-12-2018 USS100 100% 100%  Investment holdings
i ZERAEE :;f—#\ﬁ: 100% 7 REZR
“T-H
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A B ERERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

21. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND FE r!ﬁ%@ﬂ K=
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED HliEBrER(E)
ENTITIES (continued)

Place of Percentage of
Principal incorporation/  Date of Issued and ownership interest/
country of registration incorporation/ paid up voting power/ Principal
Name operation and operation  establishment capital profit sharing activities
gL/  ERHEL/ BRERE/RER/
tH IEREER EMRSER  HURH BRTRARRA BRAEEDY IERH
2024 2023
ZECQE CTCCE
Shanghai Xinla® The PRC The PRC 06-01-2016 RMB501,000,000 100% 100%  Online game
(LEERPENEERAT) development,
promotion and
management
LEFRBENRERAT i hEl ZENE ARH RRBERE KR
—-R7A 501,000,007 kE®
Shanghai Lingsu Network The PRC The PRC 16-07-2018 RMB250,000,000 N/A 100%  Cloud computing
Technology Co, Lid. @ TER and other related
(LEERZBRNEERLR) services
LEEZRENBEARAAC i hEl “EN\E ARH BHRERBRY
At/ 250,000,007
Shanghai Xifeng Network The PRC The PRC 22-10-2018 RMB51,000,000 N/A 100%  Cloud business and
Technology Co, Ltd® TER other related
(LESRBENEERLR) services
LESRBERRARRAC hE hEl “EN\E ARH ERBSRERH
TA-t=H 51,000,007
Bejing Lingsu Network Technology ~ The PRC The PRC 21-08-2021 RMB1,000,000 N/A 100%  Cloud business and
Co, Ltd® TER other related
(FREZPENEBRAR) services
FREZBERRARLAC hE hEl 3 ARH BHRERBRY
NA=T+H 10000007
Wouxi Longshan 7Road Investment -~ The PRC The PRC 18-03-2020 RMB10,000,000 100% 80%  Investment holdings
Management Co,, Ltd. ®
(BEELLEREERAR
D)
ERRICEREERARDAS E hE ZEIEF N: RERR
=AtNA 100000007
Wuxi Qidao yuexiang Enterprise The PRC The PRC 21-07-2022 RMB26,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)®
(BHLERRLEERAY
tR(EREH))
ERCERECRERABLR  1H hE S AR 260000007 RERR
(BRA%)® tA=t-H
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

21. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND FE r!ﬁ%@ﬂ K=
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED HEBEER(E)
ENTITIES (continued)

Place of Percentage of
Principal incorporation/  Date of Issued and ownership interest/
country of registration incorporation/ paid up voting power/ Principal
Name operation and operation  establishment capital profit sharing activities
gL/ ERHEL/ BRERE/RER/
R IEREEx AMRSER  HUBH BRTRARRA BRAEEDY IERH
2024 2023
ZEIME CTCCE
Wuxi Qidao Yuedong Enterprise The PRC The PRC 25-08-2022 RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holdings
Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership) ®
(BELERDLEERAY
ER(EREH))
ERTERBOREEANLR ©E hE ZRCZE ARMB00000007 REZR
(BRa%) NRZT1H
Wuxi Qidao Longrui Enterprise The PRC The PRC 17-10-2022 RMB210,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holoings
Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership) ®
(BELERBLRERRY
ER(ERER))
ESTEREMRERARLE  1H hE S AR 2100000007 RERR
(BRAR)® TAT+E
Shanghai Znuiman Huyu The PRC The PRC 14-10-2016 RMB14,300,000 100% 100%  Mobile game
Technology Company Limited development and
(LEEE Ekﬂﬁ’ﬁﬁ’ﬂ) operation
HEBRTRNRARAT il hE “ERE ARE FREEREREE
+A+mA 14,300,007
Shanghai DDTank Mobile The PRC The PRC 06-09-2021 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Publication of online
Information Network Technology games
Co., Ltd®
(LEBBEBHEERER
HERAF)
LEBBEVHLERAREER TE i ZR-EAA ARI0000007T REBEES
Rae I
Shanghai Zhangzhi Network The PRC The PRC 18-08-2020 RMB1,000,000 51% 51%  Game development
Technology o, Ltd®
(LEZRARNBARAD)
LRE2RENRARAAS P & “RoEENA ARH10000007 BER%

t/H
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & EZ —E - E+ - A=+—HBItFE

21.

184

& MR R M ()

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND
CONTROLLED STRUCTURED
ENTITIES (continued)

4 The Company is established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in the
PRC.

@ The Company is a limited liability company in the PRC.

Note

(a) The Group does not have legal ownership in equity interests of these

subsidiaries, as the PRC regulations restrict foreign ownership of
companies that provide value-added technology services, which include
activities and services operated by the Group. In order to enable certain
foreign companies to make investments into the business of the Group,
the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Qianhai Huanjing, has
entered the Contractual Arrangements with Shenzhen 7Road and its
equity holders, which enable Qianhai Huanjing and the Group to control
the business under Shenzhen 7Road and its subsidiaries.

(b) The Group does not have non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group.
(c) During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no debt securities

have been issued by the Company’s principal subsidiaries.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To provide details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

B 75 g 2k BT £ (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

=JPAN
e

22. REFERRINRE

2024 2023

—E-mE —T-o=fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETR

Unlisted investment in PRC RABEMIELETIRE 25,922 25,103
Share of net losses DL EEFE (4,671) (3,002)
Impairment losses BEEE (10,430) (7,169)
10,821 14,932

2024 2023

—E-MEF e S 3

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREET T

At beginning of the year REH 14,932 16,265
Addition 0 1,347 3
Shares of results of associates DIEEE REEE (1,669) (588)
Impairment losses for the year FRREEE (3,261) (748)
Disposal & (528) -
At end of the year RER 10,821 14,932
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AN
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22.

186

B 755 R R B

(&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the Group’s major associates as at 31
December 2024 are as follows:

22. REAERNTINKRE

(&)

R-ZB_WF+-_A=+—B &
SEEFZBERRFBOT:

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of
registration paid up ownership interest/ Principal
Name and operation capital  voting power/profit sharing  activities
HRERL/ BRAR  RERES REE/
£ EftR S BRERE BHAEED TEEXR
2024 2023
“BRImE  -T-=F

Jiangsu Liehuo Software The PRC RMB5,100,000 34.00% 34.00%  Development of web-based
Technology Co., Ltd. games and mobile
(‘Jiangsu Liehuo’) (Note a) games

ILER RN R e A K #5,100,0007C REBRRFRBBRE
AR (IHAX])

(Kt &Fa)

Wuxi Jiucheng Second Hand Car ~ The PRC RMB14,199,150 4.76% 4.76%  Provision of second hand
Market Co., Ltd. car transactions related
(“Wuxi Jiucheng”)(Note b) service

EHDH_FERFTEER  HE AR #14,199,1507C RE-FEXHRBRE
RAI(EGIH])(H5Th)

Sichuan Lingli Yingcai The PRC RMB2,650,000 N/A 30%  Production and sales of
Technology Co., Ltd semiconductor crucible

grade quartz equipment

M AREMERBEERRE  HE AR #2,650,0007C TEA TERRARHBRAEL
(IR ) ERE

Notes: B 5%
(@) Jiangsu Liehuo was established in the PRC on 29 January 2021 and is (@) IHNAN-_BE_—F—F-_+NBHE

principally engaged in the development of web-based games and mobile
games. The Group injected capital of RMB5,100,000, which represents
34% equity interest, into Jiangsu Liehuo in March 2021.

(b) On 14 January 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to acquired
4.76% equity interest in Wuxi Jiucheng with a cash consideration of
RMB?20,000,000. According to the shareholders agreement between the
Group and other shareholders of Wuxi Jiucheng, the Group has a right to
appoint one out of five directors of Wuxi Jiucheng. Therefore, the Group
is able to exercise significant influence over Wuxi Jiucheng. Accordingly,
the investment was accounted for as interest in an associate.
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R R AR

FERERKY FEREPAEERRFTH
PEERHE AEER-_ZT=_—F= AR
TLERZLAOE & A R ¥5,100,0007T (18 &
MB4% AR HE) -

RZE-_—F—-—A+HTB - A5H
AY—himaE WEEREBARE
20,000,0007T 4 & £ £5 2K 5 4.76% &Y AR
o REBEAEEREGARYAEMBRE
MRRG#E AEBEREZTEHR
ﬁﬁ%§$¢mﬁ¢—%cﬁ%'$%
E e Y BRI INE KT
bt ZEREARY AR —
AIMER ©

e Hﬁﬁ%ﬁ A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AT RR N T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of
the amounts of all individually immaterial associates that are

22. REFERRINRE
(#&)

TREZRTASE D KA EHR
FERBERARERUEMER IR

accounted for using the equity method. %E) -
2024 2023
11 2 T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
At 31 December: R+=—RA=+—8:
Carrying amounts of interests = REE 10,821 14,932
Year ended 31 December: BE+=-HA=t—8:
Loss for the year FHEE 1,669 588
Other comprehensive expense Hth2EMAX - —
Total comprehensive expense THRXERE 1,669 588
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. ESEWRKIE
2024 2023
—E-ME T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®EF T
Trade receivables B 5 WA 131,521 209,377
Provision for loss allowance FHIEEERE (62,930) (40,123)
Carrying amount BRmEE 68,591 169,254
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RE W R M (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. ES WA (E)

AREBEREHEF R HI0E120KHE
A - ERBTEMERBAHZ
SR E 5 RWGRIA Z Rk AT T

The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 120 days to
its customers. The ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the dates of delivery of goods and
services is as follows:

188

2024 2023

—FoWmFE  ZT-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARET T

Within 3 months 3fE A A 38,993 44,377
3 to 6 months 3E61E A 1,756 19,128
6 months to 1 year 6fE A =14 1,805 17,878
1 to 2 years 1FE2F 2,049 82,216
Over 2 years 26 LA | 86,918 45778
131,521 209,377

Details of the impairment assessment of trade receivables are

disclosed in Note 5 (c)(ii).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
e BEmRMN T (E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 24. ENRERH M ER

RECEIVABLES

= 15

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFR ARETR
Included in non-current assets SFAERBEE
Prepayments for investments | & B IR - 20,000
Rental deposits HE Ze - 14,933
— 34,933
Included in current assets ARBEE
Loans to third parties ME=FRENER 6,610 6,497
Loan to a related party M A B 5 IR (D B 3K 2,580 3,509
Loans to employee BEEX 1,264 1,496
Prepayments for advertisement and &5 K HE B TR RE
marketing 127 241
Prepayments for advisory services B8 [ AR 7% TR 15 3k IR 10,223 10,230
Prepayments for copyright loyalty H 4 57 7] B TR 3K IE 705 19,740
Prepayments to game developers TR 15 Bk 38 P RKIE 4,561 4,545
Prepayments for technology services — #4il7 AR 745 78 1+ 5% 3B (K 7t a)
(Note a) 22,585 30,729
Receivable from refund for undelivered 7k 22 15 % i AR 75 & W3R 7k
technology services and copyright KRR &
loyalty 7,596 7,596
Recoverable value-added tax (Note b) 2 {& 1 3R 7 (Fft 55 b) 24,000 48,902
Receivable from disposal of financial HEZRAABEFAEBERZN
assets of fair value through R E E WK
profit or loss 45,000 =
Others Hh 6,993 10,611
132,244 144,096
Less: provision for impairment W R B (37,235) (34,912)
95,009 109,184

Note: B &E -

(@) In February 2018, the Group entered into a technology service agreement (@) RZZE—\F_A A5EEE—FBHIL
with an independent third-party service provider of the Group in relation FE=F R EE T LR RB
to develop mobile games according to the Group’s instructions, and NAEMBBERNEEIERAEFHE
the relevant agreement was included in the prepayments for technology B - ABRA B RS A BT AR S TR R o
service. However, due to the service provider significant delay in the A AR HEREERERR
game product delivery schedule, the management is of the opinion MNERRIFAEREAER E2E
that the recoverability of these prepayments through delivery of game RAEEFBXNERE QKD ZEEN
product are uncertain. Accordingly, impairment on these prepayments of HEMAEETTHEE Bt %%
RMB22,165,000 (2023: RMB22,165,000) were fully provided in prior year. T FIE AR E A K #22,165,0007T (=

T - =4F: A R#22165,00070) E R B
TFEEBHTIREE -
(b) Including the VAT refund receivables and amount of VAT tax credit under (o) BEREHERBANREZKRKE

WO ER R R IEEREREE S

H {th jE Ug 3k I8 R (B B B AR B R MY A
5(c)(ii) # 5& °

the preferential policy of immediate refund for software products.

Details of the impairment assessment of other receivables are
disclosed in Note 5(c)(ii).
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A B ERERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25. RARBEFARR
HEemEE

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®BTRT AR®TRT

Non-current IR B
Listed shares and unlisted equity B AR &
investments in the PRC (Note a) FELEMARERE (Miska) 263,693 315,212
Unlisted limited partnerships in the REFELETMAERERDE
PRC (Note b) (MI3EDb) 545,757 549,231
809,450 864,443
Current B
Listed shares in Hong Kong (Note ¢) BB EmRMD (e 18,603 19,729
Total sEt 828,053 884,172
Notes 1 7E
(@) Listed equity shares and unlisted equity investments in the PRC (@) FEEMRMDRIELETRERE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 1 listed equity shares in the
PRC (2023: 1) and 7 unlisted equity investments in the PRC (2023: 8). The
Group’s major listed equity shares and unlisted equity investments are
described as below:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group invested
RMB40 million to acquire 16.67% equity interests in a company
engaged in provision of the equipment and technology of
Internet data centre (“IDC”) liquid cooling and IDC services. The
Group classified the investment as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

190 7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AT RR N T ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &=~ - E+ - A=+—HBItFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

Notes (continued)

(il

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
into an agreement to purchase the convertible debt instrument
issued by a company principally engaged in cloud-related
business and IDC related business at a cash consideration of
RMBG60 million. The principal and interest of the convertible
debt instrument shall be repayable within 3 years unless
the Group choose to convert it into equity investment at the
price pre-determined in the agreement. The convertible debt
instrument carried interest at 8%. The Group classified the
convertible debt instrument as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group invested
RMB122 million to acquire 0.5317% equity interests in Nanjing
Lingxing. The Group classified the investment as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss.

Unlisted limited partnerships in the PRC

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 6 unlisted limited partnership
in the PRC (2023: 5). The Group’s major unlisted limited partnerships are
described as below:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group invested
two limited partnerships established in the PRC with a total
capital commitment of RMB380 million. The principal asset
held by these two limited partnerships are the investment in
Shanghai Advanced Silicon Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Silicon”), a company established under the laws of the PRC.
Shanghai Silicon is principally engaged in the manufacture of
large-scale semiconductor silicon chips in the PRC. As at 31
December 2024, the Group effectively held 2.0% equity interests
in Shanghai Silicon (2023: 2.2%) through these two limited
partnerships. The Group is acting as a limited partner and does
not have control, joint control or significant influence over these
limited partnerships. Accordingly, the investments in these two
limited partnerships are accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss.

— = —

—_

BARBEEFTAERER
NE/EEGE)

& ()

(ii) HEZT-_=F+=-RA=+—
BIEFE AEEFT 1% -
NIREREBARKECORE TE
E—HRARETHABRREY
THE ZARFEREEZRHS
¥ MIDCHEBE XS - ATk
BEBEIANATSRAEAR=
FREER  BRIEASEIREZER
HEAELAEENEREHE
HBARERE - IRRES
T HE8% a8 REE K A]
BREBIESBEARIRANE
Bt ABEZNemEE -

(iii) BHE-_ZT-_MF+=-_RA=+—
BHEFE AEEREAR
#1208 & T LA BB B RS AT
0.5317% &Y iR # ° 7N & B A% %
BRESBERAEARBETA
BamemiE -

) TREELETERABEE

R-ZE-_WFE+-A=+—0 A%
RPBEBARELTARAEBLE (S
T_=F:5/M) - AEBMEEHELEN
BREBEESHMMOT

i) BE-T-=F+=-RA=+—
AIEFE AEEEEMER
FEKIMEREBELE &
RAEWE L EE R A RE3808E &
T ZMEABRAEELERR
NEBEEANLEBYEE
EBROBRAR(LER®])
MIRE - ZARREFB AR
B o BB EERPER
EARBEBRYANEE -
R=ZE-_mWFE+=—A=+—8"
AEEEBZWNEBRE B D
XEREA LFBY2.0%KIE
(ZE=_=F:22%) - A5 HE
%E@A%A %&ﬁﬁ@A

BEWEEE - LRES
%iéﬁ%%t I% ESEA
MEAREBEENRE ALK
IER AR BEMABENS
MAEE -
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B 75 g 2k B 7E (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ—Z —F+—-_A=+—HILtFE

4T A

N

25. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

192

(continued)

Notes (continued)

(®)

(continued)

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
invested RMB13.5 million and RMB105 million respectively in
another two limited partnerships established in the PRC. The
principal asset held by these two limited partnerships is an
investment in a company principally engaged in operating a
smart travel platform in the PRC. The Group is acting as a limited
partner and does not have control, joint control or significant
influence over these two limited partnerships. Accordingly, the
investment in these two limited partnerships is accounted for as
a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Listed shares in Hong Kong

The balance represents the Group’s investment in various equity
securities listed in Hong Kong stock markets.

Details of the movement of financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss are disclosed in Note 6(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
RE WM (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. RERBEEEEYR

AND RESTRICTED CASH AND TRERAEREHRF
SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS S
Cash and cash equivalents @ BehkBEcEEYD
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR®TR

Cash at bank and on hand RITAFHRIRS 52,472 42,600
Cash at other financial institutions HEMem#iERe 8,181 5,488
60,653 48,088
Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on daily RITHEBRENERESARITER
bank deposit rates. The conversion of the RMB denominated MEZZEMNEGGE - KRPETF
bank balances maintained in the PRC into foreign currencies WA RBETERITERLBREBIN
is subject to the laws and regulations of foreign exchange W 78 38 <7 R B IR A8 4 B SN BE A
control promulgated by the PRC government. ERRIER o
Restricted cash and short-term deposits ) XBRHBESEEHEER
2024 2023
—E-mE —E_=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT AR®TT

Non-current 3k B &7
Restricted deposits (Note a) = PR 17 K (f 5Ea) 140 140
Current BN HA
Restricted dividend payable account 5 R il F& 1+ Iz B 5K 1 1
Short-term deposits (Note b) %2 HA 77 X (FfY 5% b) 14,377 —
14,378 1
Notes: B 5
(@) Restricted deposits represent government grants prepaid to the Group (@) ZRHFREEMN TFAEEL H R
and held by the banks in segregated accounts. The balances are LBIRPHENBNEE - 254
denominated in RMB and will be available for withdrawal when the Group BUAARBE  TERANEERET
fulfils all the obligations required by the government. BT E BT A B ERIREL o
(b) The short-term deposits are 7 days fixed deposit. (b) EHTERABTRESER -
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4= A

A B ERERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. ES R HMENFKIE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR%T
Trade payables B 5 IR 21,420 55,109
Payroll liabilities e IB= 22,543 30,826
Other tax payables H Ath fE 7% IR 5,276 8,362
Dividend payables JE AR B 1 1
Listing fee payable BN EmE A - 8,278
Government grants X JF 4 B 140 140
Accrued expenses i b 15,754 3,153
Others Hity 24 2,314
65,158 108,183

194

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on recognition

ENEZRNREARRBLENES

date of trade payables, is as follows: FERRIBRRER DT
2024 2023
—EWEF —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR
0 to 30 days 0E30XK 20,777 20,473
31 to 60 days 31ZE60K 25 909
61 to 90 days 61E290K 80 _
91 to 180 days 91£180K - 180
181 to 365 days 1812365K 6 12
Over 1 year B15F 532 33,535
21,420 55,109
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A B HRERNE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &=~ - E+ - A=+—HBItFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

28. RITR

Hittfg &

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFR  ARETR
Secured other borrowings ERHEMES
” e >3
— RMB loan (Note a) — ARBER (M Ea) - 181,003
Secured bank borrowings BERBRITEE
W LS 2 >
— RMB loan (Note b) — ARBER (M Eb) 15,000 40,000
Unsecured bank borrowing MIKIPIRITIEE
4 =3
— RMB loan (Note ¢) — ARBER(H Ee) — 10,000
15,000 231,003
Note: B 5
(@) The Group entered into various finance lease agreements with two (@) AEEERFEKZIAMRERET
companies established in the PRC with limited liability who are both ARRIARAEEBLE=FNHAKA]D
independent third parties of the Group (‘Lessors”), to transfer the AIVRERERZE UReRELRE
ownership and lease back of certain servers and other equipment of the A R #256,000,0007T #% 4 & B & T AR
Group at a cash consideration totalling RMB256,000,000 (the “Finance BEREMBENMAEEZEREME
Lease Agreements”). Pursuant to the Finance Lease Agreements, the (RMEREHED BEREHEER
ownership of certain servers and other equipment of the Group was EOAEBEETREREREMZED
transferred to the Lessors and the Group leased back those servers and FIEREEETLAA BEASEEAT
other equipment from the Lessors for a term of 48 months. At the end HAREZERBG SRR EMRE - A
of lease term, the Lessors, subject to the settlement of all outstanding HA4sEA - RAHERE - HEA
amounts due under the Finance Lease Agreements, agreed to transfer REEMEREMEHZE TEEHN
the ownership of those servers and other equipment to the Group at a REBHIER  RAENUARKICOTE
purchase price ranging from RMB100 to RMB10,000. A R ¥10,0007T 1) 88 B B 15 5% % R 7% 88
REMBENMEEESETAEER -
The Finance Lease Agreements were not accounted for as a sale in 1B 9% BB B 7 R 5 R R S5155% - @B
accordance with IFRS 15 since the Group is able to repurchase those HEMRETEREEAR  DHRA
servers and other equipment at a price which is significantly lower than SEENNEREREREBNERE
its original selling price; and the Finance Lease Agreements were not EZERBBEREMBZE EMEHE
accounted for as a sale and leaseback transaction in accordance with W &% R AR 15 B BR B 7% 3k &5 22 Bl S5165R
IFRS 16. Accordingly, the Finance Lease Agreements were accounted for EREEHERBZZAR - At - BE
as the Group’s borrowing in accordance with IFRS 9. BRET R EERFEON  MEATRER
FERAEENBEAR -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, The effective interest rate of BE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—H &
the other borrowings were ranged from 8.00% to 8.42% per annum. The fio g & &) B B F | X 5 F8.00% =
other borrowings were secured by the property, plant and equipment 8.42% - HMfEEUEEENAARE

with carrying amount of approximately RMB202,979,000 and trade
receivables of RMB15,192,000 and guaranteed by the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

202,979,0007T &) 1 3% - [k 5 & 5% & A
& B 5 W5k IE A R #15,192,0007T £

ERLRMARBRARBNE THEA

AR ER -

—Z = PU4F 7R Annual Report 2024 195



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

'_\_|
A7

& B % R M |

(&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

196

28. dR1ITK

Hie g & (&)

(continued)
Note: (continued) B & - (&)
(b) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group received a bank (b) BHE-_ZT-WF+-_A=1+—HILEFE -

borrowing of RMB15,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB40,000,000)
at an interest rate of 3.25% (31 December 2023: 3.80%) per annum.
The bank borrowing was secured by the Group’s property, plant and
equipment of RMB7,423,000 (31 December 2023: RMB7,816,000)
and right-of-use assets of RMB32,580,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB33,272,000) and guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Company, and

repayable within one year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group received a bank (c)
borrowing of RMB10,000,000 at an interest rate of 3.70% per annum. The
bank borrowing was unsecured and guaranteed by a subsidiary of the

Company, and repayable within one year.

ZISﬁ@u&ﬁuf&mﬁ%/\ﬁm&woooooo
T(ZEZ=F+-A=+—H: AR
#40,000,0007T) © 4F F E 58.25% (=
T-_=F+-A=+—H:3.80%) °
TEEHASENDE  BERZE
AR¥T7423000C (=2 ==F+=A
=+ —H:7816,0007T) £ A i#EE E
AR¥32,580,000(ZE==51+=A
=+—H8: AR #¥33,272,0007T) {E & #
WEARARB N —HHBRBREER
BAR—FNEE -

HEZ-_=F+"A=+—HILFE -
AN & B B 4§ — % A K #10,000,0007T #9
RITEE  FRER/B70% - ZRITHE
EEERTYHARAN—HIEAR

REHER

AN —FAEE -

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
The borrowings are repayable as BEEENT:
follows:
On demand or within one year BERFINR—FA 15,000 118,347
In the second to third years, inclusive S _FEZE=F (BREEEMF) - 73,994
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-FEFLFBREEEMS) - 38,662
15,000 231,003
Less: Amount due for repayment on 8l - 2 2 Sk B HA 87 58 K08
demand (shown under current GINARBRERT)
liabilities) (15,000) (118,347)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A 1& B H 45 E Y 5018
12 months - 112,656

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s bank and other borrowing appropriate to their fair

value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. EHNEE
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
R=-F-MF RZEZ=F RZEZ=F
+=—A=+—-8 +ZAHA=+—H —H—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®ET T AR¥ET T

Contract liabilities aHBaE 2,248 5,411 12,071
Advance from TR E P KIE

customers 2,228 7,386 9,637

Game copyrights 7 [Bf i 4 23,204 22,557 51,901

Game revenue derived KEEERAFE®N

from game players % B I 2= 27,680 35,354 73,609
Contract receivables AR FIR
(included in trade (FFAE S EIK
receivables) KIE) 68,591 169,254 368,329
2024 2023
—E-MEF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE AR®TR

Transaction prices allocated to PHRERFERRBITHED

performance obligations unsatisfied BEAENRSE N TE R

at end of year and expected to be NTHEERR AR :

recognised as revenue in:

— 2024 — —Z_pF N/A
TEA 35,354

— 2025 — —ZE_FhHF 27,680 =
27,680 35,354
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29.

198

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Year ended 31 December

20. EXHNEEE)

BE+-A=+-BILEE

2024 2023
ZE-MOF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Revenue recognised in the year that FTAFENE R ABERNFANER
was included in contract liabilities at W 2=
beginning of year
Advance from customers TR & P 5K IE 3,963 8,743
Game revenue derived from game PERiE AR of i S A€
players 22,557 51,901
26,520 60,644
Significant changes in contract FREVNEBENEREE:
liabilities during the year:
Increase due to operations in the year FAEEEEL N 40,948 136,587
Decrease due to disposal of ek =LY =N b
subsidiaries (1,370) -
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue 1% & #) & & 8 8 = I 25 (47,252) (174,842)

Contract liabilities primarily represent the unamortised
revenue derived from sale of in-game virtual items and
advance payments from third-party game publishers, to
which the Group continued to have obligations at the end of

the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

==
30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HEAE
Present value of
Lease payments Lease payments
HERE HEFERE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EoNF —To-F ZBINF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETIT AR TR AREBTT
Within 1 year 1 LA 5,972 90,834 5,772 87,420
1 to 2 years 1224 2,734 47,603 2,693 46,987
2 to 5 years 2F5 fF - 2,553 - 2,516
8,706 140,990 8,465 136,923
Less: Future finance charge R R B (241) (4,067)
Present value of lease liabilities HE B ERE 8,465 136,923
Less: Amount due for B 1218 A A I 2R
settlement within 12 months Y F’Efﬁ/i\ %8
(shown under current GIR R EaE
liabilities) ET) (5,772) (87,420)
Amount due for settlement 1218 A 12 B HI A9
after 12 months P & #8 2,693 49,503

At 31 December 2024, the average effective borrowing rate
was 3.60%-4.75% (2023: 3.85%-4.75%) per annum. Interest
rates are fixed at the contract dates and thus expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.

— = —

—_

R_ZFE-_WMF+-_A=+—H &
BR S 1 B F F E B3.60%4.75%
(ZET = =% : 3.85%-4.75%) ° #| =
TBPREXNBHET  RNSAEEE
EARBENERAR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

B 755 R R B

(&)

31. DEFERRED TAX 31. EEHIE
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as BEFMSHEERBENSTHT
follows:

2024 2023

—E_NEF T =F

RMB’000 RMB’OOO

AR¥ T AR®ET T

Deferred income tax assets EEFTEREE 27,522 39,541
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFMGSEHRAE (8,532) (8,349)

18,990 31,192

200

Movement of deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) for the

year is as follows:

BRFABHREE/(RRE)REFRH
ZET:

Fair value
change of  Undistributed
Contract financial profits of
liabilities ~ Impairments  Tax losses assets  subsidiaries Total
tHEE
MEE WEAE
2086 WE  HEER 28 AAEAE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 \_@_—ﬁ A-A 1,206 32872 2.1 (6,685) (8,230) 4,378
Chargetoprofitorloss (note 12~ ANEZ IR (I 5E12) (040) (3673) (14,438) 8259 - (10092)
Exchange realignment R = 30 = - (119) (89)
At 31 December 2023 and Bt A=1-H
1 January 2024 k=F-m¥-A-A 965 29229 [UE 1,574 (8,349) 31,192
Charge to profitor loss (note 12) Wﬁié?ﬂ%(ﬁﬁﬂ) (965) (5,499) (5,536) - - (11,994)
Exchange realignment B A% - (25) - - (183) (208)
At 31 December 2024 i3
tZA=t-H - 23,711 2,287 1,574 (8,532) 18,990

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax assets are
recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the
realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable
profits is probable. Based on management’s assessment,
the Group’s losses amounting to RMB217,986,000 (2023:
RMB160,632,000) is not considered probable to be utilised,
therefore the Group did not recognise relevant deferred
income tax assets amounting to RMB54,496,000 (2023:
RMB37,957,000) for these losses. These tax losses will expire

from year 2025 to 2029.

7Road Holdings Limited £+ X &

A

R~ 7]
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EFEHEERTIBEE4 Lﬁ
R AABHERATEEBARK
ERE &M ERERR - REE

BEFG A5ENEEABARE
217,986,000 c(ZE - =F: AR¥
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations,
withholding tax is imposed on dividends distributed in respect
of profits earned by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries when
actual payment of dividends is made. As at 31 December
2024, except for the deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB8,532,000(2023: RMB8,349,000), no withholding tax
had been provided for the retained earnings of approximately
RMB436,925,000 (2023: RMB395,970,000) that are expected
to be retained by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries and not
to be remitted to a foreign investor in the foreseeable future
based on several factors, including management’s estimation

of overseas funding requirements.

(&)

I 3iE i 1R (45)

BEMBTIFERBEERER £
:‘%Bfa%szﬁﬁﬁ,%ﬁﬁdm 7] A B B B
A EIBRE A5 F 2R BEBUFE I o
RZEBE-_WF+_A=+—H8 ' R
BEEEEEYHRINE B RKMET
EWM?LE.% B@Eﬁuu%LLﬁﬁ
SREAEARSS5320005m (=
iﬁ—_ﬁ A R #8,349,0007T) 4h
ZKEIIHEHEHEEE$ EILEEL
NEfRE BTN A 18 R AR K E
,%Aiﬂl\%xé%m{%"%ﬂ,‘O/\Eﬁ%
436,925,000 (T - =ZF A R#
395,970,0007T) #E B -

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. g2
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZEREAR ok
US$’000
FEx
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of Hﬁ T {50.000005 3% JT HY
USDO0.000005 each 8 {%
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 75’3: T _=F—H—H"
2023, 1 January 2024 and 31 :Ei_i‘i’ A=+—H"
December 2024 —FToAF-A—BRK
“ZE-WME+_-_A=+—H 10,000,000,000 50
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZEREAR ot
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
Issued and fully paid: BEETERHCE:
Ordinary shares of %H&LETEO.OOOO%% JCHY
USD0.000005 each 8 %
At 1 January 2023, 31 December Hé_ T-_=F—H—A8-
2023, 1 January 2024 and 31 :§:_¢+ A=+—H8"
December 2024 —FToEF-A—BARK
“TEWE+-_A=+—H  2,753,200,000 90

— = —

—_
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

32.

202

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities
disclosed in notes 28 and 30 respectively, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits
and other reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, the management considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z T -_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

33. OTHER RESERVES 33. Hftufd
Financial assets
at fair value
Sharesheld ~ Shareholder Statutory Capital  through other Currency
forRSU  contribution surplus Capital ~ redemption  comprehensive translation
Scheme feserve feserve reserve feserve  income reserve reserve Total
BANEE
ZRikf FARMEE
Biiit batheR
FERe RREERE LRREHERE ExfifE EXREGE EEfE EWARRR it
RMB1000 RVB000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB000 RMB1000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
At1 January 2023 W-3-=£-f-A (21359 23592 5000 (3,032,360) 2 (1829 66,008 (2.963.174)
Fair value changes on financia BOAREALL
assets at far value trough 2EhENER
other comprehensive income, AENDARH
net ofax £9(HRHR) = - - - - 1) - 1)
Currency ranslaton Ehig = = = - - - 18 153
Appropritions AR = - %5 - - - - 25
At31 December 2023 and it Jut 3 ]
1 January 2024 Z1-AR
—E-ME
-3-8 M) 5% (303230 2 (4000 6156 (2964997
Currency ransifion Erag - - - - - - (383) (383)
At 31 December 2024 R-g-m%
+zAz1-A W) 5% (303230 2 (4000 BB L%530)
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 34. NRTF B AR TR K

POSITION OF THE COMPANY AND PIN/NEIRE R R )
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-mF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARIMIEE 1,660,500 1,734,908
1,660,500 1,734,908
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE A IR & B b fE Y FR IR 307,914 305,670
Financial assets at fair value through BEAREBEFABRERDN
profit or loss EREE 3,800 5,038
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeEEY 15,723 181
327,437 310,889
Total assets wEE 1,987,937 2,045,797
LIABILITIES =i
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables b FE A 5B 309,860 293,884
309,860 293,884
EQUITY i
Share capital N 90 90
Share premium % 17 3% B 4,094,146 4,094,146
Reserves @ 210,444 148,838
Accumulated losses ZEtEE (2,626,603) (2,491,161)
Total equity BRER 1,678,077 1,751,913
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 1,987,937 2,045,797

ARNAHBERRARERRE_RF=
A+ N NHEARARRESTSHER

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 28

March 2025 and was signed on its behalf: HUATATRAZEE:
Meng Shugqi Liu Zhizhen Yang Cheng
HEF 8| E )24
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B Z T -_NF+-_A=+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 34. KRB MBEMRRERRK
POSITION OF THE COMPANY AND EAR#ES D (E)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

@  Shares held for RSU Scheme @ XREIRHEMFEAFRD
Details of the shares held for RSU Scheme are disclosed in 52 PR I B 19 BB AL T2 BT 35 IR 19 B &
Note 35. BB 535K F& ©

(o)  Company (o) AAA]

Other Accumulated

Reserves losses
Hfth 7% 5 it E B
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TxR

At 1 January 2023 R-B-=#—-8F—A 79,835 (2,273,462)
Loss for the year FAEIE — (217,669)
Exchange realignment bE X, 38 & 69,003 —

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January R=—ZE=-=F+=-H=+—H

2024 FE=—FE_-_mE—-B—H 148,838 (2,491,161)
Loss for the year FAEE - (135,442)
Exchange realignment bE X & 61,606 -
At 31 December 2024 R-BE-_NWE+=-HF=+—H 210,444 (2,626,603)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T -_MNF+-_A=+—HItFE

35.

206

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
COMPENSATION

On 6 March 2018, to incentivise directors, senior
management and employees, a RSU Scheme was approved
and adopted by the Company. ESOP 1 Holdings Limited
(“ESOP 1 Holdings”) and ESOP 2 Holdings Limited
(“ESOP 2 Holdings”) were incorporated to hold 8,946,600
ordinary shares of the Company (equivalent to 178,932,000
ordinary shares of the Company upon the completion of
the Share Subdivision and Global Offering for the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), which were contributed by
shareholder of the Company. ESOP 1 Holdings and ESOP 2
Holdings were consolidated by the Company as the Company
is able to execute its power over the control and management
of ESOP 1 Holdings and ESOP 2 Holdings. These shares
are considered treasury shares held for the RSU Scheme
indirectly by the Company. At 31 December 2024, the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company held by ESOP
1 Holdings and ESOP 2 Holdings for the purpose of the
RSU Scheme were 178,932,000 ordinary shares (2023:
178,932,000).

On 31 March 2018, in exchange for employee services to the
Group, 5,040,000 RSUs (equivalent to 100,800,000 ordinary
shares of the Company) were granted to certain eligible On
31 March 2018, in exchange for employee services to the
Group, 5,040,000 RSUs (equivalent to 100,800,000 ordinary
shares of the Company) were granted to certain eligible
persons selected by the Board of Directors of the Company.
Under the terms of the grant letter, the RSUs shall be vested
as to 30%, 30% and 40% on 31 March 2019, 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2021, respectively, of which certain designated
grantees are also required to fulfil certain service conditions.

As the Group received the benefit its associated with
the services of the eligible persons, the fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of
the equity instruments is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by the fair value
of the RSUs granted less the subscription costs, if any,
taking into consideration of forfeiture rate, and amortised
over the different vesting periods of each grant with a credit
recognised in equity as the share-based compensation
reserve.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]

35.

LARE 2 45 & A9 IR 40 A
&

AHBES mREEERES -
A—E—NF=H/"B ' A2 H#
HEWRARZRGI R DEACETE -
ESOP 1 Holdings Limited ([ESOP
1 Holdings]) & ESOP 2 Holdings
Limited ([ESOP 2 Holdings!) & &t
MK ABFEEREETAHAEAR
7]8,946,600% & i@ AR (18 & N &
DIFEBERREEBHERSIMER
RAIER ETHNE2REETRE
178,932,0000% & i@ Ix) - A1 Al #§
ESOP 1 Holdings & ESOP 2 Holdings
A Bt - BB AR R 8 5 ¥ ESOP 1
Holdings & ESOP 2 Holdings A9 12
NREBITHEEEN ZEROHER
BARBHZ R G M EFEIE
BERENEGFRG R-ZTE-_NF
+—=—HA=+—H ' ESOP 1 Holdings
N ESOP 2 Holdings &t 5 & Il f& 17 &
8 EN AR ERKRAE A
178,932,000 E BB (=T = =F :
178,932,000/%) °

R-EBE—-NE=F=+—H  A#HK
BEBHAEBNRE  MAQA
BEEeHBRBNETAEBRALRDE
5,040,0001# 52 BR i f% 17 B iz (38 &
#100,800,000/% 74~ A &) I & %) o
BEEDHENIER ZREK
MEMNER_ZE—NFEF=ZA=1+—
B - —ZE-TF=-A=+—HBK_ZF
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30% K%40% * EFH FHEEEAFE A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

35. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

COMPENSATION (continued)

As a private company with no quoted market price of the
ordinary shares of the Company at the date of grant, the
Company was required to estimate the fair value of its
ordinary shares at the date of grant. The discounted cash
flow model under the income approach has been applied
in the determination of fair value of the equity interest of
the Company. The cash flow projections prepared by
the management take into account the Group’s future
business plan, specific business and financial risks, stage of
development of the Group’s operations and economic and
competitive elements affecting the Group’s business, industry
and market. As at 31 March 2018, the fair value of each RSU
was valued at RMB27.6.

The rules of the RSU Scheme do not contain provision
governing the maximum entitlement of each participant under
the RSU Scheme. The Company will comply with the relevant
requirements under Rule 17.03 D of the Listing Rules as and
when appropriate.

35.

— = —

—_
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i

CA%E 11
& (%)

RARREBEBRET B AAQF
BRI EMISHRENLART - At
ARMFETARNRKIEBSENAR
BE BEARRETEROALE
EREFERKAZETHREA SR
ERA - EEESENRERER
BEETRAEBRRREBLS -
BEEBERVERR ASEEE
MNERBEEREZERAEBENER -
TEERTSHNKEERBGFEER - 1
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REIRMDEMHARBEMGERA
R#2767T °

FHY IR A7 A
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HEKBE QT

As referred to in note 13 to the consolidated financial AN ER A B S TR R MY B3R IR Al -
RZE-_WFWMA+—H XEE

statements, on 11 April 2024 The Group’s discontinued its
cloud computing and related services at the time disposal of

Shanghai Lingsu and its subsidiaries.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

RHEELBERNEBRR 2 -

ERILEEFERERRE

REERHNEEFEWT:

RMB’000

AR T

Property, plant and equipment Y BERK 172,115
Right-of-use assets EREEE 71,928
Trade receivables 2B W FRIA 41193

Prepayment and other receivable TE 5k I8 & B b fE YR FR IR 40,361
Bank balances and cash WITHEBRNIA S 37
Trade and other payables 2 5 & H b FEf 518 (43,641)
Lease liabilities HEAE (100,789)
Borrowings B= (174,426)
Contract liabilities aHBE (1,370)
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFHE 5,408
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M E AR W= 9,442
Total consideration REBRE 14,850
Total consideration — satisfied by cash RE®LSE — UREEE 14,850

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEARFHRESMA:

Cash consideration received BEWRERE 14,850
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of ERERESERREEEYD (37)
14,813

208
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 B ZE T &+ _-_A=+—HIFE

7. FERETRERHE

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities BMEEHELENAERY
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TRERAESERFAREZHE
arising from financing activities during the year: ENEEES:
Bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
B|ITR
Htifg & HEAE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTr AR%Trx AR%Tx
At 1 January 2023 R—E-_=%—H—H 206,877 201,520 408,397
Changes in cash flows RenEZE 6,387 (89,275) (82,888)
Non-cash changes FHREE
— Additions —AhE = 23,897 23,897
— Termination — #RE — (6,101) (6,101)
— Interest charged — ENERHE 17,739 6,882 24,621
At 31 December 2023 and W-—_ZE-_=%+—-A4
1 January 2024 :+ =53
—E-pUFE—H—H 231,003 136,923 367,926
Changes in cash flows REREH (46,149) (30,588) (76,737)
Non-cash changes RS E
— Additions —AhE — 7,665 7,665
— Termination — Ik - (6,337) (6,337)
— Disposal of subsidiaries — HEWB AT (174,426) (100,789) (275,215)
— Interest charged — ENERFE 4,572 1,591 6,163
At 31 December 2024 MZZEZMEF
+ZA=+— 15,000 8,465 23,465
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38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. EXREIE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Capital expenditure in respect of BEANTSENEARARASE
— the capital contribution of investment — 2 R 4R & BT ISR KR 5T 4
contracted but not provided for in BRBEENRELESE
the consolidated financial statements 110,400 112,100
— the capital contribution into an —EREE M mMRAE
associate committed but not BEREHENR—K
provided for in the consolidated P& NREE
financial statements - 23,907

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

210

Save as disclosed in other notes, the following significant
transactions were carried out between the Group and its
related parties during the reporting period. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the related party transactions
were carried out in the normal course of business and at
terms negotiated between the Group and the respective
related parties.

Names and relationships with related parties

The following companies are related parties of the Group that
had balances and/or transactions with the Group during the
reporting period.

Name of related

party Relationship with the Group

Ben 7Road A substantial shareholder of the
Holdings Company and a company wholly
Limited owned by Mr. Meng Shugi, the

chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(b)

(continued)

39.

B S RX 5 (&

Loan to Ben 7Road (b)  MBen 7RoadiR M E R
Movement of loan to Ben 7Road is as follows: [[Ben 7Road B ftAI E R E B4 T
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR ARETR
At beginning of the year NG 3,509 3,321
Interest income FEWKA 139 138
Repayment EiE (1,146) —
Exchange realignment ME X, 75 78 50
At end of the year RE R 2,580 3,509
Maximum outstanding amount during F R & & A& & &%
the year 3,509 3,509
On 12 October 2018, the Group and Ben 7Road entered RZZE—N\F+A+=H KEEHA
into a loan agreement. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the Ben 7Road i L EH & - BRIEE
Group granted a loan to Ben 7Road which was unsecured, K15 % 2N & B [ Ben 7Road %
interest-bearing at 5% per annum and repayable on 11 WERAEER - RFEFE5% L
October 2020. On 9 October 2020, a supplemental loan NARZZE_ZTF+H+—HEE-
agreement was entered into between the Group and Ben RZZE-ZFF+ANE AEEHE
7Road which extended the date of loan repayment to 11 Ben 7Road 7] 32 72 B 3K i - 49
October 2021. On 9 October 2021, the Group and Ben 7Road EXEERBHEE_T-_—F+A
entered into the second supplemental loan agreement, which +—B - MZE-_—F+AHB K
extended the date of loan repayment to 11 October 2023. On & E HiBen 7Road 5] M F Z D 7t
9 October 2023, the Group and Ben 7Road entered into the ExE BEFREEAHRTEE=
third supplemental loan agreement, which further extended TZ=F+A+—HB -RZT==
the date of loan repayment to 11 October 2025. F+ANHB - A& BEEBen 7Roadz]
VE=ZMRRTERGZE  BERE
EAME— S LEE_ZT_RHF1+A
+—B8-
— T 211
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39.

212

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

39. At AR 5Z (&

Loans to key management © RETEEEEREMNER

Movement of loans to key management is as follows: MEZEEEBRENERSEHOT
2024 2023

—EZNEF ZE=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR AR%TF

At beginning of the year G 4] - 385
Loans to key management MEEEEERENDER - —
Repayments from key management TEEHEER — (385)

At end of the year RE K -

Loans to key management of the Group were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Key management personnel compensations (d)

The compensations paid or payable to key management
personnel (including directors of the Company and other

TEEEEAE M
REERBENKENETEEEE
ABBEARRIEEIEMSHRE

yem
o

IR

MAEETIEERERENERR
BEM 2B RBERENRE

senior executives) for employee services are shown below: BABNEMRTAT :

2024 2023

—ES-E —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARS®TRT ARETR

Wages, salaries and bonus interest T& - e Rt 8,849 13,360
Other social security costs and housing £ fth # & (R BE ik A8 & £ = &

benefits and other employee benefits LA K H b & & 1& 7| 445 489

Pension costs — defined contribution  EBARE KA — REMHFKETE
plans 451 437
9,745 14,286
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40. CONTINGENCY LIABILITIES AND

GUARANTEES

On 8 December 2021, Proficient City Limited (“PCL’) filed a
lawsuit (the “Lawsuit”) with the Guangdong Higher Court
against the subsidiaries of the Group, Shenzhen 7Road and
Qianhai Huanjing, in relation to a dispute on infringement
of trade secret over the online game Wartune ( ## # ), and
the Group had received the Notice to Respond from the
Guangdong Higher Court in July and August 2022. On 8 April
2024, the first trial’s judgment was delivered and the court
dismissed all the plaintiff’s claims. Upon the expiration of the
appeal period, neither party appealed, and the first trial’s
judgment became effective, which means Qianhai Huanjing
and Shenzhen 7Road do not need to make any payment
to PCL. Accordingly, the lawsuit no longer constitutes a
contingent liability for the Group as at 31 December 2024.

As disclosed in note 13, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement with an independent third party (the
“Purchaser”) to dispose of the entire equity interests in
Shanghai Lingsu (the “Disposal”). Prior to the completion of
the Disposal, Shanghai Lingsu entered into various finance
lease agreements with two financial institutions for other
borrowings as disclosed in note 28. Those other borrowings
were secured by Shanghai Lingsu’s property, plant and
equipment and trade receivables and guaranteed by the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company. Upon
the completion of the Disposal, Shanghai Lingsu ceased to
be a subsidiary of the Company, and the Group continued
to provide the guarantee for Shanghai Lingsu for a certain
period after the completion of the Disposal (the “Guarantees”).
Regarding to the Guarantees, the Group entered into a
counter-guarantee agreement with the Purchaser and an
independent third party (the “Counter Guarantors”). Pursuant
to the counter-guarantee agreement, the Counter Guarantors
jointly provided an unconditional and irrevocable joint liability
guarantee to the Group for any of the Group’s obligations
under the Guarantees. The maximum guaranteed amount of
the Group under the Guarantees was RMB120,000,000. Detail
of the Guarantee are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 28 March 2024.

40.

— = —

—_—

HRBEBERER

R-—ZT——%+=F/\H - Proficient
City Limited ([PCLJ) A & & = Pt ¥
AEBHBRARRYELKERA
BARMBRILEEER N
XMBAUBREBFA(HRAD K
EEER-_ZE-_—_FLHARNAYK
IERSRELHNC(EFBAE) -
RZZEZWMFEMANR - —FH R
xiE  ERBERE 2 IHFREK -
LEFEME RSB R LR —FHA
£ AR R AINE L KE
48 75 (A PCL X fHE A 2018 » A It
SHEINR-_E-_NME+-A=+—
HTBEKASERNIABE -

WK ISR A EBE—F
B E=FTBHFDISL— 7K
HEHE WHELEEENEE
RE(HEEE]) - # a0 i E28FT
HE - REEETETKA - L8E
MRS UE B EMERETL
ETMmENERZ ZSHMER
BMEBEEZMYE  BMERRZRENU
RESEWHRIBEERE  YHAR
RAIRARNFINE THE AR R IE
R-REEFTHEEK®E  LBEZR
TBAARANKEBARAR  BASE
ERATEEEEXEN —BERAA
BEAEBERIREBER(ERD -
RERMES AKEEEEHFRBY
FZA(RERADTLRERR
FOoBEBERERGS  RERAR
@) () 2N £ B 42 1 AR M R S AT )
BESEEER  NREAEER
ERERBBTNEMAER - NEH
RERBETHESERSEAAR
#£120,000,0007T - B AR F 15
HAARAHE AT - WFE= A
—+NHBRE -
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40.

41.

214

CONTINGENCY LIABILITIES AND
GUARANTEES (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balances of
Shanghai Lingsu’s each borrowing which was guaranteed
by the Group was RMB54,155,000, and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group was not aware of any default
or breaches of a covenant of Shanghai Lingsu’s other
borrowings. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, in
view of the foregoing and the fact that the Group has obtained
the counter-guarantee, the Group’s credit risk regarding the
Guarantee was insignificant.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2025.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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E;%i% A T\i&"""/\m #&d: (l“/\)

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the Environmental, Social and Governance
(hereinafter “ESG”) Report published by the Group. This
report summarizes the relevant working condition on
implementing the philosophy on sustainable development and
performing its obligation on corporate social responsibility.

Reporting Criterion

This report has been prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide (hereinafter refers to the “Guide”) in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, contents covered fulfil all
“comply or explain” provisions under the Guide, and follow the
reportmg principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance”
and “consistency”. The report has been reviewed and

approved by the Board.

Materiality: The materiality of the ESG issues of the Group is
determined by the Board, the stakeholder communication
and the identification process and criterion of material issues
are disclosed in this report.

Quantitative: The statistical standards, methods, assumptions
and/or calculating tools, and the source of conversion factors
of the quantitative of key performance indicators in this report
are described in the definition of this report.

Balance: This report should provide an unbiased picture of
the Group’s performance during the reporting period, and
avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats that
may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
report reader.

Consistency: Unless otherwise indicated, the statistical
methodologies used in data disclosure in this report are
consistent with those used in previous years.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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1.2

1.3

2.1

Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

B - IB3E e

Reporting Scope

This report comprises of our ESG policies, approaches,
objectives, performances and achievements between 1
January 2024 and 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), policy
documents on environmental and social aspects that share
the same scope of disclosure with the annual report are
included, among which, the scope of disclosure of the key
performance indicator on social aspect aligns with those in
annual report, while unless otherwise indicated, the scope of
disclosure of the key performance indicator on environment
aspect refer to our workplace in Shenzhen, Shanghai and
Wuxi.

Feedback on the Report

The Group is devoted to formulate a more comprehensive
and sound sustainable development strategy. Should you
have any enquiries or opinion on this report, you are welcome
to email us at ir@7road.com.

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP

Business Overview

We are a leading online game developer and operator in
China with a global reach. Since our inception in 2008, we
have engaged in the R&D, operation and publishing of a
number of popular web games, and our games have been
published in more than 100 countries and regions.

We are committed to bringing quality gameplay experience in
various game formats to our users. In recent years, we have
strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and
operate the mobile games that are widely popular among the
players.
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2.2 Key milestones of the Group 22 SEEZERER

2023-2024

—E_=FF_ZF_NF

2021-2022

—EC—FE-FT - —F

2018
—E-N\F
2017 and 2018

Bt RIE-N\F

2017
—E—+F
2016
—E—RF
2016
—E—RF
2014
= 22 IS

Nominated for “The Key Enterprise for National Cultural Export” (B 5 3/t i A &
21 2).
ABRBBERXEEOERPE-

Nominated for “The Key Enterprise for National Cultural Export” (B1 R X1t i O
= 2 %), the project of Alice Closet (&' B 44 AY 7K 1) was selected as a key

project.
ABBRXVEEOEHRMRE (FBANKE)HEBAEERER -

Completed the acquisition of Osmanthus Vale Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
in October.
7+ B 72 A U B8 Osmanthus Vale Holdings Limited & E M B A &) o

Nominated for “The Key Enterprise for National Cultural Export 2019-2020" (=&
—NEZZ_ZFEERVEOEH T X)
ANEBBBREN T - NET_TFERARVLEAEHLE -

Granted the “Outstanding Enterprise Award 2018” (20184 E 18 7 1> 2 58) by
Guangdong Entertainment & Game Industry Association.

REEREERELHEREN—F— \FEES L LS.

Granted the “Key enterprise of national cultural exports” (Bl K b ) O & Zh 1> %)
by the Ministry of Commerce of China.

ESTERBHRRBREOEHREE]-

DDTank (& K 5% 38 &) was awarded the “Original Game Fine Publishing Project”
(5 Bl % & H Hix #5 ) by the State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film
and Television and obtained the “Best Jinyao Award of the Year” (/& fx £ & 12 8%)
issued by 3367 mobile games.
(RREEBZ)ESERFTELRESTEREENREIERLMRER] - I
BEBeTFHEeREIFERESRE] -

Novoland The Castle in the Sky (JL/H o X 22 #) was awarded the “Original Game
Fine Publishing Project”( R &1l % &k i hiw #5 i) by the State Administration of Press,
Publication, Radio, Film and Television.

(N e REFOBRGSERMELREZTEBANENREIEE L RBMR]

Web game Demi-Gods and Semi-Devils (X &€ J\ & & #%) obtained the Golden
Plume Awards (& % 2%).
(RENBEE)ESGSHAE -

Awarded the “2014 Top 10 Game Enterprises for Overseas Expansion in China”
(20144 JZ /R B + A% 1A B 2% B 1 %), and Wartune (7% Bi2) obtained the “Top-
Ten Most Popular Webpage Game in 2014” (20144 € + K £ = &30 48 B 1% &)
BEICE—HEFEFRTNBIINERBERIBE] AP Geih2) B 15[2014F

ETASTEOBEES -
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY

Statement from the Board

In order to enhance the effective implementation of ESG
issues of the Group and facilitate sustainable development,
we have established an ESG Group since 2021. This group is
directly led by the Board, providing a more direct supervision
on the ESG issues of the Group. The Board assumes full
responsibility on the ESG strategy, direction and reporting of
the Group.

During the Year, the Group identified material issues and
climate-related risks, such issues and risks are confirmed by
the Board, corresponding counter measures are formulated
and directional goals on environmental aspect are set. Going
forward, we will review the effectiveness of the strategy
and the progress on the completion of environmental goals
regularly, and corresponding adjustment will be made.

Sustainable Development Policy

We are a leading global online game developer and operator,
with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for web
games. In recent years, we have strategically expanded our
business focuses to develop and launch mobile games by
enhancing in-house development capabilities. The Group is
committed to ensuring business continuity, while sparing no
effort in integrating environmental, social and management
principles into our business administrative practices, which
has produced a positive impact on the environment and the
entire community.

As a responsible corporate citizen, we have formulated
different policies on ESG and other issues to advance
and manage matters relating to social responsibility, such
as product responsibility, labor standards, environmental
protection, health and safety, and supply chain management,
S0 as to guide the Group and our business partners in putting
sustainable development into practice. The relevant policies
and measures and our sustainable development performance
in all respects can be found in the corresponding sections of
the report.
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3.3

220

Sustainable Development Structure

Our goal is to create unique and excellent boutique games
worldwide, while at the same time, we shall integrate the
idea of sustainable development into our operating activities,
and we have formulated a number of policies to promote our
works on sustainability. Since the establishment of the ESG
Group in 2021, the ESG Group has assisted the Board in
supervising the ESG issues of the Group in a more effective
manner. Our ESG governance structure is set out below:

3.3

ESG governance structure
ESGEARE

AFEERER

BPARER BB RERNER
FERAEENRE  SAHETE
BomARMMEESTEF - L H
ETZHEBRAEBAIHESEN
T1E - B2021F A ESG/NELATKR -
ESG/NAHBNE S F F Wi ¥ A
SEMESGEEHITESE - BRMH
ESGERZEBMAT :

The Board is the most senior decision-making level on the
ESG issues of the Group. It is responsible for reviewing and
approving the ESG framework, strategies and policies of the
Group, reviewing the objectives, performance indicators and
measures of ESG works, assessing the climate-related risks,
the progress and the overall effectiveness of the overall work
mechanism of ESG works, and reviewing the annual ESG
report and approving for disclosure.

Led by our Chief Executive Officer, our ESG Group is
responsible for identifying ESG-related risks and opportunities,
formulating ESG work objectives and measures, coordinating
and organizing stakeholder communication and materiality
analysis, supervising the concrete implementation of
ESG works by the execution level and coordinating the
management and disclosure of ESG information. The ESG
Group shall report to the Board on a regular basis.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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Py 5%

Relevant departments of the Group, including the Human
Resources and Administration Centre, Business Centre,
Financial Centre and Legal Centre, are the execution level
supports the ESG work group. These departments are
responsible for the execution and implementation of ESG-
related works, collect and analysis the ESG performance of
the Group and report to the ESG work group on a regular
basis, and spread the ESG-related information to staff in a
timely manner.

B A

BRmE ()

NEBHBIPIEAIFESGIIE
NEBITE AAZITERADL
¥ BEHL  EZBRLA
X EEF%#LTTITSEESG*EE@
T WE - »MAKBEHESGE
WA FTEAMESG TE/NAMESR - A
MM E TEEESGERBMNES -

3.4  Stakeholder Engagement 34 FHMEBEB
Our stakeholders mainly include employees, customers, BZMNFHEZTERRET - B -
suppliers, business partners, shareholders, the government HERREFEERHE BRE K
and, in a broad sense, the community. We are firmly Jﬁ‘&%%/zﬁ’ﬂi/‘“ﬁﬁ o HPIRI(E -
convinced that our sustainable development benefits from BN RFEEREEREFNEN
the unremitting support and trust of stakeholders. We listen TR RIERE - ﬁzﬁ’? YA EZ
to the voices of stakeholders and respond to their needs ﬁﬁé@}é%ﬁ“ﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ’] ER W
properly through a range of communication channels. By EZ%‘E“T%H EZ - HMBRGE -
means of meetings, interviews, hotlines, official websites, E BB 7\7_2 uh & EF B
emails, we maintain a close and harmonious relationship with yﬁ 9% B RFEEEFEZLMN
stakeholders and accordingly achieve long-term success. HERRBRLERRERD
Key stakeholders Key communication channels
Customers e Survey and comment form on customers’ satisfaction
P EPmEERENERR
e Customer consultancy group
BP#EANA
e Customer services centre
BERPIR® AL
e Customer activity, gift
BPEE - Bm
e Visit by customer relationship manager
BRPBREERD
e Daily operation/communication
A®&E Tk
e Online service platform
BERBFE
e Phone call
e Malil
o A
Shareholders/investors e Annual general meeting and other general meeting
—Z ~ /94 3R Annual Report 2024 221
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Key stakeholders Key communication channels
TERNE TEBBERE
BRR/REE BRRBFAGEAMBRRAE
e |nterim report and annual report
H H 3 5 BR A 3R

e Corporate communication, e.g. letter to shareholders/circular and notice of meeting
CEBA NBRREG/BAREEAN

e Announcement of results

E3 VN
¢ Shareholders’ visit
BRER2EED
¢ Investors’ meeting
RELEGR
e Meeting of senior management
BREBAEGH
e Meeting and interview
SEEHK
Staff e Survey on staff opinion
BT BIBRHAL
e \Working performance assessment
THERBEFZ
e Group discussion
AIVERE:
e Meeting and interview
SEEHR
e Business briefing
EF73 LR
e Seminar/workshop/talk
Warg  TiEsh B
e Staff communication meeting
EIERRE
o Staff intranet
BTN
Business partners e Report
E ¥ A W&
e Meeting
2
o Visit
wah
e Tak
E-32
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Key stakeholders Key communication channels
TEROE TEBBERE

Regulatory institutions e Meeting

EERE 2%

Media
(RS

Community/
non-governmental
organizations

e/ FEFEE

Peers

BES

Suppliers
HrEn

e Response to public consultation
HRARZBAHEE

e Compliance report
&R

e Press conference
HEENE

e Pressrelease
MER

¢ Interview of senior management
SREBABSHHA

e Announcement of results

* Meeting
&
= A%

e Strategic cooperation
REESEIRE

e Communication meeting
BRAE

e Management procedure on supplier
HERERERF

* Meeting
23

e Assessment system on supplier/contractor
e, A E s E

e Site visit
EMER
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3.5

Highly important

REBE

Generally important

Material Issues

To allocate resources in a more effective manner, and to pave
the way for the smooth implementation of ESG works, we
assess the ESG material issues annually by making reference
to a number of factors. The overall mission and competitive
strategy of the Group, corporate value, policy, operational
management system, assessment on influence, goals and
indicators, and the legal, regulatory, international agreements
and voluntary agreements that have strategical importance
to the Group, the key issues and future challenges of the
sectors which our business belongs to are all integrated, and
by making reference to international standards including the
Guide of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and the Database
of Material Issues of the Sustainability Accounting Standards
Board of the United States of America and understanding the
opinion of stakeholders on our ESG measures through the
communication between the stakeholders and us during the
Year, we have identified 21 material issues of the Group. The
following ESG material issues and their importance have been
reviewed and approved by the Board.

Occupational health  Game health and

and safety safety
BEREERZ2 BEERNREZ R
Training and Protection of players’
development data

=l R MR BIR R &

Diversification and
anti-discrimination

3.5

EMZEB
BEEBUSHEER - #HHEESGT
EMIEFIRRE  BMREBEZEZE
AEYWESCGEEM BB ETEET
he BPEEAEBNERBIKEK
BRERE CEEE KK EE
EERG FENFEH BEKIE
2E URHASEERBEE N
MA@ EH - BERHBEEREE
LR EHXMBRANES &
BN ARKE - 2EH BB AE
SMERAIFEBRREAENES
ENEZUHZEESEHERIZE I
BBRAFERMMBZHEN SR
BETROEHEMESGRENE
B #HmEBRTAEBE2NEESGE
BDMEE - U TESGEE M Z B I
MEEZUECHESSEMAMER -

Players’ satisfaction

MEWEE
Intellectual property

R E

Supplier management Product responsibility

Waste handling

—RER ZlE R RERAR HrEmeE R EmEE & 1) e 32
Employee relations Suppliers’ Exhaust emissions Greenhouse gas
environmental and emissions
social performance
assessment
R HEFBRERITER BREEK = R BE
Bt
Anti-child labor and  Anti-fraud and Electricity and water ~ Green procurement
forced labor anticorruption saving
BIFETIRARHE REEEHR Ei 4 A E K REREB
E3)]
Employee benefits Disaster emergency  Resource
plan consumption
BTREA KEEZER BIRHE R
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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PROFESSIONAL TEAM

The Group strictly abide by the national laws and regulations
including The Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China
((REAR KB L E)L)), The Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((FZEA R EMBLE A FIE)),
The Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection
of Minors ({FF #E A R HF1 B R i & AR & )% )), Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor ({Z£ | {# i & T 47
7E ), and Staff Handbook, ({& TF 1)), Human Resources
Management System ((A F & 2 #l £))and Welfare
System (& F| %I JZ)) are being compiled, which clearly
stated the systems on staff recruitment, orientation, training
and development, appraisal and remuneration, staff welfare,
awards and punishments, in an effort to provide a safe,
inclusive and fair working environment for the staff, and to
put an end to discrimination on age, gender, health condition,
marital and family condition, nationality and religion.

Staff Recruitment

We emphasize talent recruitment, and there is a section
“recruitment management system” in our Human Resources
Management System ({( AZE 2§ /Z)), in order to ensure a
standardized and systematic recruitment management, thus
guaranteeing the quality of recruitment tasks. Our Human
Resources Department will formulate a seasonal staffing
plan in accordance to the strategic planning and business
development needs of each department, and it will follow
principles of open, fair and selection of the best. For suitable
team personnel that fulfil the recruitment requirements with
outstanding performance, priority will be given to them on
selection and promotion, and then the recruitment open to
the public will be considered.

Our public recruitment channels include network recruitment,
internal referral, job fair, campus recruitment, and talent
referred by intermediary, and are selected in accordance
to the working experience, education background, logic of
applicants. We request applicants to produce identification
document to eliminate child labor, and suitable talent is being
selected ultimately through a multi-faceted examination. To
guarantee our staff to have a reasonable working period
arrangement, working duration and overtime compensation
are clearly stated in the Human Resources Management
System (CAEEEHIE)), and staff are not forced to work
on rest days so as to eliminate forced labor. Once such
incident is discovered, we will handle it in accordance to The
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China ({# 2=
AR EFBE 484 FE)) and relevant laws and regulations.
The Group does not have forced labor or recruit child labor
during the Year.
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Reasons for our staff on termination include: termination of
probation, displacement, resignation, expulsion, automatically
vacate office, layoff, end of contract, etc. We arrange exit
interview for every staff on termination, in order to understand
the actual circumstance of termination, and the aspects that
need further enhancement on the operation of the Group.

Below are the condition of the staff of the Group during the

RMHBTRBAA: RILERM
BR BB BB ADEBR- A
B ARERE - RMEASNE
BETZHBBER UBRAT
B E R B0 DA B A SR B M
hEER— SEANFE -

NTRAFEAREEETHNIER:

Year:

Unit 2024

Indicators & By 20245 E

Total number of staff BETHEY Number of people 247
A

By gender =R E D

Female staff ZHEBET Number of people 77
A

Male staff EHET Number of people 170
N ¢

By employment type REBERE S

Short term contract/part time staff REAH,FBET Number of people 0
ANE

Long term staff REET Number of people 247
A

By age group RERARE D

Staff under 30 30 A NET Number of people 93
A

Staff between 30 and 50 30-505% E T Number of people 154
N ¢

Staff above 50 50 A EET Number of people 0
N

By geographical region R E & 5

Shenzhen il Number of people 136
ANE

Shanghai ispis! Number of people 106
A

Wuxi =15 Number of people 5
AE
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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Interest Protection

As a technology enterprise that focuses on online game,
the Group regards the staff as the most important core
value. We established a remuneration system and welfare
protection that are competitive in the market in order to
attract and retain talents. The Group will provide competitive
remuneration package in accordance to internal provisions,
industry standard, experience and skills of the staff and the
requirement of the post, while the salary, remuneration and
welfare of the staff are reviewed regularly.

We also care about the opinion from the staff. We established
a number of communication channels, including meetings,
WeChat and email. Every member can provide his or her
opinion and matters of concern through these channels.

In addition to statutory holiday and “Five Social Insurances
and Housing Fund”, we also provide paid annual leave,
sick leave, casual leave, marital leave, bereavement leave,
maternity leave, nursing leave, breast-feeding leave, family
planning leave, work injury leave, etc. to our staff.

The welfare we provided includes the provision of festive
welfare, our blessing on marriage, birth of child, birthday
of staff, and club activity by way of cash, gift, organizing
activity or leave. Corresponding subsidies on the traffic,
travel, communication on overtime is also provided to staff in
accordance to the requirement of the Group. Seasonal fruit
and afternoon tea are also provided regularly to express our
wishes to our staff on working healthily.

We organize an array of activities on a regular basis, for
instance, themed birthday parties, clubs, sports activities
and festive events, so that our employees can achieve work-
life balance. These activities can strengthen the bonding and
create a harmonious relationship among employees and
between the Group and employees.
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2024 New Year Benefits Gift Package 20245 F AT KB R

Afternoon Tea Activities in 2024 2024 F T FFEH
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2024 Opening Red Envelopes 20245 W L4 B

New Game Launch Event M ERED

Lantern Festival Activities TCH &1 )E B
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230

Training and Development

In addition to sourcing for talents, we deeply understand the
importance of nurturing, in the hope that their talent can be
fully unlocked through the room for development and training
provided.

We have a sound performance management system, and an
annual comprehensive performance evaluation is carried out
for each staff. We encourage supervisor to communicate with
our staff from time to time and give constructive feedback to
help their personal growth.

Staff are given equal opportunities for promotion which
is determined based on the results of their performance
evaluation. The Group has also put in place promotion
mechanisms for internal competition among the staff. Staff
may apply for competitive promotion provided that they meet
the relevant years of service and performance requirements
and that they have no records of misconduct and are in
line with the Group’s corporate culture and values. This will
accordingly stimulate the initiative of excellent employees.

We have four major programs in employee training: new
employee training, high potential talent training, leadership
training and professional skills upgrading. We also formulate
particular annual training programs in accordance to the
actual needs.

a. New staff training: During the Year, we have organized
new staff training sessions for each of our new staff.
The training sessions include the introducing of our
culture and product philosophy, business objectives,
management system and team behavioral norms. New
staff training aims to help our new staff to integrate into
our team and get familiar with their works.

b. Leadership training: Management regular practices
(such as quarterly business meetings and reporting)
were adopted to improve our management’s personal
leadership skills.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
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& Professional skills upgrading: We organized our internal
business experts for attending the professional skills
training and sharing for a number of times.

Apart from internal training, the Company arranges
designated staff to join external learning activities,
including courses on skills training, industry network
mixer, forum and training for certificate acquisition
in accordance to the actual needs. Training subsidy
and examination leave are also provided for certain
trainings.

Occupational Health and Safety

We care about the health and safety of the staff, and we
devote to provide a safe and healthy working environment
for our staff by abiding by the relevant laws and regulations
including the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases ({# 2 A

RAMBBE R AZE)).

We established an early warning system on safety for
identifying potential danger and response to such danger
in a timely manner, and we have established contingency
measures. In addition, colleagues that joined the Company for
one year are entitled to an annual medical check-up.

To enhance the occupational safety awareness related to
accident, occupational diseases and fire prevention of the
staff, rescue and fire drill are held on an irregular basis, while
trainings related to danger that may encounter and the self-
protection measures are also provided.

During the Year, no loss of work days due to work injury is
recorded by the Group, and there is no incidence of any work-
related fatality during the last three years.
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232

OPERATION WITH COMPLIANCE

Supply Chain Management

We have been committing ourselves to be a high quality and
responsible game developer and operator. We hope our
suppliers and business partners to operate in a consistently
with our operation direction and demonstrate best practices
in connection with environmental and social matters.

We have established long-term relationships with numerous
platforms, advertisers and suppliers around the world. We
established the Management System on Procurement ({#%
B8 & ¥ #| £))and Management System on Asset ((&
E & 1B %] E)) and we require suppliers not to carry out
business acts that are unethical and prohibited by laws and
regulation, for example bribery. We also established supplier
code of conduct indicating our expectations towards our
suppliers and business partners in terms of anti-corruption,
product and service quality, environmental protection and
occupational health and safety.

Meanwhile, our audit department will monitor procurement
activities to ensure procurement with integrity. Purchasing
staff shall consciously accept the supervision and questions
from the finance department or the audit department on
procurement activities. The Company has the right to
impose penalty on the relevant staff in accordance with the
Company's relevant regulations for any violation of the integrity
requirement by the purchasing staff during procurement
process.

We perform comprehensive evaluation when selecting the
products or services of suppliers based on an array of factors
such as quality, price, delivery time, after-sales service,
reputation, and fill out the Supplier Information Sheet as the
basis for procurement to ensure good cost-effectiveness.
Before purchasing, we will check the inventory and the
useful life of the products to avoid waste. We prioritize green
products and services, choosing products with low energy
consumption, high recycling rates, and less packaging as
much as possible. At the same time, we also consider the
environmental and social risks of our suppliers, compliance
with laws and regulations, and appropriate addressing
measures.
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From time to time, our administration department will conduct
on-site sample inspections on suppliers' qualifications and
production sites, and request rectification actions for any
irregularities found. The results of the sample inspections
will be recorded in the Supplier Checklist as a reference for
supplier evaluation.

The Company has 215 major suppliers (Shanghai: 93;
Shenzhen: 84; Wuxi: 38) for software, equipment, equipment
maintenance and other services.

Intellectual Property

The Group strictly abide by the local laws and regulations
where we carry out our operation, including the Patent Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({fFE A R £ FE ZF)5%)),
the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China ({/ 2
AR EMEFEZL)), the Administrative Measures on China
Internet Domain Names ((F ZEA R £ FHZE EHE L)), the
Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China ({7 & &
491 ZE B P)) and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China ((FEA REMBE R TEFHFED).
We respect the intellectual property of other parties, and also
protect the game, software, design, new technology, skills
and other related rights of the Group.

We attach great importance to confidentiality in protecting
mtellectual property * ¥ &l F TE R B 2§ E) A &

& 12 # ). Al interested parties are prohibited to divulge
or provide relevant information to others in the process of
product development and creation. In accordance with the
Measures for the Administration of Content Self-review by
Internet Cultural Business Entities ({44 X (L K S B AR
B =& 8 ¥%)), our self-inspection system will ensure that
all products comply with our intellectual property measures
and relevant regulations. If any infringement is found, we will
take legal action.
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Players’ interests

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations
including Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors ({4 2 A R 2L F B K i F AR FEED),
Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China (P EA R £ B E AE ERZEE)), Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests ((F ZE A R £ MBI E B & & 5 %)),
E-Commerce Law of the People’s Republic of China (/&
AR £ H B EF 75 %)), Regulations on the Information
Management of Internet User Account Names ((& Bt #3
£ A EIRIE BB EE EHE)) Notice by the National
Press and Publication Administration of Further Imposing
Strict Administrative Measures to Prevent Minors from
Becoming Addicted to Online Games ({F8 it — £ B8 &
B ) E By Lk R BKCF AT B A8 48 1% B A 3@ &) ), Standards
for the Development of Anti-addiction System of Online
Games (48 48 12 BB T 3k R 4% 212 %)), Notice on the
Implementation of Anti-addiction System of Online Games for
the Protection of the Physical and Mental Health of Minors ({8
RRERKFAFORBRERBK BRI L RFRE
F1Y), Implementation Plan for Comprehensive Prevention and
Control of Myopia among Children and Adolescents ({4r &
miERESDFRRE A E)) and Regulations on the
Protection of Personal Information of Telecommunications and
Internet Users and other laws and regulations ({15 7 & 5

BERBEBABERRERTED)

As a leading online game operator in China, we place the
physical and mental health of our players as one of our most
important issues. We send health and safety information to
our players in our games and recommend a break after a
certain amount of play time. To solve the problem of Internet
addiction among the minors and to regulate the time spent
on online games by the minors, we have developed the
"Tips for Healthy Participation of Minors in Online Games"
and encourage parents to join the "Online games minors
Guardian project ((REKFARELHBEERIER))" o
supervise the minors. On the other hand, in compliance with
the relevant national regulations, all of the Company’s games
have been connected to the online game anti-addiction
real-name verification system of the National Press and
Publication Administration of China. At the same time, we
have established a real-name registration system in our online
games to ensure the security of the personal information and
account name information collected and stored by our games
and to prevent unauthorized access and information leakage,
tampering and loss. Due to the nature of our operations, The
Group’s games do not involve recycling process.
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To boost creativity among our game talents so as to create
more innovative and fascinating games, we ought to
understand players’ pattern and interests to cater to their
needs. As a result, we put great store by enhancing players’
satisfaction through listening and responding to their opinions
through various online and offline channels including online
forum, customer service hotline, mailbox and instant chat in
games.

Our dedicated customer service team will handle players’
concerns and respond to them in a timely manner. They can
also reach us at our social media accounts, such as Weibo
and WeChat, to seek game assistance and guidance. For
games that we license to our distribution publishing partners,
certain customer service will be provided by such partner.

During the Year, the Group received no significant complaints
from players regarding our games.

Data Privacy

Given the nature of the Group's online business, we attach
great importance on the data protection and privacy of our
customers, products and networks. We strictly comply with
laws and regulations including Regulations of the People's
Republic of China for Safety Protection of Computer
Information Systems ((FZEARKEMBEGERZEMER L
2 REEM)), Provisions on the Technical Measures for the
Protection of the Security of the Internet ({ & Bt 48 % & 1R &
B i & 56 3R 7)), Requirements on the Internet Interactive
Service Security Protection ((E Bt B B & X R 75 &2 2 1R &
% 3k)) and the Basic Procedures and Requirements on the
Internet Service Security Assessment (& B 49 iR 75 &2 & &F
HERERXKRENR)).
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We take privacy and confidentiality of our user’s data
seriously. We collect and use the information of the players in
a legal way, and the use of player’s information are restricted
to the purposes contained in the contract. No sensitive
personal data (such as ID card or credit card information)
are stored on our server. The Group also organizes staff
training on privacy, in order to promote the awareness on
privacy and points to note on handling player’s information.
Our employees cannot access player’s information without
authorization.

In addition, we may subject to the threat of cyber attacks and
the risks of the loss and leakage of data. To minimize these
risks, we have adopted a series of data security measures,
such as intrusion detection, firewalls, access authorization,
password and data transmission encryption, data are stored
at least in two different locations on our local internal server
and remote cloud system and further backup is implemented
in our disaster recovery system. Continuous monitoring and
test related to privacy risks are carried out and any defect will
be amended in a timely manner.

We have also established the Confidentiality System (=%
J£)), which clearly stipulates confidentiality matters,
confidentiality periods, confidentiality levels, confidentiality
measures and penalties for leakage of confidentiality. All
confidential documents and information are created, sent
and received, transmitted, used, copied, extracted, stored
and destroyed using computer technology, and managed by
dedicated personnel. Confidential documents are also stored
separately in well-equipped security devices. Employees
are prohibited from disclosing the confidential information of
the Company in public or in unauthorized communications.
In the event of a leakage or potential leakage of confidential
information, the employee concerned must promptly
report to the administration department and take remedial
action. Depending on the severity, employees who leak the
confidential information will receive warnings or be pursued
legal liability.

During the Year, the Group did not have any incidents related
to information security or leakage of customer information.
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Advertising on the Internet

As a company with focus on the internet business, we have
the responsibility to uphold and strengthen a healthy network
culture.

For our game development business, we strictly abide by the
Measures for the Administration of Online Games ({48 4% %
B & I ¥t 7&)) and other applicable laws and regulations.
In view of this, we have built a professional content review
team. There are professional content reviewers on the
team responsible for close scrutiny to ensure that the game
elements, including names, backgrounds, sound effects,
maps, scenes, character designs, building designs, prop
designs and features, do not contain any legally prohibited
or improper wordings and materials, neither should any
pornography, gambling, violence and abetment be promoted.

We ensure the compliance, accuracy and authenticity of all
published materials, including press releases, labels, articles,
and web contents, in accordance with the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and Measures for the
Administration of Official Document (A X & I2 ¥ J5)) is
formulated.
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Anti-corruption and the Promotion of Integrity

The Group strictly abide by the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’s Republic of China (A R LFIE & LE5E)),
and the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China ({/
FEARALMBE A L)) The Group’s commitment to cracking
down on unethical business practices, including bribery, fraud
and corruption can be reflected in our Internal Control System
of 7Road ({t & - A & 1= &l %l [£)), the Anti-Fraud System
(I %% B #] FZ)). Staff should report to us any suspected
misconduct by phone or mail. Our internal audit department
will enquire into the case carefully and implement correction
measures in a professional and timely manner. Along with the
above, code of ethics is also encapsulated in the employee
handbook. We require our staff to abide by the code and
make it part of our everyday activities in order to create a
positive corporate culture placing integrity and honesty on
a high priority. We also provide anti-corruption training to
Directors and staff, such training covers the criminal offences
that the staff of the Company may involve in, guidelines on
integrity practices for directors and case study, with an aim to
enhance their personal integrity standard.

During the Year, there was no litigation against the Group or
its staff concerning corruption, bribery, fraud, extortion and
money laundering.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group’s operations have minimal impact on the
environment and natural resources. We are committed to
contributing to environmental protection by realizing low
carbon business with strenuous effort, mitigating climate
change and raising public awareness. The Group strictly
complies with environmental laws and regulations such as the
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People's
Republic of China({H ZE A R A & /K5 2[5 8 7%)), the
Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic of
China({# ZE A R £ B IRIZIR#E /X)) and the Law of the
People's Republic of China on Conserving Energy ({/ # A
R AMBIE K BEIRIED).

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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We recognize our corporate social responsibility of
environmental protection. We have set initial targets for energy
efficiency, water efficiency, waste reduction and greenhouse
gas emissions use during the Year, which provide the general
direction for the related works. We will review and examine the
implementation progress of various environmental targets and
measures, and explore more opportunities for energy-saving,
emission reduction, greening and environmental protection.
In the future, we will set more specific and quantifiable
environmental goals to protect the environment and preserve

AEERARERENEELEE
£ RPARKNEESETHRBER
EAME - AKRE HOBEEY
FOREREHER AL R T A%
BiE RMgmElEESHRR
BENMBERORITER  THEE
ZEIRER - FERAERNEE - K
Ko RMETILEABNENLRE
BiE EARMRERRENEZERX
REIR °

natural resources more effectively.

Environment Aspects Targets
REER BE

Energy use efficiency Actively implement the Group’s energy-saving measures to maintain or gradually reduce energy
consumption on the basis of 2024.
BEBEAEBEBAERIENR  BEREENT  H2024FHE R FHE LMD

BETRIB#E

BEJR 2 FA 3K 25

Water use efficiency Actively implement the Group’s water conservation measures to maintain or gradually reduce water

consumption on the basis of 2024.

K & RBEAEENESORKER  BREERIT - H2024F N ER FEFRSE B R DK
BIRHRE

Waste reduction Actively implement the Group’s measures for material conservation and waste separation to

maintain or gradually reduce waste generation on the basis of 2024.

BREAEBNBORY  BEVSREK  BEREBNT  H024F AR FEH

BT RO ERYEL -

B EEY

Reduce greenhouse gas Actively implement the Group’s measures for energy-saving and greenhouse gas emission
emission reduction to maintain or gradually reduce greenhouse gas emissions on the basis of 2024.
AR = R PR BERAEENSHLNER HMAREREBHERIE R  BIEEENIT 2024 F e E ¥
LB EL BB ERBEER

AEE AEBARBEEREMA
FIRRRENEPISEKRT ERE

During the Year, the Group did not violate any laws relating
to environmental protection or cause any major incidents
affecting the environment and natural resources, nor was it NEARABRNEASFH  HRAEK
notified of any penalties and litigation in the environmental HERBERRIRSHENRS RFA
aspects. AN o
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6.2
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Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction

We actively implement energy-saving measures at all levels
of our business operations. We require our employees
to develop energy-saving habits by turning off electronic
equipment power, air conditioning and lighting systems when
not necessary. We set up separate switches in our offices
to avoid turning on unnecessary lighting areas, and maintain
proper lighting in work areas and turn off idle electronic
equipment on a regular basis. In addition, the Group regularly
cleans the filters to improve the energy efficiency of air
conditioning.

During the Year, the Group's electricity consumption was
698,092 kWh and the per capita electricity consumption was
2,826 kWh.

Greenhouse Gas

The Group's greenhouse gas emissions are mainly from direct
emissions from the use of its vehicles (Scope 1) and indirect
emissions from the generation of purchased electricity (Scope
2). We have established a Vehicle Management System
(CEE 4 & 32 % £ )) to monitor the daily use of vehicles and
energy consumption. Employees are required to plan their
driving routes in advance before they use corporate vehicles
every time and record the fuel consumption of the vehicles
after returning the vehicles for energy monitoring by the
administrator department. In addition, the administration
department is the administrator department of the corporate
vehicles, which will regularly carry out the maintenance
work for the corporate vehicles to maintain the efficiency
level, thereby preventing excessive pollutants emission due
to reduced efficiency. At the same time, we encourage our
employees to take public transportation to reduce the use of
vehicles.

7Road Holdings Limited &+ Ki&3E &G R A 7]
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During the Year, the Group conducted a greenhouse gas
inventory in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol
developed by the World Resources Institute and the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development and the
ISO 14064-1 developed by the International Standards
Organization, and its emission performance was as follows:

BRmE ()

AT AR B R Rt R R
KR AT ERRTHEES
HENCREREE S E B RE
B A2 5 {1 48 48 1 5 9 IS0 14064-1)
EATAEAMEES  HENRR
m

Unit 2024
Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Performance BERBEHEBKRE B 2024FE
Direct greenhouse gas emissions BERAERBHNAE(8E1) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 11
(Scope 1) A —ELREE
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions BHEBEREBYHEE(EE2) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 426
(Scope 2) AW S EE
Total greenhouse gas emissions BEREBHEMNAE(EEIR2)  Tonnes of CO, 437
(Scopes 1 and 2) equivalent
APHM-_FLBEE
Greenhouse gas emission intensity per A¥EEREHIWNE Tonnes of CO, equivalent 1.77

capita (Scopes 1 and 2)

6.3

Water Resources Management

(SE1%2)

6.3

The Group obtains water from the municipal water supply
network and has no water supply problems. We promote
the good water usage. We post reminder notes on water
conservation in washrooms and pantries and use automatic
sensor taps to reduce water consumption. In addition, the
Group conducts regular inspection tests on water supply
facilities and hidden water pipe leakage to enhance daily
maintenance management to prevent wastage of water due
to lack of maintenance. In the future, the Group will continue
to monitor the Group's water consumption in the course of its
business operations and cultivate the habit of treasuring water
among its employees to ensure that water resources are used

properly.

During the Year, the Group's water consumption was 3,894
cubic meters and per capita water consumption was 15.77

cubic meters.

—Z ~ /94 3R Annual Report 2024
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6.4  Waste Management 6.4 BEEYEIE
We advocate waste reduction at source and encourage AEERBRIRERE  HBHET
our employees to make the best use of all resources. We ZREEME - BMETELKLK
implement a paperless policy, make good use of electronic KEAEFXH  BLTIBER
documents and reduce unnecessary printing. For office ITED - R MEBEEETEXHERERE -
documents and correspondence, we advise our staff to BZPEZEETE LR WYEERE
avoid misprinting and to reuse or use double-sided paper. A EmE AR - I BT
In addition, we actively promote the use of electronic %‘aﬁ?’&?ﬂé\lﬂﬁﬁ ?Lfﬂﬁii&
communication technologies such as email and corporate AiE - WEFBH - CEMES
Wechat groups for staff communication.
We encourage our employees to bring their own cups to avoid %z TFEJ SEETIEHKN  @REA
the waste of disposable paper cups. Although our business KRB ERRE - EAREE
does not involve packaging materials, we still follow the %i‘%?\iﬁ&@%%ﬂ CERPIRAE
principle of recycling and use recyclable materials as much as BRERERAMNANRA RS2 HEABE
possible. We implement waste separation in our workplace RAMANYE - BRMETESHE
and recycle recyclable waste appropriately. At the same time, MEREEYDE - WK EIKEEY
we monitor the amount of non-hazardous waste generated in Lﬂ EEMEU - R - RPIEEE
order to optimize waste reduction measures. EREEMEENEE  NELR
@‘TE e e
During the Year, as the Group did not generate any hazardous REE BHRAEBEWREEET
waste, the Group's non-hazardous waste management MEEEEY AEEEZEEEY
performance was as follows. ERERRWOT:
Unit 2024
Waste BEEY) B 20245FE
Amount of harmless waste generated EEZEFEZEYELE Kg 36,990
T
Harmless waste generated per capita ABEZEEEYELE Kg/person 150
Fr/A

242
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Climate Change

Climate change has a significant impact on human life and
business operations. Various measures have been taken
around the world to address the challenges of climate change,
while Mainland China and Hong Kong, China have announced
carbon neutrality targets for 2060 and 2050 respectively.

Notwithstanding the minimal impact of climate change on
the Group's business, after identification and assessment,
the Group has considered that the related impact of climate
change (physical acute risk and chronic risk) on the Group's
business is low. As the temperature rises in the future, the
demand for cooling down the working environment will
increase, which may lead to an increase in the Group's
electricity demand and operating costs. In the event of
extreme weather conditions such as heavy rainfall, the
Group's productivity may be reduced. The Group will
review the measures in place to cope with adverse weather
conditions to ensure the safety of our employees. We will
continue to monitor the risks associated with climate change,
pay attention to the latest laws and regulations, and improve
various energy saving and carbon reduction measures, and
work with various stakeholders with the aim of building long-
term climate resilience.

COMMUNITY CONSTRUCTION

As a corporate citizen, we have been actively fulfilling our
social responsibility, sparing no effort to participate in various
communal activities. We are not only engaging in building the
community through conventional channels such as charity
activities and volunteer activities, but also fulfilling our social
responsibility by bringing industry characteristics into play,
continuously making a positive influence on the community.
Going forward, the Group will continue to perform its
social responsibility and constantly step up investments in
communal public welfare undertakings, giving back to society
through diversified channels.
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APPENDIX |I: DATA SUMMARY OF
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The following is the summarized information of sustainable

E%i% A T\i&kk/\m #&d: (/.\,\)

M sE — : WIS MR R G R
B E

UATRAFEREBBOA B ERBIE

development in environmental aspects for the Year: BE:
Unit 2024
Environmental Aspects RIRER By 2024FE
Emissions* 2387/ M
Nitrogen oxides REIt? Kilogram (kg) 35
T
Sulfur oxides maltym kg 0.07
T
Particles BT R kg 3.36
T
Greenhouse Gas Emissions B ZE R HEK
Direct greenhouse gas emissions Ehz BE R (FE1) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 1
(Scope 1) Nt %ﬂ:ﬁ}x =Ny
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions MEREREEE M (EE2) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 426
(Scope 2) AME = &1t ﬁ?-? =3
Total greenhouse gas emissions hE RBP4 2 (FEF2) Tonnes of CO, equivalent 437
(Scopes 1 and 2) AME &1t Jf?é%
Greenhouse gas emission intensity AR ERBHEREE Tonnes of CO, equivalent 177
per capita (Scopes 1 and 2) (BEN1A2) per person
AW —E(LREE A
Energy Consumption BER A
Total energy consumption BWEE= Kilowatt-hour(kwh) 698,092
T FL B
Purchased power consumption INBEBENFERE Kwh 698,092
TR B
Electricity consumption per capita ANIENREE Kwh/person 2,826
FERE,/A
Petrol consumption BB E Litre 4,810
NF
Water Consumption KR FE A
Total water consumption BREKE Cubic meters 3,894
3K
Water consumption per capita AFEKE Cubic meter/person 15.77
SLFRSA

244 7Road Holdings Limited &+ A &

P R AR



Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
RIE g kERHE (E)

Py 5%

Unit 2024

Environmental Aspects REB&EE B 20245 E

Paper consumption HREAE

Amount of paper consumption A E Kilogram (kg) 318
F=

Paper consumption per capita AHREE kg/person 1.3
Fr/A

Waste BEEY

Amount of harmless waste generated EEFEZEYELE kg 36,990
F=

Harmless waste generated per capita AHEZEEYELE kg/person 150
Fr/A

The following is the summarized information of sustainable ATEAREEL @ &EHT]EETESIE

development in social aspects for the Year: WME:
Unit 2024

Social Aspects HEEHE B 2024F &

Employment Management* EEEE

Total number of employees ET R person 247
A

Total number of employees by gender #% 14 5l 81 2 1 8 T 8 B

Female M person 77
A

Male St person 170
A

Total number of employees by RERELESNEIAY

employment type

Part-time/short-term employees B RHET person 0
A

Full-time employees FBET person 247
A

Total number of employees by age REREITWETHAY

Under 30 years old 308X AT person 93
A

30-50 years old 30-50%% person 154
A

Above 50 years old 505% JA £ person 0
A

Total number of employees by REESTNETHEAY

geographical region
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Unit 2024
Social Aspects HEHEHE B 20245 E
Shenzhen I person 136
A
Shanghai & person 106
A
Wuxi w35 person 5
A
Employee Turnover Rate** BEIRKE
Total employee turnover rate BT RMKE % 48.76
Employee Turnover Rate by Gender M BIB2HE T RKE
Female pegla % 41.67
Male XL s % 51.43
Employee Turnover Rate by Age RERESHEIREE
Under 30 years old 308k AT % 48.04
30-50 years old 30-505% % 49.17
Over 50 years old 508% A % 0
Employee turnover rate by RWEESTHNEIRAR
geographical region
Shenzhen el % 39.82
Shanghai & % 57.09
Wuxi 5 % 44.44
Employee Training B T3
Employee Training Performance by M4 BI& S HE TIFIRR
Gender
Percentage of female trained zZHZIBED % 14
Percentage of male trained SHRIBES L % 86
Average training hours for female MR I R 8 hours 9
/INBR
Average training hours for male SIS hours 10
N
Employee training performance by ZREBEHNESMWEITIZEINIRE
type of employment
Percentage of part-time/short-term FEEBHETIXRIES % 0
trained
Percentage of full-time entry-level ZBRVRBEIZIBESE % 88
employees trained
Percentage of full-time middle ERPREEEXI B % 12
management trained
Average training hours for part-time/ B R HE TFHFIIRE  hours 0
short-term employees AN
Average training hours for full-time BB T ¥ 55| R & hours 97
entry-level employees N
Average training hours for full-time FHBIREEEFHEIEE  hours 10.5
middle management N
* Number of employees: Based on the number of employees as of 31 December ~ * BT AZl: LA2024512 A31AKIB T ABGTE
2024
% Employee turnover rate:  calculated as a percentage of the total number of ~ ** EBIjR%K%E: LAFERIETLABLBRET
employees who left in the Year to the sum of the ABRMRRETHBABEZMNE D
total number of employees and the total number of LbEtE
employees who left
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APPENDIX Il: HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, Mi#Z— EBHEXZFR
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (BRI -HERERMREIE
REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX glY& |

Content of Indices Relevant Section
EERE HBREEH

A.  Environmental

A BH

Al:

Emissions General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with the 6. Environmental Protection

Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.
23187 —REE AEBRRRREREBHENR - MAKRIHHOES EERE 6RERE
EERVNELSN: QBR ROEBETHETABEAY
ENHBRERRADINER -

Al The types of emissions and respective emission information. Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development
BERMRBRREBERER - sk — AIREBERENRE
Al.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas 6.2 Greenhouse Gas :
total emissions and, where appropriate, intensity. Appendix I: Data Summary of

Sustainable Development
EF@EE O REREZ GED)RAEZRBAENER(N 62AERE:

ER)EE - sk — IR BEREHBE
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. The Group does not generate hazardous
wastes
MEXRERENMEEREE - AEERELEZEED
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 6.4 Waste Management
MELBREEZENRERTE - 6AREENER

Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development

fisg— AREERENRBE

A5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission
achieve them. Reduction
HAMATUMPHEARRREIELEARMRBNSR - 61 EFRLRHE

Al.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 6.4 Waste Management

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps

taken to achieve them.
HAEREEERESRENNA L  RERMIVANE C4BEENER
ERRREINELARMERNTR -
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

P $5%

Content of Indices

E;%i% A T\i&"""/\m #&d: (/.\,\)

Relevant Section

EERA HEBEH
A2:
Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission
Resources Disclosure  water and other raw materials. Reduction ;
6.3 Water Resources Management :
6 4 Waste Management
BREM —BEE  ARERAERBEER  KREMRME) B E A BB R
6.3 KEREE:
6A4REEYER
A21 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission
intensity. Reduction
Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development
RENEDMERR SHEEREEERTE - 1 ERBE R HE
Wﬁ' ARBERENBE
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 6.3 Water Resources Management :
Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development
BEKERTE - 6.3 KERER:
figk— IR BEEREHNBE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps 6.1 Energy Conservation and Emission
taken to achieve them. Reduction
HRAEI MR RERABRAGRREFELERMERI 6.1 B8R HE
M B o

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that 6.3 Water Resources Management
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
it SKEE R KR DRI BERERE - ARATET AR 63 KERER
HERRREINELARHRROTR -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with The business of the Group does not
reference to per unit produced. involve any packaging material.
BEmAAaEMHNEEREGEEENES - AEEEB IS RBEME
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

Content of Indices

Py 5%

IRIE

5o g

Relevant Section

BRmE ()

EERA HEBEH
A3:
Environment  General Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the 6. Environmental Protection
and Nature Disclosure environment and natural resources.
Resources ~ —M#E  REBTAURERRABRENEAZBHOBE - 6. RIFRE
RERKA A1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 6. Environmental Protection
BR environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
HAEBEHHRERRABRNEAZERERINER 6 RERE
BERTENTY -
Ad:
Climate General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- 6.5 Climate Change
Change Disclosure related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
RIRE( —REE  BAIREHEERAEGHETAEEFYENEARER 65RKRE(L
AEEHHE -
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 6.5 Climate Change
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
HREERARHETAEEYENERRBKHEEEER 65 RKE L
4118 -
B. Social
B. ##g
Bi:
Employment  General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4. Professional Team
Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
B 1% —REE  AEEMRERE BEREA  ITERE - BRE - FERE . 4 ZXEK
Zft  RIEBAREMEFERBNE  (@QBRK: kb)ET
HETABEATZENHEBEELROINER -
Bi.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and 4.1 Staff Recruitment
geographical region. Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development
RIS BEREE  FRAFNRKMEESNES L - 41 BTHE:
sk — AIREBERENRE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical  Appendix I: Data Summary of

region.

BUER - FRANRMRE D

E’MEEJML%H’JT °

-z

Sustainable Development
gk — IR EEREHNBE
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

fifer - IR - @ MEA®RSE (B)

Content of Indices

Relevant Section

EERA HEBEH

B2:

Health and General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4.4 QOccupational Health and Safety
Safety Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on

the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.
BEEZE —REE FBHRHEZ2IEREIREEEHEBENREEN ()
BR:ROETHETAREAZENRBZEZRZRADN

B

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.

RBE=F(BREFFR)EFRAITHMARRLE -

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
TEEAIERY -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

HlFRROBREERR

JI5 e

B3:

2k AREBERTRER

Development  General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
and Training  Disclosure  discharging duties at work. Description of training activities

FREEN —BREE  ABRREAREETILEBENMZLRENER - HiE

AlES -

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee

category.

RUuRREEERNEADNZIEERD

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender

and employee category.

RUERREERNE D  BREETKSIN TR

B4:

Labor General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant

Standards Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to preventing child and forced labor.

SR —REE  AEBHLEIXRHEIN: @BK ROETHETAR

EAZENHBERRROINER -

B4 Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labor.

il HREPNEREAREET REHST -

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

HREERERBARERERBERAERATE -
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LABERR 2R

4.4 Occupational Health and Safety

LABERERBER

4.4 Occupational Health and Safety

Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development

LABERERER

sk — AIHEERENRE

4.4 Occupational Health and Safety

LABER LR 2R

4.3 Training and Development

4 3B INE R

Appendix I: Data Summary of
Sustainable Development

Misg— AIREERENRBE

Appendix I: Data Summary of

Sustainable Development

M — ARERRENRE

4.1 Staff Recruitment

41 BIRE
4.1 Staff Recruitment

41 ETRE
4.1 Staff Recruitment

41 ETIRE



Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)
fie - IRIR - g REJAWmE (B)

Content of Indices Relevant Section
EERA HEBEH
B5:
Supply Chain  General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 5.1 Supply Chain Management
Management  Disclosure supply chain.
i fE —RERE  EREEENRERMEEBEE - 51 EEER
B B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 5.1 Supply Chain Management
RiRE D HERHE - 51 fHEEER
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number 5.1 Supply Chain Management

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.
HWAABERRERNEN MARTEEEMNOHER bs14tEEEE
B UREBEDINRTREENDE -

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 5.1 Supply Chain Management
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HRAEBINEERGERSNRERLGRMOERN - 51 HERER
WREBERITREREDE -

B54 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 5.1 Supply Chain Management
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
HREREHEEREEZRRRERRREOEN - A 51 ftEEERE
REBRTRERAE -

B6:
Product General Information on: (a) the policies; and () compliance with relevant 5.3 Players’ interests :
Responsibility  Disclosure laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 5.4 Data Privacy
issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and 5.5 Advertising on the Internet
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
EmAT —REE FHEMRMERNRBNERERE  EL REKNLE S53MRES:
EHURBEMAEN: @B R ROETHETABEAY 5S4 HEBERENL:
ENHBZERRADINER - 55 WBEE
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls ~ The Group is not involved in the sale or
for safety and health reasons. delivery of products
PESCEBRERBHTAZ2EREEMMANKNE AEEASREREEREX
o e
B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received 5.3 Players' interests
and how they are dealt with.
EEARERRREORFHEARELEFE - 53 MR
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 5.2 Intellectual Property
intellectual property rights.
fit g RRENREREANEN - 5.2 MIBERE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 5.3 Players’ interests
procedures.
NG EMERREREMOYRFF 53R
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 5.4 Data Privacy

how they are implemented and monitored.

HIURBERBRERALREE  UBRRTRERTE - 54 BEBRAL
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Appendix: Environmental, Social and Governance Report (continued)

P $5%

RE g keEnams (8)

Content of Indices Relevant Section
EERA HEBEH
B7:
Anti- General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
Corruption Disclosure relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Integrity
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
R&E3 —REE  AEDLEER PR RFREREN: 56 I B 18 Bk
@BER: ROETHETAREAZENBEEERRD
ME K
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting Integrity
period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAHETAKEEERLITEELANETHAR SO6RBER
HEE RFABR
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Integrity
Wl EEERBRER  URBBRTREREE - 56 I B 18 Bk
Br.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and 5.6 Anti-corruption and the Promotion of
staff. Integrity
HAREERETIRHENRESE - 56 IR B 18 Bk
B8:
Community ~ General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs 7. Community Construction
Investment Disclosure of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
HtEREE —REE  AENME2ERERETAZEMEHEZTENRRE 7HERER
X¥BEHLERMEAEARE
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. 7. Community Construction
EIERERE - THEBER
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 7. Community Construction
EEISERMBHAER - T BER
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